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Corporate Information (Continued)
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PRINCIPAL ADMINISTRATION AND

MANAGEMENT CENTERS IN THE PRC

Yuzhou Plaza

299 Jingang Road

Pudong New District
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People’s Republic of China
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Shenzhen

People’s Republic of China
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HONG KONG
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COMPANY’S WEBSITE
https://yuzhou-group.com/

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
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HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR
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(formerly known as “Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited”)
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
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LEGAL ADVISORS
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors of Yuzhou Group Holdings
Company Limited (“Yuzhou Group” or the “Company”), | am pleased
to present the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) for the year ended December 31, 2024 for your review.

In 2024, the Chinese government continued to provide strong support
to the real estate sector, rolling out a series of policies aimed at
stabilizing the property market. While these measures led to a short-
term rebound in market sentiment, the subsequent momentum
proved insufficient, resulting in sluggish market growth. Statistics
indicate that the sales of the top 100 real estate enterprises in 2024
recorded a double-digit decline compared to the previous year, with
the real estate market continuing to fluctuate at low levels. In the
first quarter, the market remained sluggish due to the impact of the
Chinese New Year and the underwhelming performance of the “short-
lived resurgence” sales season in March. In the second quarter, the
introduction of new policy on May 17 by the government provided
some support to the market. However, sales continued to weaken
once the policy impact faded away. By the end of the third quarter,
the government explicitly stated the need for the real estate market
to “stop falling and recovery (I [E]3%) ", which led to a slight year-
end rebound in the fourth quarter. Judging from market performance,
homebuyers’ purchasing decisions were closely connected to policy
stimuli. During the market downturn, consumers became more
rational and restrained in purchasing commodity housing. Coupled
with various “price-off promotion incentives” by developers and
lowered listing prices by secondary market homeowners, a market-
wide expectation of price declines emerged, which curbed the release
of pent-up demand and intensified the wait-and-see sentiment
among potential buyers. According to data from the National Bureau
of Statistics, the sales of newly built commodity housing in 2024
amounted to RMB9,675.0 billion with a year-on-year decrease of
17.1%, of which residential sales declined by 17.6% year-on-year.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

FREHE@

In the face of challenging market environment, Yuzhou Group
demonstrated courage and resilience, upholding the spirit of “daring
to explore and strive”. It actively responded to evolving market
conditions, keenly captured market opportunities, and formulated
detailed, well-rounded, and effective marketing strategies tailored to
local real estate policies and project characteristics, thereby taking
proactive measures and sparing no effort in driving sales. High-
quality sales services are not merely an add-on after transaction but
a key factor in building long-term customer relationships and brand
loyalty. Therefore, the Group has made relentless efforts to enhance
its sales service system, striving for excellence at every step. It has
not only provided more convenient consultation services, optimized
communication procedures, and enhanced customer interaction and
feedback system, but also continuously enhanced its commitment of
“Life Cycle Dedicated Service”. Through the “5+N Devoted Service
Sales Experience (5+NECARFEIHERESE 2 i) ", we provided our
customers with unique sales experience. Despite implementing a
series of proactive marketing initiatives and making every effort to
promote sales to achieve sales targets, the Group’s performance was
hindered by multiple factors, including the market downturn, cautious
consumer spending, and price reduction expectations in both primary
and secondary property markets. In 2024, Yuzhou Group recorded
contracted sales of RMB7,953.11 million, representing a year-on-year
decrease of 55.42%. The gross floor area (“GFA”) of contracted sales
amounted to 545,787 sg.m., representing a year-on-year decrease
of 49.84%, with an average contracted sales price of approximately
RMB14,572 per sq.m., down 11.12% year-on-year.
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In 2024, against all odds, Yuzhou Group remained steadfast
in upholding the red line requirements of “guaranteeing project
completion, guaranteeing housing delivery”. It successfully finalized
a total of nearly 30 project batches with delivery of approximately
13,000 residential units across more than 14 cities, including
Shanghai, Chongqing, Wuhan, Chengdu, Wuxi, Foshan, Qingdao, and
Zhongshan. Yuzhou Group deeply understands that a home is more
than just walls and doors—it is a space that carries warmth, happiness,
and dreams. To ensure that every family can enjoy joys of life in a
warm and comfortable environment, Yuzhou Group approaches each
project with meticulous craftsmanship. Every construction phase, from
design to execution, and from material selection to quality inspection,
is rigorously controlled. Each detail is meticulously polished to
guarantee the high-quality delivery. During the delivery process, Yuzhou
Group implements the “Delivery Product Officer Plan”, establishing a
specialized product officer team to accompany customers for delivery
inspection. This team, composed of core project members such as
city general managers and project leaders,
centralized delivery and inspection process of their respective projects.
They promptly address customer needs, strengthen communication
and connection with customers, and build mutual trust. Additionally,
after delivery, Yuzhou Group provides comprehensive after-sales
services to ensure that owners continue to receive thoughtful care

is fully involved in the

even after moving in, truly making them feel at ease and reassured.
These initiatives not only reflect Yuzhou Group’s relentless pursuit of
architectural quality and its firm commitment to building a better life but
also demonstrate its sense of social responsibility, helping every family
have a beautiful and secure home.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

FREHE@

In 2024, the national financial support policies for the real estate
industry continued to focus on “stability”. By optimizing the financing
environment, supporting housing demand, preventing financial risks,
promoting the development of the rental market, and driving industry
transformation, these policies aim to foster the steady and healthy
development of the real estate market. The national policies explicitly
encourage financial institutions to provide financing support, such as
development loans and merger and acquisition loans, to projects on
the “white list”, meeting their reasonable funding needs. Additionally,
the policies support real estate enterprises in alleviating financial
pressure by issuing bonds, real estate investment trusts (REITs), and
other financing methods. However, the current efforts to promote and
enact the policies have remained inadequate in effectively easing the
financial burdens of real estate enterprises, especially for those in the
private sector. The shortage of funds has persisted without substantial
relief, and the resumption of financing channels has not materialized.
In conjunction with the latest financing support policies, Yuzhou
Group has been sparing every effort to utilize its own channels and
resources to alleviate its financial strain through debt restructuring,
asset disposals, relief funds from asset management companies and
other strategies. Despite these efforts, Yuzhou Group still relied solely
on sales proceeds to barely sustain its daily operation. Coupled with
persistent sales slump in 2024, wider cash flow gap and tight capital
chain, the Company maintained its operations at a relatively low level.
Regarding the offshore debt restructuring, following constructive
communication between the Company and its advisors, alongside an
ad hoc group formed by certain holders of the US-dollar-denominated
offshore senior notes and its advisors, a consensual and holistic
restructuring proposal was reached and drawn up in February 2024,
The Company has announced the restructuring support agreement
and invited all eligible creditors to join, receiving strong support from
over 90% of eligible creditors (significantly exceeding the 75% creditor
support threshold stipulated in the agreement). In September 2024,
the Company has submitted applications to the Grand Court of the
Cayman Islands and the Court of First Instance of the High Court of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region to seek approval for
convening the creditors’ meetings related to the relevant schemes.
The relevant overseas court hearings were held on August 2 and
16 (local time in such places) respectively and approved by the
courts. In December 2024, the Company convened the extraordinary
general meeting to vote on the rights issue, share consolidation and
other matters, and all resolutions were approved by overwhelming
majorities. The Company will initiate the arrangement procedure of
the agreement at a later stage, implement the restructuring schemes
as soon as practicable and strive to complete the offshore debt
restructuring as soon as possible.

2024F BIRHEMETENERM I HRE
BUTRI BT BREELRERRE XKFBES
K HREBABR EBEETHERNRES
P RERMET SN TRERRER -EAR
HRAEBEMEEE O%E EERMHMN
ZER - HBENEREX R AEEGEES
BR ZFELEBETES BHEREES
E2ErARNE ERESER N -BEEANKEE
BHATHEKRRATE  HRBREREERE
NENBE LEEHREFHMELGE B ER
RERABEEMER BERERNLAEN
BB -BNERECERNRMIMEITEE
—HEREBANBEINSBRE -BR BBE
BEH EERBEUNREEEEARATRESS
SRANETERCUERESE N - EEEN
LTERESANTEHSHE BNEEEEEESR
B RAR R AE R TR & B TR MR AE R - & N2024
FHERBER RS NROBBMAR E#
ERENEE AAKERBERTREKEE
H-GANEBEAIE KRBARE REBBE
BRXTELAREFAAARNERZ ANER
HEBETHERMEES SMEMESENR2024
FoREM—B R ELAMEMAXFTHEIL
FRECERBEEAMA BEFEBIOKNEGE
BREEARBBNINXE (CRBHEZHAEZ
75%MERAZFFLES]) 22024598 AT A
ERERERAEERITHRES EAEKREN
FERFHEDARERGEEEAEE  HE
BINERBRAE DR E K ESA2HM16H
B3> R ERZE ; 2024F128 > RE A
RREFIAE HEHER - GREFTEET TR
RFERRNERSRER ARNRERKRD
MEZHEF EERIUTHNERTEREEE
MAEE NFEFMIBEIINMEBEM-



AR EHERAIRAE 1 )

B _UFER 'S,

Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

Yuzhou Commercial Group (“Yuzhou Commercial”) continues to
enhance its brand influence, dedicated to bridging urban spaces
with daily life and delivering exceptional experiences to households.
In 2024, Yuzhou Commercial accelerated the upgrading of its
commercial portfolio. Through a variety of measures, including the
introduction of new stores, the opening of regional first stores, and the
restructuring of all stores, Yuzhou Commercial upgraded its shopping
malls and storefronts. These revitalized shopping environments
successfully captured widespread consumer attention, driving annual
foot traffic to 30 million visits. By launching premium city-level first
stores, Yuzhou Commercial leveraged the demonstration effect of
these first stores, creating delightful surprises for local communities
and further elevating the vibrancy and appeal of its “Yuyue Series”
shopping centers. Strategically, Yuzhou Commercial introduced
trendy beverage brands to cater to younger demographics while
upgrading entertainment offerings—such as escape rooms, fitness
studios, and KTVs—to engage consumers across all age groups.
It also optimized its anchor store mix by integrating large-scale
chain supermarkets, offering high-quality products and securing
shopping environment. Through continuous refinement of its brand
ecosystem, Yuzhou Commercial elevated the quality of offerings and
redefined urban lifestyle experiences. Concurrently, it established
the UYO Distinctive Commercial Management System (UYO4F &/
= EHEEER) by implementing a standardized and fine management
strategy. Leveraging big data analytics, Yuzhou Commercial enhanced
operational efficiency to enable precise model planning and service
design. In the future, Yuzhou Commercial will further strengthen the
systematic development of its commercial ecosystem, unleashing
the dynamic “Yuyue” commercial vitality to foster thriving urban
communities.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
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Looking ahead to 2025, the real estate sector is expected to maintain
a policy-driven easing stance, with intensified regulatory measures
likely to be implemented. The effects of these policies will be
gradually manifested. Local governments may roll out more tailored
measures based on regional conditions, continuing to support rigid
and upgrading housing demand, refining the housing security system,
and fostering a stable and sustainable real estate market. Under the
central policy directive of “stop falling and recovery (LE#[El#Z) ", the
real estate market is anticipated to undergo continuous adjustments
while showing signs of gradual stabilization and recovery. Regarding
product innovation in real estate, the fourth-generation housing
products have already emerged in the market amid national policy
support and the current market downturn. These next-generation
developments offer a superior living experience with enhanced
comfort, functional design, optimized ventilation and natural lighting,
which, together with their eco-friendly and energy-efficient features
have garnered significant consumer attention. Moving forward, such
innovations are poised to become highly competitive offerings in the
real estate market.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

Facing the current market environment, Yuzhou Group will adopt a
performance-driven approach, centering on “guaranteeing project
completion, guaranteeing housing delivery, efficiency improvement,
and stable operations”. It will focus on asset optimization and
enhancing operational capabilities by revitalizing existing assets,
optimizing underperforming assets, and improving new products.
This dual strategy aims to secure both key performance targets
and new product offerings, while also striving to elevate product
competitiveness and drive the upgrading of Design 4.0 products. By
actively seizing market opportunities, Yuzhou Group is committed
to achieving sustainable development. In 2025, Yuzhou Group will
move forward with courage and confidence, guided by the principles
of “diligence in thought and integrity in action”, embarking on a new
journey and opening a new chapter. It will uphold its core values
of “hard work, national pride, and a culture of integrity”, embracing
innovation and transformation to collectively write the next 30-year
chapter of Yuzhou’s story.

Kwok Ying Lan
Chairman

Hong Kong
March 31, 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EHEE 25wk

MARKET AND BUSINESS REVIEW

In the first three quarters of 2024, new home sales saw a significant
year-on-year decline, while the second-hand housing market
maintained relatively active supported by the strategy of “trading price
for volume”. Driven by strong policy incentives introduced by the state
in late September, real estate enterprises saw a year-end rebound
in sales in the fourth quarter. Nevertheless, the annual sales of the
property market still recorded a double-digit drop compared to last
year, reflecting a low-growth adjustment phase.

The intensity of national policy support for the real estate market was
a decisive factor in shaping its annual sales performance. In May and
June of 2024, the market witnessed a recovery trend following the
promulgation and implementation of the new policy on May 17, but
subsequently weakened again. At the end of September, a new round
of national stimulus policies triggered an immediate market rebound,
providing strong support for sales performance, while the average
transaction price declined. On one hand, real estate enterprises
actively adopted promotional incentives aligned with state and local
government support policies. On the other hand, owners in the
second-hand housing market also lowered their target selling prices
through the strategy of “trading price for volume”, collectively resulting
in a downward trend in the average transaction price. In terms of
transaction composition, the market continued to show a clear split.
The proportion of new home transactions continued to shrink, while
second-hand home transactions stabilized and gradually recovered.
Notably, low-priced, compact-sized units became the top choice
of rigid-demand buyers, accounting for a growing share of total
transactions. Weak confidence in the real estate market was reflected
in the performance of various market segments. Concerns among
homebuyers about future economic uncertainty, income instability,
and pessimistic price expectations have curbed demand, leading
to more cautious and rational purchasing behavior. Additionally, the
delayed implementation of government policies such as housing
inventory purchases and urban village renovation has put greater
pressure on market inventory.
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Management Discussionand Analysis (Continued)

In 2024, the land market remained subdued, persistently hovering
at low levels. Amid weak property sales, developers’ reluctance to
initiate projects, and liquidity pressures, the land auction market
witnessed concurrent declines in both volume and prices. The land
transaction premium rate remained largely flat year-on-year at a
depressed level. In terms of transaction types throughout the year, the
proportion of successful bids by state-owned and central enterprises
grew further, and the proportion of urban investment land purchasing
increased.

OVERALL PERFORMANCE

During the year, the revenue of the Group was RMB9,716.26 million,
down by 54.76% year-on-year. The loss attributable to owners of the
parent for the year was RMB11,966.84 million. The capital deficiency
amounted to RMB11,735.69 million. The Board does not recommend
the payment of a final dividend for the year ended December 31,
2024.
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SALE OF PROPERTIES

During the year, the Group’s revenue from property sales was
RMB9,226.40 million, accounting for 94.96% of the total revenue
of the Group. The Group delivered a total gross floor area of
approximately 815,330 sg.m.. The average selling price of the
properties delivered and recognized as property sales in 2024 was
RMB11,316 per sq.m..

The Group’s recognized revenue from property sales derived from a
number of regions across the country, including the Yangtze River
Delta Region, Central China Region, Bohai Rim Region, Southwest
Region, Guangdong - Hong Kong - Macao Greater Bay Area
(the “Greater Bay Area”) and West Strait Economic Zone, which
contributed 45.63%, 27.87%, 10.36%, 9.48%, 4.26% and 2.40% of
the recognized revenue, respectively. The Yangtze River Delta Region,
in particular, continued to stand as the principal contributor. Going
forward, the Group will stick to its strategy of “Leading with Locality
Development”, facilitate synergetic development of various regions
and inject more diversity into the revenue streams of the Group.
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TREIEBEEEHN2024FNEBRFEESHKE

in the following table: &
Average
Selling Price
Amount Saleable GFA (after tax)
Bl E /Y mie
Name of regions &g s Ef L] EBEmBE THEE
(RMB’000) (sgq.m.) (RMB/sg.m.)
(AR T 1) (FEHAK) (AR FAHK)
West Strait Economic Zone ARER 221,361 33,397 6,628
Yangtze River Delta Region E:@Ei;z 4,210,238 291,262 14,455
Bohai Rim Region IRiaEEE 955,351 120,479 7,930
Central China Region EhEE 2,571,645 221,071 11,633
Greater Bay Area KE& 392,941 59,490 6,605
Southwest Region 75 & 15 874,863 89,631 9,761
Total sales of properties [SYity eS|
recognized 9,226,399 815,330 11,316

The recognized sales and GFA sold in each region in 2023 are set out

TRHEHNEEREN2023FNEDHEETEKRE

in the following table: =i
Average
Selling Price
Amount Saleable GFA (after tax)
B HEHER g
Name of regions &R %iE 5 BHEER FHEE
(RMB’000) (sg.m.) (RMB/sg.m.)
(NEHEF 1) (FAHK) (AR FHK
West Strait Economic Zone BAKEE 2,029,457 311,985 6,506
Yangtze River Delta Region E-AEY 8,893,521 663,565 18,4083
Bohai Rim Region IREEEL 5,856,630 367,850 15,921
Central China Region FERE 1,462,726 163,045 8,971
Greater Bay Area BE 1,081,696 154,848 6,986
Southwest Region 7A@ 15 1,672,420 164,415 10,172
Total sales of properties BRI
recognized 20,996,450 1,825,658 11,501
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CONTRACTED SALES

As of December 31, 2024, the Group’s accumulated contracted sales
amounted to RMB7,953.11 million. The GFA of contracted sales
amounted to 545,787 sg.m. and the contracted average selling price
was approximately RMB14,572 per sq.m..

The Yangtze River Delta Region recorded contracted sales of
RMBS3,774.97 million in 2024, accounting for 47.46% of the Group’s
total contracted sales and remained the larger contributor to the
contracted sales of the Group. In particular, Shanghai, Hangzhou,
Hefei, Suzhou, Wuxi and Yangzhou constituted the core cities of our
footprint in this region, contributing aggregate contracted sales of
RMB2,853.67 million, which fully demonstrated the Group’s stellar
performance in its locality development strategy in the Yangtze
River Delta Region. The total contracted sales of the Greater Bay
Area amounted to RMB2,153.43 million, accounting for 27.08% of
the Group’s total contracted sales. Such gradually increasing sales
proportion reflected the advantage and achievement of Yuzhou
Group’s strategic footprint in the Greater Bay Area. The Southwest
Region and Central China Region also contributed total contracted
sales in the amount of RMB1,061.40 million, accounting for 13.34%
of the Group’s total contracted sales. The total contracted sales of
the Bohai Rim Region and West Strait Economic Zone amounted
to RMB963.31 million, accounting for 12.12% of the Group’s total
contracted sales.

In 2024, affected by the expected further decline in the economy
and residents’ income, coupled with the Chinese New Year holiday,
the “short-lived resurgence” market transaction volume was lower
than expected, resulting in a weaker market performance in the
first quarter. Due to the release of macro favorable policies and the
strategy of “trading price for volume” by real estate enterprises,
especially since the promulgation and implementation of the new
policy on May 17, the real estate sales recovered for a short time
in the second quarter. However, the stimulus policies were weak
subsequently and the market continued to be volatile and showed a
downward trend. With the introduction of a series of robust stimulus
measures by the state at the end of the third quarter, the market
downturn eased and stabilized during the third and fourth quarters,
culminating in a year-end rebound. Confronting with the continued
sluggish market conditions, Yuzhou Group made every effort to
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Management Discussionand Analysis (Continued)

respond proactively. With its constantly improving skills, it was able
to keenly capture the trends in the real estate market and adjust
its marketing strategies in a timely manner in combination with the
favorable policies introduced by the government, providing certain
support for its sales performance. In the meanwhile, in line with
its “moderate and excellent” operation philosophy, Yuzhou Group
actively explored changes in customer consumption scenarios
and consumption habits, upgraded the “Yuzhou New Momentums
Initiative” to “Yuzhou Star Power”. It continued to upgrade and
transform in terms of promotion linkage, platform transformation and
image standardization. By constantly exploring the use of WeChat,
Weibo, TikTok Short Video and Xiaohongshu and other platforms to
promote projects, it actively expanded its digital marketing channel
for customer acquisition, deeply considered and proactively explored
ways for sales closing, in a view to continuously facilitate the
achievement of sales targets of the Group.

The contracted sales and GFA sold in each region in 2024 are set out
in the following table:

EREZwmEA @@

Mo WESBFE R BRRREREEHE
B B RHEXBER —ENE -BIERAK B
MNEBES DR CERE BRBRREFEH
BESES HEBENEL RIBMNHNB 8
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BBME -ME - HEEREBEUARNMIESETS
ETHENEGKEE BBARAFTLEHER
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FEDNEENHEBRER-

TEREIEEEHN2024FNENFEESHKE
&

Amount of GFA of Average

Contracted Contracted Contracted

Sales Sales Selling Price

Name of regions &I %58 GHHEEEE EHHER SHHENYE
(RMB’000) (sg.m.) (RMB/sqg.m.)

(NEHEF 1) (FHAK) (ARE FHK)

West Strait Economic Zone BAKEE 239,814 26,037 9,211
Yangtze River Delta Region E=AEIH 3,774,965 226,843 16,641
Central China Region FERE 661,735 56,259 11,762
Greater Bay Area KEE 2,153,434 124,481 17,299
Southwest Region 7o @ 15 399,662 35,370 11,299
Bohai Rim Region IREEsE 723,495 76,797 9,421
Total 4zt 7,953,105 545,787 14,572
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The contracted sales and GFA sold in each region in 2023 are set out
in the following table:

TREIEBEEHN2023FNENHESHKE
i

Total Amount GFA of Average

of Contracted Contracted Contracted

Sales Sales Selling Price

Name of regions B aE HWENHE R EHHERR EHHENYE
(RMB’000) (sgq.m.) (RMB/sg.m.)

(NEHEF 1) (FEAK) (AR FHK

West Strait Economic Zone BEKKE 2,390,717 159,956 14,946
Yangtze River Delta Region E=-AE 8,608,139 456,936 18,839
Central China Region EREE 1,456,163 107,828 13,504
Greater Bay Area KEE 2,807,251 174,853 16,055
Southwest Region AR i 714,575 62,011 11,523
Bohai Rim Region IREEE 1,863,326 126,469 14,733
Total et 17,840,171 1,088,053 16,396

PROPERTY INVESTMENT

The Group’s property investment segment covers a variety of
commercial properties and strives to shape three product lines,
namely “Yu Yue” brand for shopping centers, “Yuzhou Plaza” brand
for office buildings and shopping streets, so as to meet the needs of
various consumption groups in cities. The Yuzhou property investment
projects, whose business is mainly operated in economically
developed areas such as the West Strait Economic Zone, Yangtze
River Delta Region and the Greater Bay Area, currently cover areas
of Shanghai, Shenzhen, Hangzhou, Xiamen, Suzhou, Nanjing, Hefei,
Wuhan and Quanzhou. There were a total of 39 projects, consisting of
32 projects under operation and 7 projects in the preparation period.
These projects covered a commercial area of over 1.53 million sg.m.,
where shopping center, office building and community business
accounted for 60%, 20% and 20%, respectively.
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Management Discussionand Analysis (Continued)

As 2024 commenced, the consumer market experienced a notable
resurgence, and the commercial real estate market also returned to
an active level. In 2024, guided by the annual theme of “Brand New
Young Power”, Yuzhou Commercial Group (“Yuzhou Commercial”)
deeply interpreted the business operation and management concepts
of focusing on market and consumer demands from the perspectives
of fresh projects, innovative marketing and new branding, with an
aim to create an exquisite business that was closer to life. At the
beginning of the Year of the Dragon, Yuzhou Commercial orchestrated
its first Lunar New Year Cultural Festival with the theme “Unleashing
the Oriental Spirit with the Presence of the Dragon (&4 5 75 A BE
AJ2).” By introducing the notion of “Hong Kong-style Lunar New
Year Celebration GEZUEERK) 7, it crafted a street for Lunar New Year
e ",
created a festive art fair stopover — “the Joyful House of Festivities (&
E=E)", and hosted the Lunar New Year Cultural Bazaar and other
activities to convey diversified and innovative commercial values.

festive goods, namely “the Spring Festival Couplets Street (2

During the Lunar New Year, passenger flow surged by 109% vyear-
on-year, achieving the first instance of double growth in passenger
numbers in the post-epidemic era. At the same time, on various
festivals such as Arbor Day, Book Day, Earth Day, International Youth
Day, etc., Yuzhou Commercial jointly organized a number of activities
for the “Uyo City Life Festival (Uyolfim 4 & &) ”
ranged from the organizing of charity exhibition and charity sale of
the Joint Foundation (B#Eh& £ &) to the hosting of cultural festivals
and public welfare activities of the Culture and Tourism Bureau and
the district governments. Through utilizing business as a channel for
expressing cultural values, it explored the concepts of “sustainable
business” and

. These activities

“low-carbon business” from a modern perspective. In
the second half of this year, Yuzhou Commercial officially launched
its self-created IP “Intangible Cultural Heritage Season (JFi& X 16 Z)”
during the National Day Golden Week, introducing the traditional Bo
Bing (1#8#) culture, opera culture and cuisine culture in Minnan to
consumers nationwide, thereby establishing its brand image featuring
with perception of Minnan businessmen. Yuzhou Commercial
integrated the first-store economy, bazaar economy and pet economy
into its year-round activity planning. By connecting with outdoor
spaces through markets, urban sports programs, night markets
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and other forms, it extended indoor consumption scenarios to the
outdoors and brought a more flexible business model matrix. In 2024,
Yuzhou Commercial held more than 2,000 outdoor activities with a
cumulative passenger flow of over 30 million. Having organized 100
drills in fire safety, first aid and counter terrorism, it enhanced facility
safety standard, ultimately delivering a secure shopping environment
for over 18 million customers. Meanwhile, Yuzhou Commercial actively
introduced new brands in various sectors such as tea, catering, retail
and experience store. Quanzhou Yuyue Hui added several renowned
tea brands, forming a popular milk tea street with more than 10 milk
tea brands in the mall. Shanghai Pudong Yuyue Hui focused on the
retail sector and introduced the first stores of multiple brands in
Huinan Town. Xiamen Yuyue Hui continued to strengthen its trendy
experience stores and successfully introduced a number of Internet
celebrity brands. The introduction of regional first stores of several
well-known and Internet celebrity brands further enriched the brand
portfolio and provided consumers with more comprehensive and
diverse consumption choices.
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In 2024, Yuzhou Commercial launched the new U-SOUARE operation
and service system, featuring five core modules, Yu Care Services (&
FARTE), Yu Premium Privileges (5&423#8), Yu Innovation Spaces
(BAIZEM), Yu Colorfulness (B % %) and Yu Elite Resources
(BB ER), to deliver premium customer experiences. Yu Care
Services (BHARTS) provides comprehensive property support
through meticulous and efficient professional operations and services,
ensuring safe and hygienic office environments. Yu Premium Privileges
(BEIEB) offers 24/7 butler services with dedicated concierge
support. Yu Innovation Spaces (& £JZEf) creates multi-functional
business complexes equipped with furnished offices, branded
hotels, and fitness centers, to fully address corporate meeting and
exchange needs. Yu Colorfulness (2% %) enhances cultural
and social interactions through regular community activities, salons
and high-end lectures. Yu Elite Resources (B{EEJR) leverages
the Group’s strengths to offer a dedicated shopping platform and
integrated lifestyle amenities. Through the U-SOUARE system, Yuzhou
Commercial delivers secure, efficient, and warm business experience,

facilitating enterprises to achieve their ideal workspace in urban hubs.

EREZwmEA @@
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HOTEL OPERATION

In 2024, the Group’s hotels adopted a diversified and innovative
model of operation and management by continuously optimizing the
existing operation and management system as well as upgrading the
brand with a focus on the improvement of service quality, consumer
experience and customer reputation, so as to create more space for
the revenue growth of the Group on an ongoing basis. During the
year, this segment contributed approximately RMB1.10 million to the
Group’s revenue. In addition, Camelon Hot Spring Hotel in Tong’an
District of Xiamen, Camelon Business Hotel in Hui’an of Quanzhou,
and hotels in Feidong of Hefei, Taizi Lake of Wuhan and Jinhui Area
of Fengxian District, Shanghai,
Sticking to the service concept of “family-like service for you”, the
Group will bring high-quality service experience to its customers.

etc. were still under construction.

QUALITY, SAFETY AND PRODUCT LINE
DESIGN

Over the years, Yuzhou Group has always adhered to the concept
of low-carbon environmental protection and green development,
attached great importance to sustainable development, and taken
the initiative to respond to the national goal of “carbon peaking
and carbon neutrality” by building green boutique projects with
“craftsmanship” and continuously increasing its practice of green
building, striving to construct ecological communities where people
and nature can coexist in harmony. “Environmental protection and
energy saving, building green communities” has always been one
of the development philosophies of Yuzhou Group’s projects. As at
December 31, 2024, 145 property projects of the Group (with a total
area of over 21 million sg.m.) have achieved green building standards,
of which approximately 5.55 million sg.m. have even reached two-star
or above green building standards, either nationally or internationally.
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In 2024, while passing on the establishments of the three residential
product series, namely “Royale”, “Langham” and “Honor”,
Group also made certain improvements by further standardizing the
product system and clarifying top-level design concept of products,
so as to fully demonstrate the products’ values and orientation and
satisfy the changing market demand at this stage. Yuzhou Group
always adhered to the improvement of its products, strived to provide
customers with refined quality houses that return to the essence of
life. The “Temperature Space” series of products were built around
“1 core, 3 spaces, 5 product principles, 6 product values” and were
constantly innovating and iterating. The product design combined the
natural environment and local living habits, starting from the product
details. As time goes by, the highlights of life scenes are continuously
presented. Owners can watch the morning glow rise from the city
horizon and the sunset hide into the bay. While experiencing the
leisure and happiness of urban camping downstairs of their own
houses, owners can also easily enjoy the leisurely gathering, sipping
tea and relaxing chit-chat with friends. The Group is committed to
enriching the life dimensions of the owners.

Yuzhou

In 2024, Yuzhou Group continued to refine its “Ucube-Temperature
Space” product system, iteratively upgrading the building standards of
the product line while maintaining the essence of the original product
system. Upholding the core concept of “people-oriented” and the
principles of “design with warmth” and “forms follow functions” in
its products, Yuzhou remained dedicated to creating comfortable
and high-quality living spaces. In the garden landscape design, the
designers of Yuzhou Group took every detail into account, reflecting
ecological benefits of each project and integrating with artistic
installations along with high-flexibility design to create aesthetic
spaces in harmony with nature. Residents, living in the bustling
urban environment, may unwind and experience a more relaxed pace
of life, thus appreciating the intimate bond between humans and
nature. Yuzhou Group applied advanced architectural designs and
environmental protection technologies in numerous green building
projects. For instance, designs bearing the concept of natural
ventilation enable draughts to flow smoothly through the living room
and other rooms, effectively dissipating heat and preventing the build-
up of excessive warmth. Moreover, insulation materials are utilized to
build the thermal insulation system of the outer protective structure,
resulting in a distinctly different feeling of temperature between the
indoor and outdoor areas. Our products not only achieve energy
conservation, but also provide owners with a high-quality and green
living environment.
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LAND RESERVES

Adhering to its strategic deployment of leading with locality
development and following the principle of “In-depth Cultivation”, the
Group develops the six metropolitan areas in the Yangtze River Delta
Region, West Strait Economic Zone, Bohai Rim Region, Greater Bay
Area, Central China Region and Southwest Region. As at December
31, 2024, the Group had land reserves amounting to approximately
10.67 million sg.m. of aggregate saleable GFA, with 161 projects
located in 38 cities in the six metropolitan areas. The average land
cost was approximately RMB5,965 per sg.m.. The Group believes
that its land reserves currently held and managed are sufficient for its
development over the next two to three years.

SALEABLE GFA OF LAND RESERVES (SQ.M.)

T
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(As at December 31, 2024) (JR20244F 12531 H)
Number of GFA
projects (sq.m.) As of Total
HEEERE

Region & EHEH#® = (FEAK) Ffr{& EE 4
West Strait Economic Zone BAKERE
Xiamen EF 26 827,296 7.8%
Fuzhou @M 7 152,424 1.4%
Quanzhou =M 3 662,932 6.2%
Longyan = 1 21,013 0.2%
Zhangzhou EM 4 661,293 6.2%
Sub-total INEE 41 2,324,958 21.8%
Yangtze River Delta Region R=AEHE
Shanghai b} 15 567,285 5.3%
Nanjing B 15 271,196 2.5%
Hangzhou Al 2 173,910 1.6%
Shaoxing 4B 1 127,952 1.2%
Ningbo B 2 18,040 0.2%
Suzhou &N 14 487,235 4.6%
Changzhou N 1 34,025 0.3%
Wuxi Eng ) 3 61,163 0.6%
Hefei = 14 730,903 6.9%
Bengbu IR 1 480,151 4.5%
Jinhua S 1 3,316 0.0%
Yangzhou BN 2 294,017 2.8%
Zhoushan eSall 1 37,136 0.3%
Xuzhou TR 1 886 0.0%
Sub-total et 73 3,287,215 30.8%
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SALEABLE GFA OF LAND RESERVES (SQ.M.) *tith{#E&EMHHEEETDE

(Continued) (FHiK) @
(As at December 31, 2024) (322024412531 H)
Number of GFA
projects (sq.m.) As of Total
MEEEE

Region & EHEH#E (FEARK) P& EE 4l
Bohai Rim Region REEE
Beijing Birg=t 1 27,144 0.2%
Tianjin K £ 10 1,160,695 10.9%
Qingdao 58 4 70,744 0.7%
Shijiazhuang ARG 1 5,168 0.0%
Tangshan B 2 522,218 4.9%
Shenyang E5 1 94,054 0.9%
Sub-total Nt 19 1,880,023 17.6%
Central China Region FErh&Eig
Wuhan flaw:d 4 584,344 5.5%
Xinxiang 4B 1 132,113 1.2%
Kaifeng FE) 1 122,356 1.2%
Zhengzhou BB 3 485,246 4.5%
Sub-total et 9 1,324,059 12.4%
Greater Bay Area KER
Hong Kong 58 1 2,214 0.0%
Shenzhen 3l 1 51,281 0.5%
Huizhou = 2 339,045 3.2%
Foshan 185 L 4 117,539 1.1%
Zhongshan i 1 18,878 0.2%
Jiangmen S 1 127,387 1.2%
Sub-total It 10 656,344 6.2%
Southwest Region AEEE
Chongaing B 4 353,051 3.3%
Chengdu B A 2 1,335 0.0%
Sub-total et 6 354,386 3.3%
Total &t 158 9,826,985 92.1%
Urban Redevelopment T E
Greater Bay Area KEE
Shenzhen I 1 89,295 0.8%
Zhuhai kB 1 627,022 5.9%
Huizhou =M 1 125,414 1.2%
Total =k 3 841,731 7.9%

Grand total “azt 161 10,668,716 100.0%




3 2 Yuzhou Group Holdings Company Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEEZzmKRa @@

FINANCIAL REVIEW

REVENUE

The revenue of the Group was mainly derived from four business
categories, including property sales revenue, rental income from
investment properties, property management fee income and hotel
operation income. In 2024, the total revenue of the Group was
RMB9,716.26 million, down by 54.76% on a year-on-year basis.
This was mainly due to a decrease in recognized property sales
revenue, driven by a decrease in GFA delivered during the year.
Specifically, property sales revenue was approximately RMB9,226.40
million, down by 56.06% compared to previous year, accounting
for 94.96% of the total revenue; property management fee income
was approximately RMB267.30 million, increased by 15.46% on a
year-on-year basis; rental income from investment properties was
approximately RMB221.46 million, decreased by 7.47% on a year-on-
year basis; and hotel operation income was approximately RMB1.10
million.
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Management Discussionand Analysis (Continued)

COST OF SALES

The cost of sales mainly encompassed land cost, construction
cost, capitalized interest of the Group and fair value adjustments on
properties upon reclassification to subsidiaries from joint ventures and
associates in prior years. In 2024, the cost of sales of the Group was
RMB9,540.33 million, down by 54.80% from RMB21,109.25 million
in 2023. The decrease in the cost of sales was mainly due to the
decrease in GFA of properties delivered by the Group during the year.

GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT
MARGIN

The gross profit of the Group was RMB175.94 million in 2024, and
the gross profit margin was 1.81%. The decrease in gross profit was
mainly due to the decrease in GFA of properties delivered by the
Group in 2024.

FAIR VALUE LOSS ON INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES

In 2024, the Group recorded a fair value loss on investment properties
of RMB1,048.03 million (2023: RMB3,033.88 million). The fair value
loss on investment properties was mainly due to fair value loss of the
investment properties situated in Xiamen, Shenzhen and Shanghai.

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Other income and gains decreased by approximately 81.74% from
approximately RMB351.05 million in 2023 to RMB64.09 million in
2024. The decrease in other income and gains was mainly due to the
decrease in gain on disposal of subsidiaries and bank interest income
in 2024.

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

Selling and distribution expenses of the Group decreased by 45.23%
from approximately RMB385.38 million in 2023 to approximately
RMB211.09 million in 2024. With an effective cost control measure,
the Group reduced the marketing and promoting expenses in 2024.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Administrative expenses of the Group decreased by 1.54% from
approximately RMB861.31 million in 2023 to approximately
RMB848.07 million in 2024, which was mainly due to the decrease in
staff costs and decrease in amortisation of transaction fees of senior
notes of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Hefei Yuzhou Central Town & B & « A5

OTHER EXPENSES

Other expenses decreased from approximately RMB571.09 million in
2023 to approximately RMB364.91 million in 2024, which was mainly
due to the decrease in impairment on goodwill in 2024.

FINANCE COSTS

Finance costs of the Group increased from approximately
RMB3,862.32 million in 2023 to approximately RMB3,964.40 million
in 2024, which was mainly due to the decrease in the portion of
interest capitalized during the year.

SHARE OF PROFITS AND LOSSES OF JOINT
VENTURES

The Group’s share of profits of joint ventures was approximately
RMB477.93 million in 2024, as compared to share of profits of joint
ventures of RMB294.06 million in 2023. In 2024, the total revenue of
joint ventures amounted to RMB7,991.90 million, and the gross profit
margin of joint ventures was 22.30%.
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Management Discussionand Analysis (Continued)

SHARE OF PROFITS AND LOSSES OF
ASSOCIATES

The Group’s share of losses of associates was approximately
RMB396.97 million in 2024, as compared to share of losses of
RMB105.28 million in 2023. In 2024, the total revenue of associates
amounted to RMB2,645.59 million, and the gross profit margin of
associates was -4.76%.

INCOME TAX

Income tax expense of the Group was approximately RMB114.57
million in 2024, as compared to income tax expense of RMB78.08
million in 2023. The increase in income tax expense was mainly due
to the decrease in deferred tax credit during the year.

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

In 2024, the loss for the year of the Group amounted to
RMB14,774.86 million, as compared to the loss of RMB14,309.41
million in 2023. The loss mainly resulted from an increase in provision
for impairment losses and finance costs, fair value loss on investment
properties and decrease in revenue during the year.
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Chongging Yuzhou Luxury Mansion EE &Ml « ZELRT
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Qingdao Yuzhou Langham Bay & & &M BRiE &

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO JEERG RS FE(LES 1R
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the loss attributable to non-  E E2024F 12831 IEFEE » EERERE(S
controlling interests amounted to approximately RMB2,808.02 million,  E51E4J A R 1528188028 7T > 2023 F JE LR #E =
as compared to the loss attributable to non-controlling interests of FE{EEGIEA AR EI7(E8,8848 T-BREBIET
approximately RMB3,788.84 million in 2023. The loss was mainly ZBHRBEIFND L EFFEEENESEHERBGE
attributable to impairment of inventories and losses on certain non- UKRIIEEZEMBEREYEMNAAERIE-

wholly owned projects and fair value loss on non-wholly owned

investment properties.

BASIC LOSS PER SHARE EREXEIE

For the year ended December 31, 2024, basic loss per share was E E2024F12H31HLEEE -SREXREES
RMB1.87. AR#1.877T°
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Management Discussionand Analysis (Continued)

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL
RESOURCES

In 2024, the Group did not issue any new senior notes and recorded a
weighted average interest rate of borrowings of 8.07%.

Cash Position

As at December 31, 2024, the Group had cash and cash equivalents
and restricted cash of approximately RMB2,977.21 million, decreased
by 42.11% from approximately RMB5,142.61 million as at December
31, 2023.

Borrowings

The Group adopts prudent financial policy for proactively conducting
debt management and optimizing debt structure to ensure balance in
financial risks and cut-down of finance costs.

As at December 31, 2024, the Group had total interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings, corporate bonds and senior notes balance of
RMB52,620.22 million, of which certain loans were secured by certain
investment properties, properties held for sale and properties under
development of the Group, representing a decrease of 3.53% as
compared to RMB54,544.36 million as at December 31, 2023. Such
decrease was due to repayment of bank and other borrowings for the
year. The weighted average interest rate of borrowings was 8.07%,
decreased by 0.09 percentage point from 8.16% for the year ended
December 31, 2023. As at December 31, 2024, asset-liability ratio
after excluding advance receipts (total liability after excluding contract
liabilities divided by total asset after excluding contract liabilities) was
115.10%, which was up by 20.33 percentage points as compared to
that as at December 31, 2023.

NET GEARING RATIO

As of December 31, 2024, the Group’s net gearing ratio (calculated as
the interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, corporate bonds and
senior notes less cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and
then divided by total equity) was -423.01%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

%EﬁZﬂ w52 53 #h (@)

As at December 31, 2024, the Group provided guarantees to
banks amounting to RMB11,450.96 million (December 31, 2023:
RMB18,807.96 million) in respect of mortgage facilities granted
to certain purchasers of the Group’s properties. The amounts of
guarantee to banks and other lenders by the Group in respect of
facilities granted to joint ventures and associates were RMB52.92
million (December 31, 2023: RMB195.62 million) and RMB888.94
million (December 31, 2023: RMB871.20 million), respectively. The
amounts of guarantee to banks and other lenders by the Group in
respect of facilities granted to certain contractors for construction
cost were RMB6.76 million (December 31, 2023: RMB8.46 million).
The Group provided guarantees to banks and other lenders in
respects of facilities granted to independent third parties with
principal amounting to RMB4,798.42 million (December 31, 2023:
RMB4,721.65 million). The principal of RMB2,816.18 million
(December 31, 2023: RMB2,773.23 million) was included in the
Group’s interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, and the provision
of expected credit loss on the financial guarantee was RMB2,112.92
million (December 31, 2023: RMB1,833.51 million).

Shanghai Yuzhou Glorious Mansion 38 &l « RiZEEIR
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Management Discussionand Analysis (Continued)

CURRENCY RISK

As of December 31, 2024, the Group had total bank and other
borrowings, corporate bonds and senior notes of approximately
RMB52,620.22 million, of which approximately 16.96% was
denominated in RMB and 83.04% was denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and United States dollars.

As at December 31, 2024, the proportions of bank and other
borrowings, corporate bonds, senior notes and cash balance of the
Group in terms of the currencies were as follows:

EEEZAmE @

S5 m b2

HZE2024F12831H 1L AEBHERTREM
BE -RBEFRELREE N ARES26
E2,022B Tt 49F16.96% 2 A NREBFEK
83.04% BB RETLFE

R2024F12B31H  REBWBRITREMMEES
NEESE BAEBEARESEGNSESELA
wer

Bank and other

borrowings,
corporate bonds,
and senior
notes balance Cash balance*
RITREMMBEE
REEF
REBEERER RE
(RMB’000) (RMB’000)
(NRHETFT) (NR¥EF 1)
HKS B 624,110 14,337
RMB AR 8,925,532 2,909,322
us$ E7T 43,070,580 53,550
Total et 52,620,222 2,977,209
* Including restricted cash * BEEREEE

The Group will closely monitor the exchange rate risk regularly and
make foreign exchange hedging arrangement when necessary. The
Group considers that no foreign exchange hedging arrangement is
needed currently.

AERREREYEZEXRBITEREER
fERSNER P2 &R A RFERIFHME
RISNESE 2z ko
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INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY SYSTEM

With the rapid development of information technology, informatization
has become the foundation and premise of modern management. The
Group actively promoted and enhanced its level of informatization
built a management + IT management and control system, improved
the independent planning and design capability of IT, and adhered to
empowering enterprises with technology to comprehensively enhance
operational efficiency and quality. During the year, to strengthen
the corporate IT infrastructure, Yuzhou Group conducted hardware
expansion for Mingyuan’s server and iterative upgrades on the
network control devices in its computer room. After the optimization
and upgrades, the system significantly improved in data processing,
business operation and network performance, so as to ensure the
stable operation of the system under heavy workloads or unexpected
situations, facilitating the robust development of the Company’s
business. Additionally, our email system was enhanced, and the
security features of the network control devices in the computer room
were iteratively upgraded, building a strong security barrier to protect
the Company’s information.
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Management Discussionand Analysis (Continued)

HUMAN RESOURCES

Yuzhou Group always adheres to the sage spirit of “King Yu tamed the
flood, making desert an oasis (K&JA7K » FTERM) ", embedding the
core values of responsibility, practicability, synergy and win-win results
throughout every aspect of corporate culture. In 2024, the Human
Resources Department carried out various corporate culture initiatives
under the theme of the “30th Forge Ahead”.

In 2024, guided by the theme of the “30th Forge Ahead”, Yuzhou
Group continued to focus on improving organizational efficiency
and stimulating team vitality. Meanwhile, the Group incorporated
the cultural assessment into each stage of talent selection and
appointment. It recruited individuals of high integrity and strong
work ethic, nurtured those who display courage and practicality, and
recognized those who achieved outstanding results and pursued
excellence, aiming to constantly inspire its employees to persevere,
forge ahead, and strive for excellence. This collaborative endeavor
propelled the Group’s advancement across industry cycles. Yuzhou
Group has always attached great importance to the physical and
mental health, as well as career development, of its employees.
Through a series of “moderate and excellent” care and warmth
activities, Yuzhou Group expressed its tenderness to employees and
built team cohesiveness. It provided its employees with welfare and
gifts for traditional festivals such as Lunar New Year, Lantern Festival,
Dragon Boat Festival and Mid-Autumn Festival, while preparing
warm gifts and organizing various activities for female employees on
Women'’s Day. At the ultimate stage of closing a project, the Group
provided caring supplies to colleagues working for construction
projects and on marketing sites, motivating frontline colleagues to
overcome difficulties and achieve excellent results.

Following the core values of “responsibility, practicability, synergy
and win-win results”, the Group will actively reserve talents in line
with long-term strategic footprint and build a team of talents who are
courageous, pragmatic, efficient, honest and self-disciplined amidst
intense market competition, so as to provide powerful talent support
for the long-term development of the Group.

As of December 31, 2024, the Group had 1,012 staff in total (2023:
1,211).

PAYMENT OF DIVIDEND

The Board resolved not to recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended December 31, 2024.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS HB AT - 8lEATIMNEKRIL
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT MBBfEE

VENTURES

The Company did not enter into any material acquisitions and ER > AATBREETERNEAKBENEES
disposals during the year. I o

FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE TO AFFILIATED Bk B A B IR A F5E B
COMPANIES

EI

As at December 31, 2024, the Group had provided financial #2024 12831 H  AEECDEBIRHEBRK
assistance, by way of advances and guarantees for facilities granted FREEFRODEHBAD (BEAEENHE AT
to its affiliated companies (which includes associated companies and &&= A F) IEHPFBER FBWT

joint ventures of the Group), the details of which are set out below:

Advances to
The Group’s the Affiliated Guarantees

attributable Companies for facilities

interest in as at granted to

the Affiliated December 31, the affiliated
Companies 2024 companies Total

1420244

KEM S 12H31H 1o B g 2 F)

Name of affiliated companies HEAR BEARZ mEB AT RIEZRE
(the “Affiliated Companies”) ("BBAT) 418 - RIEZEH R #ast
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARET T ARETT

Xiamen Zhongrong Real Estate EfTREMERE

Development Co., Ltd.* BRAH 33% 907,038 - 907,038
Tianjin Yuzhou Yucheng Real Estate ~ KZZ N M EME

Development Co., Ltd.* HERRAD 13% 897,618 - 897,618
Chengdu Yuhong Real Estate MEHBEEMERE

Development Co., Ltd.* ERAF 51% 688,390 - 688,390
Taicang Kangyida Real Estate XEEGERME

Development Co., Ltd* HEBRAE 49% 338,396 349,316 687,712
Suzhou Yuhongyuanying Property BNEEEREE

Co., Ltd.* BRAT 20% 664,935 = 664,935
Tianjin Yuzhou Xinghan Real Estate 955%%59113%%1&%

Development Co., Ltd.* HEBRAE 26% 514,676 = 514,676
Tianjin Harmonious Home Construction X2 uﬁb%IL 5B

Development Co., Ltd.* BRAR 30% 24,108 466,500 490,603
Tianjin Yuzhou Runcheng Property XEEMNBREE

Co., Ltd.* BRAT 49% 474,949 = 474,949
Suzhou Haoyi Real Estate BRIN R “%WJEF‘%?’*

Development Co., Ltd.* BREA 20% 437,295 - 437,295
Xingyang Yaheng Real Estate éﬁﬁ%l‘ﬁﬁ‘ﬁ’\ﬁﬁﬁ

Co., Ltd.* BRAR 34% 419,495 - 419,495
Tianjin Xuanyi Real Estate KIBEF B ER &

Development Co., Ltd.* BRAF 60% 410,465 - 410,465
Suzhou Xin Yuxi Construction BB EERER

Development Co., Ltd.* BRAE 49% 310,202 73,123 383,325
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Advances to

The Group’s the Affiliated Guarantees
attributable Companies for facilities
interest in as at granted to
the Affiliated December 31, the affiliated
Companies 2024 companies Total
1420245
KEEEMN 12H31H ElEYAS]
Name of affiliated companies BEAT BBARZ M B AR RIEZRE
(the “Affiliated Companies”) (TBBATE) %78 -5 R ZBR R st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T ARET T
Wuxi Xinghongyi Real Estate mBEERENEE
Co., Ltd* BRAE 50% 368,068 - 368,068
Hangzhou Changhe Real-Estate INEHEZE
Co., Ltd.* BRAE 23% 318,167 - 318,167
Nanjing Ximao Property EREXEE
Co., Ltd.” BRAF 20% 312,257 = 312,257
Nanjing Kunhao Wujin Trading ERERLEES
Company Limited* BRAE 80% 275,632 - 275,632
Qingdao Shenggang Investment EERARE
Co., Ltd.* BRAE 17% 247,158 - 247,158
Chongging Tongrong Industrial EEBMEE
Co., Ltd.” BRAF 49% 87,365 52,920 140,285
Tianjin Boshang Wanyi Real Estate KEEHBEREME
Development Co., Ltd.* HEBRAE 30% 76,317 = 76,317
Tianjin Lianyu Property KEHBEE
Co., Ltd.* BRAE 48% 27,396 - 27,396
Hefei Haoyi Real Estate aRFEEREMERE
Development Co., Ltd.* BRAE 50% 22,153 - 22,153
Suzhou Huxi Real Estate BR NIV ER B o EE R 5%
Development Co., Ltd.* BRAE 20% 18,659 - 18,659
Wuxi Fengxiang Real Estate mISAEMER
Development Co., Ltd* BRAE 40% 16,683 - 16,683
Hefei Ruiyun Realty BEmEEE
Co., Ltd.* BIRAH 51% 16,357 - 16,357
Taicang Yuzhou Yilong Real Estate XEEMNDREEME
Development Co., Ltd.* HEERAT 23% 5,198 = 5,198
Yangzhou Jizhi Real Estate BINESEHE
Development Co., Ltd.* BRAE 36% 5,036 - 5,036
Total HEt 7,884,008 941,859 8,825,867
* For identification purpose only * EEHER
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Notes:

1. Advances are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed repayment terms

and will be repaid as and when appropriate.

2. All of committed facilities will be made from the internal resources and/or

banking facilities of the Group.

3. Save as disclosed above, no other obligations arise under rules 13.13
to 13.16 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

The total amount of financial assistance provided to the Affiliated
Companies, in aggregate, amount to approximately 10.6% as at
December 31, 2024 under the assets ratio as defined under Rule
14.07(1) of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 13.22 of the Listing Rules, a combined statement
of financial position of those Affiliated Companies with financial
assistance from the Group and the Group’s attributable interests in
those Affiliated Companies as at December 31, 2024 are presented
as follows:

Myt

BRAERF - REEEEEERPARRM N E

2. PREREREREAEENSERR,RIBTMEF
Yo

3. MREXFIREBEESN BEAMEBHAORZMARA
B85 ERA) (TEMRALY) $513.13E13.16F 2 H
i B EE-

R2024F12831H  cEBREETFTHEBE LS 2
MEEEESENA EHRAE14.07(1) K
AEEELETRETZ10.6%°

R EHARAFE13.221% » R2024F12831H >
Eaﬁﬁlkféi(,ﬁﬁkﬁﬁmmﬁg NBIN GBS
RRRRAEBREBLZEHBATINEZNT !

Combined Group’s

statement of attributable

financial position interests

EHMBRAR TEBEGES

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBET T ARETF T

Non-current assets ERFEE 752,503 332,611
Current assets MENEE 27,613,631 9,494,946
Current liabilities Vi IR=N (18,741,501) (6,731,936)
Total assets less current liabilities MEERRBEE 9,624,633 3,095,621
Non-current liabilities ERBERE (2,406,770) (854,331)
Net assets EEFEE 7,217,863 2,241,290

The combined statement of financial position of the Affiliated
Companies was prepared by combining their statements of financial
position, after making adjustments to conform with the Group’s
significant accounting policies and re-grouping into significant
classification in the statement of financial position, as at December
3il2024:

HBAANEGHUBERARDEBREHZER
B fR2024F12ATHNMBEREAREE W E
EFHREUFTEAEENTEGHRE > UKE
MERRRNETEDHETENDE-
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Board, as at the publication date
of this report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float as
required under the Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On April 11, 2025, Mr. Song Jiajun resigned as the non-executive
Director and Mr. Liang Xingchao was appointed as the non-executive
Director with immediate effect. For further details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated April 11, 2025.

Save as the above and the Proposed Restructuring as set out in note
48 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group, there are no
significant events after the reporting period and up to the date of this
report.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company will be held
on May 28, 2025 and the notice of annual general meeting will be
published and despatched to the shareholders in due course. In order
to determine the entitlement to attend and vote at the annual general
meeting, the register of members of the Company will be closed from
May 23, 2025 to May 28, 2025, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares will be registered. All transfer documents
of the Company accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the branch share registrar of the Company in Hong
Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wan Chai, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
May 22, 2025.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
(including sale of treasury shares). As at the end of the reporting
period, no treasury shares were held by the Company.

CHANGES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

During the year, there is no other relevant information required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

EREZwmEA @@

RRABRFGRE
BEAATTABESNESRESHARA &
EAREHH LA AATDBER EHRAURE
MERARERE -

HEHRRERE

R2025F4B811H  RREBEERHTIENTE
FORREBLERSTAERTES  BH
RER -BRE—SHBE FL2EALTDEHA
2025FE4B11HA AL -

bR E Xt R A B G 5 MBI KXW E48FR 7
TEZREMEMN EREM B RERS A ZA
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SiEmERNELFE
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KR - AETHEHERRAFATERNE L REWN
R > RABHR2025FE5823H F2025F5H
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RO BER B D REEBTRESFELRBRAR
M BEBEFERAERISIFEMP L1718
1712-171658 & » LUEE 5 ©
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EEAEREEAEET
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13.51B(1) & BT IME o
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MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SHARE
DEALING

The Company has adopted a Code of Conduct on Directors’
Securities Transactions (the “Securities Code”) on terms no less
exacting than the required standards set out in the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listing Issuers contained in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with
the requirements set out in the Securities Code throughout the year
ended December 31, 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board and the management of the Group are committed to
the maintenance of good corporate governance practices and
procedures. The corporate governance principles of the Group
emphasise a quality Board, sound internal controls, and transparency
and accountability to all the shareholders of the Company.

During the year, the Group had adopted, applied and complied with
the Corporate Governance Code contained in Part 2 of Appendix C1
to the Listing Rules except the following deviation:

Code Provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual. Ms. Kwok Ying Lan (Z332%8) has been assuming
the roles of both the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer since
June 24, 2022. Although these two roles are performed by the
same individual, certain responsibilities are shared with the executive
directors to balance the power and authority. In addition, all major
decisions are made in consultation with members of the Board as
well as senior management. The Board has three independent non-
executive directors who offer different independent perspectives.
Therefore, the Board is of the view that there are adequate balances
of power and safeguards in place. The Board would review and
monitor the situation on a regular basis to ensure that the present
structure would not impair the balance of power in the Group.

SHARE SCHEME

The Company did not grant any share options for the year ended
December 31, 2024.

REVIEW OF ACCOUNTS

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) consists
of three independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Lam Kwong
Siu, Mr. Wee Henny Soon Chiang and Mr. Yu Shangyou.

ERETROXRZNIEETL
ANBTDERMN—EBREZRERNEN EHRAKN
FBCILEMETAEFTETESISNIZESFH
sl R ENESETESRZNTATE (TE
FHID) cAERBESFHARBETNR EFCH
DR EE2024F12B31AELEER—BEETE
#FSFRIBIFRE ©
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The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting policies adopted
by the Group and the consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended December 31, 2024. There is no disagreement
between the Board and the Audit Committee regarding the
accounting treatment adopted by the Company.

SCOPE OF WORK OF PRISM HONG KONG
LIMITED

The figures in respect of the Group’s consolidated statement
of financial position, consolidated statement of profit or loss,
consolidated statement of comprehensive income and the related
notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 2024 as set out in
this preliminary announcement have been agreed by the Company’s
auditor, Prism Hong Kong Limited, to the amounts set out in the
Group’s draft consolidated financial statements for the year. The work
performed by the Company’s auditor in this respect did not constitute
an assurance engagement in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing, Hong Kong Standards on Review Engagements or
Hong Kong Standards on Assurance Engagements issued by the
HKICPA and consequently no assurance has been expressed by the
Company’s auditor on this preliminary announcement.

DEVELOPMENT STRATEGIES AND
PROSPECTS

The meeting of the Political Bureau of the Central Committee
convened in September 2024 stated that the real estate market
shall “stop falling and recovery (IEEL[E]EZ) ", and the aim to maintain
the stability of the real estate market was further emphasized at the
meeting of the Political Bureau of the Central Committee convened in
December, clearly indicating the country’s ongoing support for the real
estate industry. It is expected that in the future, the policies related to
real estate will continue to follow the general guidance direction of the
country’s policies, maintaining a positive, favorable and easing policy
keynote. More positive and supportive policies may be introduced
by the central or local governments, such as the further decline of
mortgage rates, the relaxation or release of constraints on home
purchase of first-tier cities, the continuous reduction or optimization
of various transaction-related taxes and fees, cross-city utilization of
housing provident funds. The implementation of the “white-list” policy
on real estate enterprises will be further advanced to alleviate their
financial pressure, and the scale and intensity of real estate inventory
acquisition will be further enhanced to accelerate the destocking of
the real estate market. The progress of urban village renovation is
also expected to accelerate, continuously promoting the monetization
resettlement for squatter residents, which will release the housing
demand and facilitate the real estate industry to bottom out and
rebound.
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In 2024, the real estate industry remained relatively sluggish, posing
significant challenges on the survival and development of real
estate enterprises. Against the difficulties in the industry, Yuzhou
Group overcame multiple challenges and strove hard along with
its spirits of bravery, fearlessness and perseverance during the
overall downturn cycle of the industry, continuously promoting
the Company amidst adversity. In the future, the Company will
continue to maintain stringent “cash control” measures, and strictly
enforce the policy of “cost reduction and efficiency improvement”,
to maximize the value of every financial allocation. It will continue to
adhere to the performance-oriented policy, taking the performance
improvement as its current primary task, innovate and develop the
business mode, promote sales with various marketing strategies,
liquidize remnant assets and accelerate the repatriation of cash,
to break through in adversity. Meanwhile, the Company will strictly
manage the construction progress and quality control, conduct real-
time and dynamic monitoring on key construction nodes under the
requirement of “guaranteeing housing delivery” to ensure the on-
time completion and delivery with assured quality and quantity under
the premise of high quality, fulfilling its corporate responsibilities.
After its 30th anniversary, Yuzhou Group has reached a new phase.
We will maintain our original entrepreneurial vision, continuously
enhance our core competitiveness, and constantly engage in
innovative explorations and attempts, to identify and seize the
opportunities amidst the evolving market environment. We strive to
make achievements and lay a solid foundation for the sustainable
development of the Company, forging ahead into the next three
decades.
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In 2024, Yuzhou Group continued its efforts in advancing
environmental, social and corporate governance development and
received widespread recognition. The Company firmly believes that
these efforts will establish a solid groundwork for the long-term and
sustainable development of the enterprise and create continuously
increasing value for shareholders and investors. Through years
of exploration and practice, the Group has gradually developed a
scientific and systematic operational mechanism for investor relations
management and is committed to maintaining an excellent level
of corporate governance and a high degree of transparency. The
purpose of the Company’s investor relations efforts is to ensure that
shareholders and investors have timely access to comprehensive
information on the Company, to enhance and deepen investors’
understanding and recognition of the Company, and to increase
corporate transparency and market confidence in the Company.
Over the past year, Yuzhou Group has continuously improved its
efficient and stable investor communication system, adhering to a
transparent and open attitude. Through various channels such as
social media platforms, phone calls, and emails, the Company has
actively maintained close contact with investors, providing them with
truthful and accurate information about the Group and the real estate
industry, proactively creating opportunities to communicate directly
with investors. The Group has always believed that maintaining an
effective and stable relationship with investors is crucial for enhancing
corporate transparency and building market confidence.

OPEN, FAIR, TRANSPARENT AND ACCURATE
INFORMATION DISCLOSURE

The Group promptly discloses its financial and operational updates
to the capital market through various channels in an open, fair
and transparent manner to allow investors, analysts, credit rating
institutions and media to have an in-depth understanding of the
philosophy, strategies and potential development of the Group. The
recognition of them on the business and development of the Group
could facilitate the expansion of financing sources at a lower cost
for optimization of loan structure. Meanwhile, the Group actively
seeks and sincerely listens to the opinions and advice from the
capital market regarding the operation and management of the
Group for continuous improvement with a view of maximizing value of
shareholders.
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REHEMER®

In addition, the annual general meeting (AGM) also provides a useful
forum for shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The
Group encourages shareholders to attend general meetings and the
Company will have appropriate arrangements in place for AGM to
facilitate shareholders’ participation. The Board members, including
the Chairman and the chairmen of the Board committees, key senior
management, and the external auditor will attend annual general
meetings to answer inquiries from shareholders at the AGM, thereby
enhancing investors’ understanding and confidence in the Company.
At the AGM held on May 30, 2024, the Chairman of the Board, along
with the Directors, key senior management, and the external auditor,
attended and addressed inquiries from shareholders.

EFFECTIVE AND TIMELY COMMUNICATION
SYSTEM WITH MULTIPLE CHANNELS

As a bridge of communication with investors, the Group’s investor
relations team has always been committed to expanding diversified
communication channels and maintaining close contact with domestic
and foreign analysts and investors. The Group’s investor relations
team has developed a rigorous and efficient investor relations working
system to ensure that, in compliance with the Listing Rules, it actively
and accurately promoted the Group’s performance and development
situation to global investors through frequent network strategy
meetings and phone conferences, and conducted effective and
targeted corporate value dissemination. At the same time, the team
also listens humbly to the opinions and suggestions of the capital
markets, and provides timely feedback to the senior management
on market developments and investor demands, so as to facilitate
a healthy cycle of interaction between the capital market and the
management, to consolidate and expand the investor base, and to
enhance mutual understanding and recognition between the Group’s
management and the investing public.

The investor relations team of the Group maintained active
communication with the capital market to enhance the understanding
of the capital market to the Group. In 2024, Yuzhou Group, by virtue
of its outstanding performance in the ESG field, won a number of ESG
awards and continued to be rated as MSCI ESG “BBB”, which not
only solidified its position among the top performers in the domestic
real estate industry, but also reflected the international renowned
index rating institutions’ full recognition of the Group’s previous
development achievements, as well as the continuous optimization
and upgrading of environmental protection, corporate social
responsibility and internal corporate governance etc.. Such honors
further highlighted the Group’s unique sustainable development
advantages and model role in the industry.
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The Group has established a stable and transparent communication
system for investor relations, regularly issuing announcements,
press releases, corporate monthly newsletters, and official WeChat
information to shareholders and corporate holders. The Group’s
investor relations website (http://ir.yuzhou-group.com) has always
been one of the important channels for information disclosure.
Shareholders are also encouraged to register for the “News Alert”
service in the “Market Data” section of the HKEX Market website
(www.hkex.com.hk) in order to receive notification when the Group
publishes its corporate communications on the HKEXnews website
or makes updates to its websites. In addition to the conventional
information disclosure methods, the Group also extensively uses new
media communication platforms such as WeChat public accounts and
Global Intelligence to interact and communicate with investors. As
the first enterprise in the industry to open an official WeChat platform
for investor relations, the Yuzhou Group’s official WeChat platform
aims to serve as an efficient communication bridge for the Group to
maintain investor relations, exchange information, and answer related
investor inquiries. The Group’s strategies, new product promotion,
investor relations, latest developments, industry information, and
property market observations are transmitted to investors in real time,
gaining positive feedback from numerous analysts, investors, media
reporters, and peers. As the Group’s governance level improves and
market value management needs arise, the content and scope of
investor relations management work continue to expand. The Group
will continue to dedicate itself to establishing and maintaining a
stable and transparent communication system for investor relations,
actively promoting and practicing corporate social responsibility, and
establishing a good corporate image and brand value for the Yuzhou
Group in the market.
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REHEMER®

OTHER INFORMATION
Shareholder Service

Shareholders may notify the registrar in writing on matters relating to
your shareholding, such as share transfer, change of name or address
and loss of share certificate:

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,

183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2862 8555

Facsimile: (852) 2529 6087

Shareholder Enquiries

Enquiry hotline during normal office hours:
Telephone: (852) 2508 1718

INVESTOR RELATIONS

For enquiries from investors and securities analysts, please contact:

Corporate Finance and Investor Relations Department
Yuzhou Group Holdings Company Limited

Units 5801-02, 58/F, The Center

99 Queen’s Road Central, Central, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2508 1718

Facsimile: (852) 2510 0265

Email: ir@yuzhou-group.com
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors consists of seven Directors, of whom two are
executive Directors, two are non-executive Directors and three are
independent non-executive Directors. The Directors are appointed for
a term not exceeding three years. The power and duties of our Board
of Directors include convening general meetings and reporting the
Board’s work at general meetings, implementing resolutions passed
at general meetings, determining our business plans and investment
plans, formulating our annual budget and final accounts, formulating
our proposals for profit distributions and for the increase or reduction
of registered capital as well as exercising other powers, functions and
duties as conferred by our Memorandum and Articles of Association.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Kwok Ying Lan, aged 54, was appointed as our executive Director
on October 9, 2009 and was appointed as the Chairman of our
Board of Directors on June 24, 2022, and she is also a member of
the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and the
nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) of our Company.
Since joining our Company in April 1997, Ms. Kwok has held various
positions including but not limited to chairman, director and general
manager in most of our subsidiaries and is primarily responsible for
the financial, capital and auditing work of the Company. Ms. Kwok
has over 27 years of experience in property development and financial
management. Ms. Kwok was an executive Director of the Xiamen
Association of Enterprises with Foreign Investment. Ms. Kwok also
serves as a member of the Standing Committee of the Xiamen
Municipal Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference, the vice president of the Hong Kong Chinese Importers’
& Exporters’ Association, the Deputy Chairman of the Hong-Kong
Xiamen Friendship Union, and so on the public service positions. She
is the spouse of Mr. Lam Lung On, our non-executive Director, and
the sister-in-law of Mr. Lin Conghui, our executive Director. Ms. Kwok
has not held any directorship in any other public listed companies in
the past three years. Ms. Kwok worked for China Construction Bank
Xiamen Branch, a state-owned bank, before she joined our Company.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Lin Conghui, aged 54, was appointed as our executive Director on
October 9, 2009. Since joining our Company in July 1998, Mr. Lin
has held positions including but not limited to chairman and director
in most of our subsidiaries and is primarily responsible for the daily
operation management of cost purchasing department. Mr. Lin has
over 31 years of experience in project management. He graduated
from Tongji University with a diploma in Architecture Engineering
in January 2006. Mr. Lin is the brother-in-law of Mr. Lam Lung On,
our non-executive Directors, and Ms. Kwok Ying Lan, our executive
Directors. Mr. Lin has not held any directorship in any other public
listed companies in the past three years.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Lam Lung On, aged 60, the founder of the Group, was appointed
as our non-executive Director on June 24, 2022. Since he founded
the Group in December 1994, Mr. Lam has held various positions
including but not limited to chairman, deputy chairman, director
and general manager in most of subsidiaries of the Group and is
primarily responsible for overseeing the development planning and
strategic layout of the Company as well as the major decisions on
the investment and human resources of the Company. He has over
30 years of experience in residential, commercial and hotel property
development and investment. In 2006, Mr. Lam became an Honorary
Citizen of Xiamen. Besides, he was appointed as a member of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (HKSAR) of the People’s
Republic of China to the 14th National Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference (CPPCC) and has served
in various public service positions, including a member of the HKSAR
Election Committee, a member of the Standing Committee of the
All-China Federation of Returned Overseas Chinese, and a member
of the Tianjin Municipal Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference. Mr. Lam also serves as the honorary
president of the Hong Kong Chinese Importers’ & Exporters’
Association, the president of the Greater Bay Area Importers and
Exporters Association, the investment consultant of Xiamen, the
visiting professor of the University of Science and Technology of China
and the executive director of Jimei University. Mr. Lam graduated
from the University of Science and Technology of China with a
Master's degree in engineering in November 1996. Mr. Lam is the
spouse of Ms. Kwok Ying Lan, an executive Director and a controlling
shareholder of the Company, and the brother-in-law of Mr. Lin
Conghui, an executive Director.
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Directors’ Biographies (Continued)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (continued)

Mr. Liang Xingchao, aged 57, was appointed as our non-executive
Director on April 11, 2025. He has over 29 years of experience
in finance and capital operation. From July 1996 to May 1998,
he worked at Xinhua Daily as a financial reporter, which is mainly
responsible for financial news reporting and coverage. From May
1998 to December 2005, he worked at Shenzhen Economic Daily,
with the last position of the chief reporter, which is mainly responsible
for financial news analysis and reporting. From December 2005 to
April 2018, he worked at Yunnan Urban Construction Investment
Group Co., Ltd.* (EEEHMERKEEBER2AE) (currently
known as Yunnan Health & Cultural Tourism Holding Group Co., Ltd.*
(EmEBERERERARAT)), with the last position of the vice
president, which is mainly responsible for capital operation. From
March 2017 to April 2020, he worked at Overseas Chinese Town
(Yunnan) Investment Co., Ltd.” (EEH (EfE) REBRAT), with
the position of deputy general manager, which is mainly responsible
for capital operation. Since December 2018, he has served as
the deputy general manager of Shenzhen OCT Capital Investment
MIZEFHREAKREEIERRAF) and
has been the deputy general manager of Overseas Chinese Town
(HK) Company Limited since July 2022, which is mainly responsible
for capital operation. Mr. Liang has been a director of Jiangsu
Guoxin Co., Ltd.* CT& % B R AB) (@ company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 002608) from May 2022 to
March 2025, a director of B.Duck Semk Holdings International Limited
(stock code: 02250) since October 2024 and a director of Minsheng
Education Group Company Limited (stock code: 01569) since
December 2024, respectively. Mr. Liang obtained his doctoral degree
from Southwest Jiaotong University (FEFEZZ B AZ)in the People’s
Republic of China in December 2012.

Management Co., Ltd.* (&
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Lam Kwong Siu, aged 91, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on October 9, 2009. He is also the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee,
and a member of the audit committee of our Company (the “Audit
Committee”). Mr. Lam has more than 51 years of capital operating
experience and had held the following positions in the banking
sector: the deputy chairman of Bank of China International Holdings
Limited from 2001 to September 2024, a non-executive Director of
Bank of China International Limited since 2002, an independent non-
executive Director of Fujian Holdings Limited (stock code: 00181.
HK) since 2003, an independent non-executive Director of Xinyi Glass
Holdings Limited (stock code: 00868.HK) since 2004, an independent
non-executive Director of Far East Consortium International Limited
(stock code: 00035.HK) since 2011, an independent non-executive
director of Skymission Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 01429.
HK) from November 2019 to September 2021, a Director of Hong
Kong Chu Hai College since November 2021 and the Chairperson
since December 2021 and the adviser of Bank of China International
Holdings Limited since September 2024. Mr. Lam also holds many
social positions, once the delegate of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region of the PRC to the 10th National People’s
Congress, and currently serves as the honorary chairman of the Hong
Kong Federation of Fujian Associations, life honorary chairman of the
Chinese General Chamber of Commerce, adviser of the Hong Kong
Chinese Enterprises Association and the honorary president of the
Chinese Bankers Club of Hong Kong.

Wee Henny Soon Chiang (also known as Wee Toon Kian), aged 78,
was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on October
9, 2009. He is also the chairman of the Audit Committee, and a
member of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee.
He has more than 41 years of experience in public accounting
practice. Mr. Wee was an independent non-executive Director of The
Quaypoint Corporation Limited (now known as China Uptown Group
Company Limited), a Cayman Islands incorporated company listed
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 02330.HK), from
September 2001 to November 2006. He is the founder of Henny Wee
& Co., a firm of Certified Public Accountants (Practising) registered
at Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in February
1988. Mr. Wee has been the partner of Henny Wee & Co. since 1988
and following a merger with another local firm of certified public
accountants on April 1, 2016, he has been the managing partner of
the merged SWC & Partners. He was also a partner of Glass Radcliffe
Chan & Wee. Mr. Wee obtained a bachelor’s degree in Commerce
from the University of Newcastle, New South Wales, Australia, in
March 1971. He became an Associate Member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants (Australia) in July 1975, and a Certified Public
Accountant (Practicing) of the Hong Kong Society of Accountants,
now known as the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountant
since 1988.
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Directors’ Biographies (Continued)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Yu Shangyou, aged 66, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on June 24, 2022. He is also a member of the
Audit Committee. Mr. Yu has over 33 years of experience in financial
investment, capital operation and enterprise management. From
April 1988 to June 1993, Mr. Yu was a project manager for overseas
investment at the Asia-America & Pacific investment management
department of China Heilongjiang International Economic and
Technical Cooperation Corporation* (F0 B 2 58T B A E T &
{E/AE]), a company primarily engaged in managing the local and
foreign projects of economic and technical cooperation. From 1993 to
October 2020, he held various directorship and senior management
positions in China Overseas Group including being (1) a director of
China Overseas Holdings Limited (FE/BINMEEBRAE), (2) a vice
chairman and general manager of China Overseas Finance Investment
Limited (FEEI KT EBRAE), (3) directors of several
subsidiaries of China Overseas Land & Investment Ltd. (77 B8 5h 8%
BAEME/AT), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
00688.HK), and (4) an executive director of China Overseas Grand
Oceans Group Ltd. (FEEH R FEBBRAR), a company listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 00081.HK). From May 2014
to November 2020, Mr. Yu was a director of CSCEC Capital (Hong
Kong) Limited (FFEEA (F#) BRAE), a subsidiary of China
State Construction Engineering Corporation Ltd. (REEZERNE
FR/A &) which is a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 601668.SH). During such period, he was responsible
for the business management of the company. From 2009 to 2013
and from 2016 to 2021, Mr. Yu acted as a director of Anhui Guoyuan
Trust Co. Ltd.* (Z#ETELEREMEAE), a company primarily
engaged in trust and fund management. From 2014 to 2017, Mr. Yu
also acted as a director of China Overseas Insurance Limited (1 E&
SMREEAEBR/AE)) . Mr. Yu has been recognized as a senior economist
by China State Construction Company* (FEZZE TIE4EAF)in
the PRC since May 1996. Mr. Yu obtained his Bachelor’s degree in
finance from Jilin University of Finance and Economics (&M 81 &2
F)in the PRC in July 1983. He also obtained his Master's degree
from the Center for International Studies from The Ohio University in
the United States in August 1987.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFERT

The directors present the report and the audited financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the subsidiaries comprise property development,
property investment, property management services and hotel
operation. There were no significant changes in the nature of the
Group’s principal activities during the year.

RESULTS

The Group’s profit for the year ended December 31, 2024 and the
Group’s financial position at that date are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 108 to 262.

BUSINESS REVIEW

An analysis of the business of the Company during the year and
a summary of its future development strategy are set out in the
“Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis”
sections of this annual report. Description of possible risks and
uncertainties that the Company may be facing can be found in the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. The
financial risk management objectives and policies of the Company are
set out in note 47 to the consolidated financial statements. Particulars
of important events affecting the Company that have occurred since
the end of the financial year ended December 31, 2024 are set out
in note 48 to the consolidated financial statements. The financial
key performance indicators are commonly used by the property
development industry which shows the profitability and liquidity
performance of a company.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

PAYMENT OF DIVIDEND

The Board resolved not to recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended December 31, 2024.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming AGM of the Company will be held on May 28, 2025
and the notice of AGM will be published and despatched to the
shareholders in due course. In order to determine the entitlement to
attend and vote at the AGM, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from May 23, 2025 to May 28, 2025, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be registered.
All transfer documents of the Company accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the branch share registrar of
the Company in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong, for registration not
later than 4:30 p.m. on May 22, 2025.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHT

A summary of the Group’s results and assets,
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited financial statements, is set out on pages
263 to 264. This summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.

liabilities and non-

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment, and
investment properties of the Group during the year are set out in
notes 14 and 15 to the financial statements, respectively. Further
details of the Group’s investment properties are set out on pages 265

to 268.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

EFTHST@

SENIOR NOTES

The Company issued US$250 million senior notes with a maturity of
seven years bearing a coupon interest rate of 6% in October 2016
and US$350 million senior notes with a maturity of five years bearing
a coupon interest rate of 6% in January 2017. The Company also
issued US$375 million senior notes in February 2018 and US$625
million, in aggregate, senior notes in May and July 2018 with a
maturity of three years bearing a coupon interest rate of 6.375%
and 7.9%, respectively. The Company issued US$500 million senior
notes with a maturity of three years bearing a coupon interest rate of
8.625% in January 2019, US$500 million senior notes with a maturity
of four years bearing a coupon interest rate of 8.5% in January 2019,
US$500 million senior notes with a maturity of five years bearing a
coupon interest rate of 8.5% in February 2019, additional US$400
million senior notes bearing a coupon interest rate of 6% in July 2019
(which were consolidated and form a single series with the US$250
million senior notes with a maturity of seven years bearing a coupon
interest rate of 6.0% issued by the Company in October 2016),
US$500 million senior notes with a maturity of five years bearing a
coupon interest rate of 8.375% in October 2019, US$500 million
senior notes with a maturity of five and half years bearing a coupon
interest rate of 8.3% in November 2019, US$645 million senior notes
with a maturity of six years bearing a coupon interest rate of 7.375%
in January 2020, US$400 million senior notes with a maturity of
five years bearing a coupon interest rate of 7.7% in February 2020,
US$40 million senior notes with a maturity of one year bearing a
coupon interest rate of 7.5% in June 2020 and US$300 million green
senior notes with a maturity of six years bearing a coupon interest rate
of 7.85% in August 2020, US$562 million senior notes with a maturity
of six years bearing a coupon interest rate of 6.35% in January 2021,
US$100 million senior notes with a maturity of 357-days bearing
US$200 million senior
notes with a maturity of 1.75 years bearing a coupon interest rate of
9.95% in August 2021, US$120 million senior notes with a maturity
of 364-days bearing a coupon interest rate of 9.95% in September
2021 respectively. US$528 million Exchange Offer senior notes with
a maturity of one year bearing a coupon interest rate of 7.8125% in
January 2022. For the details of the senior notes of the Company,
please refer to note 30 to the financial statements.

a coupon interest rate of 12% in July 2021,
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of Cayman Islands, the jurisdiction
in which the Company was incorporated, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity,
respectively.

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief or exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of December 31, 2024 the Company’s reserves available
for distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions
of the Companies Law of the Cayman lIslands, amounted to
RMB1,008,439,000.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable contributions totalling
RMB1,092,088 (2023: RMB3,705,758).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, no sales to the Group’s five largest customers and
purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 30%
or more of the total sales for the year and of the total purchases for
the year, respectively.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any
shareholders of the Company (which, to the knowledge of the
Directors, own more than 5% of the number of issued shares of
the Company) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest
customers and suppliers.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Directors:

Ms. Kwok Ying Lan
Mr. Lin Conghui

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Lam Lung On

Mr. Liang Xingchao (appointed as non-executive Director on April 11,
2025)

Mr. Song Jiajun (resigned on April 11, 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Lam Kwong Siu
Mr. Wee Henny Soon Chiang
Mr. Yu Shangyou

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from each of Messrs. Lam Kwong Siu, Wee Henny Soon Chiang and
Mr. Yu Shangyou, and as at the date of this report still considers them
to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company are set out on
pages 53 to 57 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of Mr. Lam Lung On, Ms. Kwok Ying Lan and Mr. Lin Conghui,
being executive Directors, has entered into a service contract
with the Company for a term of three years commencing from
November 2, 2012, which has been renewed for another term of
three years commencing from November 2, 2015, November 2,
2018 and November 2, 2021 respectively, subject to termination by
either party giving not less than three months’ written notice and
retirement and re-election at the annual general meetings of the
Company in accordance with the Articles of Association. Mr. Lam
Lung On has resigned as the executive Director and re-designated
to a non-executive Director of the Company on June 24, 2022. On
June 24, 2022, Ms. Kwok Ying Lan, being executive Director, has
been appointed as the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company, and has re-entered into a service contract with
the Company for a term of three years commencing from June 24,
2022, subject to termination by either party giving not less than three
months’ written notice and retirement and re-election at the annual
general meetings of the Company in accordance with the Articles of
Association. On November 2, 2024, Mr. Lin Conghui, being executive
Director, renewed the service contract with the Company for another
term of three years commencing from November 2, 2024, subject to
termination by either party giving not less than three months’ written
notice and retirement and re-election at the annual general meetings
of the Company in accordance with the Articles of Association.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS (Continued)

The Company has issued a letter of appointment to each of Mr. Lam
Kwong Siu and Mr. Wee Henny Soon Chiang, being independent
non-executive Directors, for a term of three years commencing from
November 2, 2012. Upon expiry of the term, the Company has
issued a letter of appointment to each of Mr. Lam Kwong Siu and Mr.
Wee Henny Soon Chiang, to renew the term for another three years
commencing from November 2, 2015, November 2, 2018, November
2, 2021, and November 2, 2024 respectively, which is subject to
termination by either party giving not less than one month’s written
notice and retirement and re-election at the annual general meetings
of the Company in accordance with the Articles of Association and
the Listing Rules.

Mr. Lam Lung On has been appointed as a non-executive Director
of the Company with effect from June 24, 2022. The Company has
entered into a service contract with Mr. Lam Lung On, for a term of
three years commencing from June 24, 2022, which is subject to
termination by either party giving not less than one month’s written
notice and retirement and re-election at the annual general meetings
of the Company in accordance with the Articles of Association and
the Listing Rules.

Mr. Yu Shangyou has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company with effect from June 24, 2022.
The Company has entered into a service contract with Mr. Yu
Shangyou, for a term of three years commencing from June 24, 2022,
which is subject to termination by either party giving not less than one
month’s written notice and retirement and re-election at the annual
general meetings of the Company in accordance with the Articles of
Association and the Listing Rules.

Mr. Song Jiajun has been appointed as a non-executive Director of
the Company with effect from March 31, 2023. The Company has
entered into a service contract with Mr. Song Jiajun, for a term of
three years commencing from March 31, 2023, which is subject to
termination by either party giving not less than one month’s written
notice and retirement and re-election at the annual general meetings
of the Company in accordance with the Articles of Association and
the Listing Rules. Mr. Song Jiajun resigned as the non-executive
Director on April 11, 2025.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS (Continued)

Mr. Liang Xingchao has been appointed as a non-executive Director
of the Company with effect from April 11, 2025. The Company has
entered into a service contract with Mr. Liang Xingchao, for a term
of three years commencing from April 11, 2025, which is subject to
termination by either party giving not less than one month’s written
notice and retirement and re-election at the annual general meetings
of the Company in accordance with the Articles of Association and
the Listing Rules.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is
not terminable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year and up to the date of this annual report, none of
Directors are considered to have interests in a business which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
businesses of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees and emoluments are subject to review by the
Remuneration Committee and approval by the Board which are
determined with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and

performance and the results of the Group.

During the year, no amounts were paid by the Group to any of the
directors of the Group as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 44 to the consolidated financial statements,
no Director had an interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract
of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Company’s Articles of Association provides that every Director
shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a
Director in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in
which judgment is given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted. In
addition, liability insurance for directors and senior management of the
Company is maintained by the Company with appropriate coverage
for certain legal actions against the Directors.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of
the connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
disclosed in note 44 to the financial statements.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
continuing connected transactions set out above and have confirmed
that these continuing connected transactions were entered into (i)
in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (i) on
normal commercial terms or on terms no less favorable to the Group
than terms available to or from independent third parties; and (iii) in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and
the shareholders as a whole.

The Company has also engaged auditors to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information
with reference to Practice Note 740 Auditor’'s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditors have issued their unqualified letter containing their findings
and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed above by the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year, certain Directors and companies controlled by certain
Directors entered into transactions with the Company which are
disclosed in note 44 “Related Party Transactions” to the consolidated
financial statements of the Company. Save as specified therein, none
of the related party transactions referred to in the aforementioned
note falls within the definition of connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and is
subject to reporting requirement during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

At December 31, 2024, the interests of the Directors in the share
capital of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFQ”)), as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers, were as follows:

Long Positions in Ordinary Shares of the Company:
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Note owned owned spouse Total capital
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Name of director ERN4 MizE ERBLERE SHERNZERE EBREA st HEDL
Mr. Lam Lung On MEEZLE (@) 27,729,929 1,919,109,051 (b) 1,920,047,720 3,866,886,700 59.09
Ms. Kwok Ying Lan FEELL (@) 1,384,239 1,918,663,481 (c) 1,946,838,980 3,866,886,700 59.09
Mr. Lin Conghui WL E 10,265,697 - - 10,265,697 0.16

(@) Ms. Kwok Ying Lan and Mr. Lam Lung On are married to each other.

(b) These 1,919,109,051 Shares were registered in the name of Studious
Profits Limited (“Studious Profits”). Mr. Lam Lung On held 100% of the entire
issued share capital of Studious Profits and was deemed to be interested in
the 1,919,109,051 Shares held by Studious Profits pursuant to the SFO.

(c) These 1,918,663,481 Shares were registered in the name of Plentiful Wise
Developments Limited (“Plentiful Wise”). Ms. Kwok Ying Lan held 100%
of the entire issued share capital of Plentiful Wise and was deemed to be
interested in the 1,918,663,481 Shares held by Plentiful Wise pursuant to
the SFO.

Save as provided above and in the sub-section headed “Share
Option Scheme” below, none of the Directors have any interests or
short positions in the share capital of the Company or its associated
corporations.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
IN SHARES

The register of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO shows that, as at December 31,
2024, the following shareholders, other than those disclosed in the
paragraph headed “Directors’ Interests in Shares” in the “Report of
the Directors” of this annual report, had notified the Company of its
interests and/or short positions in the Shares and underlying Shares
of the Company which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and so far as the Directors
were aware, persons other than the Directors or chief executive of the
Company, who had an interest or a short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares of the Company as recorded in the register required
to be kept under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:
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Name of substantial shareholder Note Capacity/Nature of interest Shares capital

ERAF

BEITRAEN

TERRATE st B #EEE K& E Bt

Overseas Chinese Town (Asia) (@) Interest of controlled 650,729,098 9.94

Holdings Limited corporation

EBE GEMN) ERBERAE (a) REGEEER

City Legend International Limited (@) Beneficial owner 650,729,098 9.94

EEBKRBRRE (@ BmEBA

(a) City Legend International Limited (EEEEIFEBRAFR) is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Overseas Chinese Town (Asia) Holdings Limited, an exempted
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability, the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
(Stock code: 03366.HK).

Saved as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified by
any person who had any interests and/or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE
AWARD SCHEME

Share Option Scheme

On May 24, 2010, a share option scheme (the “2010 Scheme”) was
adopted and approved by the then shareholders of the Company for
a period of 10 years commencing on the adoption date. The 2010
Scheme expired on May 23, 2020 (therefore, there was no remaining
term of the 2010 Scheme as at the date of this report), and no further
share options will be granted under the Scheme.

On June 4, 2020, a new share option scheme (the “2020 Scheme”)
was adopted and approved by the Shareholders for a period of 10
years commencing from the adoption date. As at the date of this
report, the remaining term of the 2020 Scheme was approximately 5
years and 1 month.

2010 Scheme

Pursuant to the 2010 Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion, invite
any directors (including executive directors, non-executive directors
and independent non-executive directors) and employees of any
member of the Group and any advisors, consultants, distributors,
contractors, customers, suppliers, agents, business partners, joint
venture business partners, service providers of any member of
the Group who the Board considers, in its sole discretion, have
contributed or will contribute to the Group to participate in the 2010
Scheme.

On December 31, 2012, the Company granted share options
(the “Share Options”) under the 2010 Scheme to certain directors
and employees of the Group (the “Grantees”) which, subject to
their acceptance, entitles them to subscribe for an aggregate of
43,693,200 new shares of HK$0.1 each (the “Shares”) in the share
capital of the Company, as adjusted as a result of the bonus issue of
the Shares by the Company in July 2013.

On December 31, 2013, the Company further granted the Share
Options under the 2010 Scheme to the Grantees which, subject to
the acceptance of the Grantees, entitles the Grantees to subscribe for
an aggregate of 11,626,000 new Shares.

On January 20, 2015, the Company granted the Share Options under
the 2010 Scheme to the Grantees which, subject to the acceptance
of the Grantees, entitles the Grantees to subscribe for an aggregate
of 16,445,000 new Shares.

On January 27, 2016, the Company granted the Share Options under
the 2010 Scheme to the Grantees which, subject to the acceptance
of the Grantees, entitles the Grantees to subscribe for an aggregate

of 19,790,000 new Shares.
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EE) AR ARES £11,626,0008& # AR5 ©

R2015F1 8208 A AT ERE2010F 518
BARAELBERE (EBEFAEABHSIE
T) o A ARE S £16,445,00008 R4 ©

R2016FE18B27H A AR BIR#E2010F 51 &
MARARLBRE (EFBEFARABH S AIFE
T) AR AE S 19,790,000& # i& (5 o
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE
AWARD SCHEME (Continued)

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

2010 Scheme (Continued)

On January 26, 2017 and July 21, 2017, the Company granted
the Share Options under the 2010 Scheme to the Grantees which,
subject to the acceptance of the Grantees, entitles the Grantees to
subscribe for an aggregate of 22,690,000 and 2,500,000 new Shares
respectively.

On January 25, 2018, the Company granted the Share Options under
the 2010 Scheme to the Grantees which, subject to the acceptance
of the Grantees, entitles the Grantees to subscribe for an aggregate
of 36,860,000 new Shares.

On January 24, 2019, the Company granted the Share Options under
the 2010 Scheme to the Grantees which, subject to the acceptance
of the Grantees, entitles the Grantees to subscribe for an aggregate
of 45,270,000 new Shares.

On January 22, 2020, the Company granted the Share Options under
the 2010 Scheme to the Grantees which, subject to the acceptance
of the Grantees, entitles the Grantees to subscribe for an aggregate
of 64,208,000 new Shares.

The details of which are disclosed as below:

ESTHRE®G

IS R B 2B 5t & @
BRREE @

2010512 (48)
R2017E1826HM2017E7H21B » X AT B
RIB2OVI0OEHFAARBRARLBRE (EEF
EBABWNAAES) HEABADNIRESGHE
22,690,0008& 37 J& 19 12,500,000 1 B& 17 ©

R2018FE1825H A AR EIR#E2010F 5+ &
BABRAELERE (EBEFREABHAIE
g) o AR AR S 36,860,000/ %7 ©

R2019FE1 8248 A AT EIRE2010FE 51 &
BAZAELERE (EEFAEAEMN S AIE
F) o HAE AR S 145,270,000 # B& (5 o

R2020F1822H » XA B ER#E2010F 51 &
BARARLERE (EBFREABHSTE
g) » A AREE S £64,208,00088 AR5 ©

ERFBERENT

Closing price

Share Options of shares

Share Options lapsed and  Share Options immediately

Share Options awarded cancelled exercised Share Options before the date

Directors, outstanding during the during the during the outstanding on which Share

Key Management Vesting asat period ended period ended period ended asat Options were

Personnel and other Period Period during which Share January 1, D ber 31, D ber 31, D ber 31, Exercise price December 31, awarded

eligible employees Date of grant (years) Options exercisable 2024 2024 2024 2024 (HK$) 2024 (HK$)

R EE

20245  BE2024F  HE024F  HE204F 1420245 RiERE

N 1818 12A31H 12A318 12A318 12A318 [=RCEol:)

TEEEAER BES REITREM EFE ILEE ILEE Eeyid REITREM K18

HitGERES g =h () BRETFIEZEE BRESE RitERE KMTHEEE %A (#7) BRESE (#7)
Executive Director

HITES

Kwok Ying Lan 20/1/2015 7 21/1/2022-20/1/2025 300,000 - - - 1.8920 300,000 1.8920

DEH 27/1/2016 3 28/1/2019-27/1/2026 276,000 - - - 1.8120 276,000 1.8120

27/1/2016 5 28/1/2021-27/1/2026 300,000 - - - 1.8120 300,000 1.8120

27/1/2016 7 28/1/2023-27/1/2026 300,000 - - - 1.8120 300,000 1.8120

21/7/2017 3 22/7/2020-21/7/2027 400,000 - - - 4.5500 400,000 45500

21/7/2017 5 22/7/2022-21/7/2027 300,000 - - - 4.5500 300,000 4.5500

21/1/2017 7 22/7/2024-21/7/2027 300,000 - - - 4.5500 300,000 4.5500

25/1/2018 3 26/1/2021-25/1/2028 800,000 - - - 5.8800 800,000 5.8800

25/1/2018 5 26/1/2023-25/1/2028 600,000 - - - 5.8800 600,000 5.8800

25/1/2018 7 26/1/2025-25/1/2028 600,000 - - - 5.8800 600,000 5.8800

24/1/2019 3 25/1/2022-24/1/2029 800,000 - - - 3.6500 800,000 3.6500

24/1/2019 5 25/1/2024-24/1/2029 600,000 - - - 3.6500 600,000 3.6500

24/1/2019 7 25/1/2026-24/1/2029 600,000 - - - 3.6500 600,000 3.6500

22/1/2020 3 23/1/2023-22/1/2030 1,200,000 - - - 4.2740 1,200,000 42740

22/1/2020 5 23/1/2025-22/1/2030 900,000 - - - 4.2740 900,000 4.2740

22/1/2020 7 23/1/2027-22/1/2030 900,000 - - - 4.2740 900,000 4.2740
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2010 Scheme (Continued) 20104 518 (4
Closing price
Share Options of shares
Share Options lapsed and Share Options immediately
Share Options awarded cancelled exercised Share Options before the date
Directors, outstanding during the during the during the outstanding on which Share
Key Management Vesting asat period ended period ended period ended asat Options were
Personnel and other Period Period during which Share January 1, D ber 31, D ber 31, D ber 31, Exercise price December 31, awarded
eligible employees Date of grant (years)  Options exercisable 2024 2024 2024 2024 (HK$) 2024 (HKS)
RGN EE
122024  HE2024F  HE024F  HE04F 1420244 RiERE
£ 1H18 128318 12A318 12A318 128318 [ZEGE0L:)
TEEBABR BES REITRE IEEE l: 35 i35 f71EfE REITREE Wi fE
HittGERER )=k ()  BRETFIEZERH BREXR RiERE KRIHEE TE%ME (#7) BREYE (#7)
Lin Conghui 27/1/2016 5} 28/1/2021-27/1/2026 150,000 - - - 1.8120 150,000 1.8120
HiRE 27/1/2016 7 28/1/2023-27/1/2026 150,000 - - - 1.8120 150,000 1.8120
21/7/2017 3 22/7/2020-21/7/2027 200,000 = = - 4.5500 200,000 4.5500
21/7/2017 5 22/7/2022-21/7/2027 150,000 - - - 4.5500 150,000 4.5500
21/7/2017 7 22/7/2024-21/7/2027 150,000 - - - 4.5500 150,000 4.5500
25/1/2018 3 26/1/2021-25/1/2028 200,000 - - - 5.8800 200,000 5.8800
25/1/2018 5} 26/1/2023-25/1/2028 150,000 - - - 5.8800 150,000 5.8800
25/1/2018 7 26/1/2025-25/1/2028 150,000 = = = 5.8800 150,000 5.8800
24/1/2019 3 25/1/2022-24/1/2029 200,000 = = - 3.6500 200,000 3.6500
24/1/2019 5 25/1/2024-24/1/2029 150,000 - - - 3.6500 150,000 3.6500
24/1/2019 7 25/1/2026-24/1/2029 150,000 - - - 3.6500 150,000 3.6500
22/1/2020 3 23/1/2023-22/1/2030 320,000 - - - 4.2740 320,000 4.2740
22/1/2020 5} 23/1/2025-22/1/2030 240,000 - - - 4.2740 240,000 4.2740
22/1/2020 7 23/1/2027-22/1/2030 240,000 S = = 4.2740 240,000 4.2740
Non-Executive Director
FRTES
Lam Lung On 20/1/2015 7 21/1/2022-20/1/2025 300,000 - - - 1.8920 300,000 1.8920
HEZ 27/1/2016 5 28/1/2021-27/1/2026 300,000 - - - 1.8120 300,000 1.8120
27/1/2016 7 28/1/2023-27/1/2026 300,000 S = = 1.8120 300,000 1.8120
21/7/2017 3 22/7/2020-21/7/2027 400,000 = = - 4.5500 400,000 4.5500
21/7/2017 5 22/7/2022-21/7/2027 300,000 - - - 4.5500 300,000 4.5500
21/7/2017 7 22/7/2024-21/7/2027 300,000 - - - 4.5500 300,000 4.5500
25/1/2018 3 26/1/2021-25/1/2028 800,000 - - - 5.8800 800,000 5.8800
25/1/2018 5} 26/1/2023-25/1/2028 600,000 - - - 5.8800 600,000 5.8800
25/1/2018 7 26/1/2025-25/1/2028 600,000 = = = 5.8800 600,000 5.8800
24/1/2019 3 25/1/2022-24/1/2029 800,000 = = - 3.6500 800,000 3.6500
24/1/2019 5 25/1/2024-24/1/2029 600,000 - - - 3.6500 600,000 3.6500
24/1/2019 7 25/1/2026-24/1/2029 600,000 - - - 3.6500 600,000 3.6500
22/1/2020 3 23/1/2023-22/1/2030 1,200,000 - - - 4.2740 1,200,000 4.2740
22/1/2020 5} 23/1/2025-22/1/2030 900,000 - - - 4.2740 900,000 4.2740
22/1/2020 7 23/1/2027-22/1/2030 900,000 S = = 4.2740 900,000 4.2740
Key Management Personnel and other eligible employees
TREBARREMEERER
N/A R EH 20/1/2015 3 21/1/2018-20/1/2025 182,400 S - 1.8920 182,400 1.8920
N/A R #H 20/1/2015 ) 21/1/2020-20/1/2025 1,656,300 S o - 1.8920 1,656,300 1.8920
N/A R EH 20/1/2015 7 21/1/2022-20/1/2025 2,115,300 S = = 1.8920 2,115,300 1.8920
N/A R EA 27/1/2016 3 28/1/2019-27/1/2026 50,000 = = - 1.8120 50,000 1.8120
N/A R B 27/1/2016 5 28/1/2021-27/1/2026 2,212,500 - (15,000 - 1.8120 2,197,500 1.8120
N/A R EHA 27/1/2016 7 28/1/2023-27/1/2026 2,212,500 S (15,000) - 1.8120 2,197,500 1.8120
N/A R EH 26/1/2017 3 27/1/2020-26/1/2027 2,904,000 S o - 2.6200 2,904,000 2.6200
N/A R #H 26/1/2017 ) 27/1/2022-26/1/2027 3,333,000 S (25,000 - 2.6200 3,308,000 2.6200
N/A R BEA 26/1/2017 7 27/1/2024-26/1/2027 3,333,000 = (25,000) = 2.6200 3,308,000 2.6200
N/A R EA 25/1/2018 3 26/1/2021-25/1/2028 3,868,000 = (180,000) - 5.8800 3,688,000 5.8800
N/A R B 25/1/2018 5 26/1/2023-25/1/2028 2,901,000 - (135,000) - 5.8800 2,766,000 5.8800
N/A REHA 25/1/2018 7 26/1/2025-25/1/2028 2,901,000 S (135,000) - 5.8800 2,766,000 5.8800
N/A R EH 24/1/2019 3 25/1/2022-24/1/2029 4,996,000 S (320,000) - 3.6500 4,676,000 3.6500
N/A R EH 24/1/2019 ) 25/1/2024-24/1/2029 3,747,000 S (240,000) - 3.6500 3,507,000 3.6500
N/A R EH 24/1/2019 7 25/1/2026-24/1/2029 3,747,000 S (240,000) = 3.6500 3,507,000 3.6500
N/A REHA 22/1/2020 3 23/1/2023-22/1/2030 6,671,200 = (708,000) - 4.2740 5,963,200 4.2740
N/A R B 22/1/2020 5 23/1/2025-22/1/2030 5,003,400 - (531,000) - 4.2740 4,472,400 4.2740
N/A REHA 22/1/2020 7 23/1/2027-22/1/2030 5,003,400 - (531,000) - 4.2740 4,472,400 4.2740

(1) Adjusted as a result of the bonus issue of shares by the Company in July

2013.

(1) RARBETMEEARTNR22013F7TAFHBEE-
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE
AWARD SCHEME (Continued)

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

2010 Scheme (Continued)

During the year, there were no Share Options exercised in relation to
the 2010 Scheme. Accordingly, there is no weighted average closing
price of the shares immediately before the date on which the Share
Options were exercised.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Grantees is a director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or any of their
respective associates (as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”)).

The grant of Share Options to each of the above Directors had been
approved by the independent non-executive Directors in accordance
with Rule 17.04(1) of the Listing Rules and approved by the
remuneration committee of the Company.

The purpose of the 2010 Scheme is to provide participants with
the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the Company,
to encourage participants to work towards enhancing the value of
the Company and its shares for the benefit of the Company and
its shareholders as a whole, and to provide the Company with a
flexible means of retaining, incentivising, rewarding, remunerating,
compensating and/or providing benefits to participants.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the Share Options granted and to be granted under the 2010 Scheme
shall not exceed 345,599,999 shares of the Company in aggregate,
representing 10% of the issued share capital of the Company on the
date of adoption of the 2010 Scheme (i.e. May 24, 2010), as adjusted
as a result of the bonus issues of the Shares by the Company in July
2012 and July 2013, and the total number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the Share Options granted and to be granted
under the 2010 Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company to each participant in any 12 month period shall not exceed
1% of the total number of shares in issue. At the time of grant of the
Share Options under the 2010 Scheme, the Company may specify
any minimum period(s) for which the Share Options must be held
before it can be exercised. The period within which the Share Options
under the 2010 Scheme may be exercised will be specified by the
Company at the time of grant. This period must expire no later than
10 years from the relevant date of grant.

ESTHRE®G

IS R B 2B 5t & @
BRREE @

20104 5181 (48)
FR BEE010FE BB EBREETE
RUL - I R IF B R EETE R AT Z RPN
EFHWHE-

PR EXPRIREE SN HERBBREARABLIFEAR
AEF ETHAEBHEIERF TIFREZ
BMEA(EEREBMAXBMARQEESL
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MEREEFECBRECEBIFATES
BiE EHRAE17.04NEMERELER QT H
MEEgHLE-

2010 5tEEERSHEREREBANRER
ANBEEED USB2HRERSETRAD KRR
BRNGMBNRATRIREROHNER UK
RAERBREEZT LIRS 5B - 52E) - B
HBEE - DSHEEFLENKL AR 2HRER
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ETHERMETERETETHNRMDEHSHER
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE
AWARD SCHEME (Continued)

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

2010 Scheme (Continued)

Pursuant to rule 17.09 of the Listing Rules, in relation to the 2010
Scheme, the total number of securities available for issue and the
percentage of the issued shares that it represents as at the date of
this report are 82,517,799 and 1.26%, respectively.

The amount payable on acceptance of the Share Options to be
granted under the 2010 Scheme is HK$1.00 and the exercise price
of the Share Options shall be such price determined by the Board in
its absolute discretion and notified to the participant at the time of the
grant of the Share Options, but in any event, shall be no less than the
highest of:

(@) the closing price of the share of the Company as stated in
the daily quotations sheet issued by the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange on the date of grant;

(b)  the average closing price of the share of the Company as stated
in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant; or

(c)  the nominal value of the share of the Company on the date of
grant.

2020 Scheme

Pursuant to the 2020 Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion, invite
any directors (including executive directors, non-executive directors
and independent non-executive directors) and employees of any
member of the Group and any advisors, consultants, distributors,
contractors, customers, suppliers, agents, business partners, joint
venture business partners, service providers of any member of
the Group who the Board considers, in its sole discretion, have
contributed or will contribute to the Group to participate in the 2020
Scheme.

BRI REET 8 B B 1 1R B 51 81 ()
B ESTE @

2010312 (48)

RiE EWHRAE17.09& > BRI2010F 58 ¥
AREHPIFETHNESEAHREGEZET
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE ME e R st B K R (02X Bh 5128 ()
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Share Option Scheme (Continued) AT )

2020 Scheme (Continued) 20204 5181 (48)

On January 28, 2021, the Company granted the Share Options under ~ 722021E1828H » X AT EE#H2020F 5t & H
the 2020 Scheme to the Grantees which, subject to the acceptance & IE AE HEER# (B AE AEMNB A EE
of the Grantees, entitle the Grantees to subscribe for an aggregate B) » & A 08 & 3£69,585,0000&# e »
of 69,585,000 new Shares, among which 3,000,000, 3,000,000 and #7%53,000,0001% ~ 3,000,00015 F1800,00017 &
800,000 Share Options were granted to Mr. Lam Lung On, Ms. Kwok B # T3 D B8 FMEE L 94t ~ SR« L AR EE

Ying Lan and Mr. Lin Conghui respectively. B o
The details of which are disclosed as below: ERFBERENT
Closing price
Share Options of shares
Share Options lapsed and  Share Options immediately
Share Options awarded cancelled exercised Share Options before the date
Directors, outstanding during the during the during the outstanding on which Share
Key Management Vesting asat period ended period ended period ended asat Options were
Personnel and other Period Period during which Share January 1, D ber 31, D ber 31, D ber 31, Exercise price December 31, awarded
eligible employees Date of grant (years) Options exercisable 2024 2024 2024 2024 (HK$) 2024 (HKS$)
R EE
120246 HE2024F  HE024F  HE024F 12024  RHREKE
FEN 1818 128318 12A318 12A318 12A318 [ZRCE0L:)
TEEBABR BEH RETREM LEFERE Ji:3:5 LEE fTfEE REITRE K8
HittAEREE i =k () BRETFTEZSEH BREHE BRE RACIHEE TR E (#7) BRESE (#7)
Executive Director
HITES
Kwok Ying Lan 28/1/2021 3 29/1/2024-28/1/2031 1,200,000 = o o 2.7740 1,200,000 2.7740
HEE 28/1/2021 5 29/1/2026-28/1/2031 900,000 S > - 2.7740 900,000 2.7740
28/1/2021 7 29/1/2028-28/1/2031 900,000 - - - 2.7740 900,000 2.7740
Lin Conghui 28/1/2021 3 29/1/2024-28/1/2031 320,000 - - - 2.7740 320,000 2.7740
HERE 28/1/2021 5 29/1/2026-28/1/2031 240,000 S > - 2.7740 240,000 2.7740
28/1/2021 7 29/1/2028-28/1/2031 240,000 = o o 2.7740 240,000 2.7740
Non-Executive Director
RTES
Lam Lung On 28/1/2021 3 29/1/2024-28/1/2031 1,200,000 - - - 2.7740 1,200,000 2.7740
HEZ 28/1/2021 5 20/1/2026-28/1/2031 900,000 - - - 2.7740 900,000 2.7740
28/1/2021 7 29/1/2028-28/1/2031 900,000 = = -~ 2.7740 900,000 2.7740
Key Management Personnel and other eligible employees
TEEBABREMAERES
N/A REF 28/1/2021 3 29/1/2024-28/1/2031 10,182,000 - (1,040,000 - 2.7740 9,142,000 2.7740
N/A R i8R 28/1/2021 5 29/1/2026-28/1/2031 7,636,500 S (780,000) - 2.7740 6,856,500 2.7740

N/A FER 28/1/2021 7 29/1/2028-28/1/2031 7,636,500 S (780,000) - 2.7740 6,856,500 2.7740
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Share Option Scheme (Continued)

2020 Scheme (Continued)

During the year, there were no Share Options exercised in relation to
the 2020 Scheme. Accordingly, there is no weighted average closing
price of the shares immediately before the date on which the Share
Options were exercised.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Grantees is a director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or any of their
respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules).

The grant of Share Options to each of the above Directors had been
approved by the independent non-executive Directors in accordance
with Rule 17.04(1) of the Listing Rules and approved by the
remuneration committee of the Company.

The purpose of the 2020 Scheme is to provide participants with
the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the Company,
to encourage participants to work towards enhancing the value of
the Company and its shares for the benefit of the Company and
its shareholders as a whole, and to provide the Company with a
flexible means of retaining, incentivising, rewarding, remunerating,
compensating and/or providing benefits to participants.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the Share Options granted and to be granted under the 2020 Scheme
shall not exceed 522,155,066 shares of the Company in aggregate,
representing 10% of the issued share capital of the Company on the
date of adoption of the 2020 Scheme (i.e. June 9, 2020), and the
total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
Share Options granted and to be granted under the 2020 Scheme
and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company to each
participant in any 12 month period shall not exceed 1% of the total
number of shares in issue. At the time of grant of the Share Options
under the 2020 Scheme, the Company may specify any minimum
period(s) for which the Share Options must be held before it can be
exercised. The period within which the Share Options under the 2020
Scheme may be exercised will be specified by the Company at the
time of grant. This period must expire no later than 10 years from the
relevant date of grant.

BRI REET 8 B B 1 1R B 51 81 ()
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20204 5181 (48)
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AWARD SCHEME (Continued)

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

2020 Scheme (Continued)

Pursuant to Rule 17.09 of the Listing Rules, in relation to the 2020
Scheme, the total number of securities available for issue and the
percentage of the issued shares that it represents as at the date of
this report are 452,570,066 and 6.92%, respectively.

The amount payable on acceptance of the Share Options to be
granted under the 2020 Scheme is HK$1.00 and the exercise price of
the Share Options shall be such price determined by the Board in its
absolute discretion and notified to the participant at the time an offer
of the grant of the Share Options is made, but in any event, shall be
no less than the highest of:

(@)  the closing price of the Shares of the Company as stated in
the daily quotations sheet issued by the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange on the date of grant;

(b)  the average closing price of the Shares of the Company as
stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; or

(c)  the nominal value of the Shares of the Company on the date of
grant.

Share award scheme

The Company operates a share award scheme (the “Share Award
Scheme”) which was adopted by an ordinary resolution of the
shareholders of the Company on September 29, 2020. Unless
otherwise cancelled or amended, the Share Award Scheme will
remain valid and effective for 10 years from the date of adoption.
The specific objectives of the Scheme are (i) to promote the long-
term sustained growth in the shareholder value of the Group; (i)
to recognise the contributions by certain outstanding Employees
and to provide them with incentives in order to retain them for the
continual operation and development of the Group; and (i) to attract
outstanding talents in the industry for further development of the
Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE
AWARD SCHEME (Continued)

Share award scheme (Continued)

The Share Award Scheme is operated by an independent trustee
which holds the shares in trust for the selected participants, until the
shares become vested. The shares to be awarded under the Share
Award Scheme will be acquired by the trustee from the open market.
The shares granted will be vested in the proportions and on the dates
as set out in the relevant letters of grant issued by the Company.
Vested shares will be transferred to the selected participants at no
cost save that transaction fees and expenses will be payable by the
selected participants as transferees.

Term of the Share Award Scheme

Unless otherwise cancelled or amended, the Share Award Scheme
will remain valid and effective for 10 years from the date of adoption
on 29 September 2020. As at the date of this report, the remaining
term of the Share Award Scheme is approximately 5 years and 4
months.

Participants of the Share Award Scheme

Subject to the rules of the Share Award Scheme, the board of the
directors of the Company may, from time to time, at its absolute
discretion select any employee (other than any excluded employee)
for participation in the Share Award Scheme as a selected employee,
and grant such number of awarded shares to any selected employee
at no consideration and in such number and on and subject to such
terms and conditions as it may in its absolute discretion determine.

Total Number of Shares Available for Issue Under
the Share Award Scheme and Percentage

As at January 1, 2024, June 30, 2024 and the date of this report,
the total number of Shares available for award under the Share
Award Scheme was 10,324,504, representing approximately 0.16%
of the issued shares of the Company. None of the shares purchased
has been awarded under the Share Award Scheme. As no shares
purchased has been awarded, there is no weighted average closing
price of the shares immediately before the date on which the awards
were vested.

Maximum Entitlement

The maximum number of shares which may be awarded to a selected
employee under the Share Award Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the
issued share capital of the Company from time to time.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES AND SHARE
AWARD SCHEME (Continued)

Vesting of Awarded Shares

Subject to the terms and condition of the Share Award Scheme
and the fulfilment of all relevant vesting conditions, the respective
awarded shares held by the trustee on behalf of the selected
employee pursuant to the provision of the rules of the Share Award
Scheme shall vest in such selected employee in accordance with
the relevant vesting schedule (if any), and the trustee shall, at the
instruction of the selected employee, either cause the vesting shares
to be transferred to such selected employee on the vesting date, or
cause the vesting shares to be sold with the proceeds of sale (after
the deduction of related sale expenses) to be transferred to the
selected employee.

In respect of a selected employee who died or retired by agreement
with a member of the Group at any time prior to or on the vesting
date, all the awarded shares of the relevant selected employee shall
be deemed to be vested on the day immediately prior to his death or
the day immediately prior to his retirement with the relevant member
of the Group.

The number of options and awards available for grant under
the scheme limit of the share option schemes and share award
scheme of the Company at the beginning and the end of the year
was 462,894,570. The total number of shares that may be issued
in respect of options and awards granted under all the share
option schemes and share award scheme of the Company and
the percentage of the issued shares that it represents as at the
date of this report are 114,392,504 and 1.75% (January 1, 2024:
120,092,504 and 1.84%), respectively. The number of shares that
may be issued in respect of options and awards granted under all
schemes of the Company during the year, divided by the weighted
average number of shares of the relevant class in issue for the year, is
nil.
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS
UNDER RULE 13.21 OF THE LISTING RULES

2021 Facility Agreement

On February 23, 2021, the Company as borrower entered into a
facility agreement (the “2021 Facility Agreement”) with certain banks
as lenders in relation to 42-month term loan facilities in amounts
of US$238,500,000 and HK$234,000,000 with the possibility of
incremental term loan facilities subject to and on the terms thereof
(the “2021 Facility”). The 2021 Facility Agreement includes a condition
imposing specific performance obligation on Mr. Lam and Ms.
Kwok, that it will be an event of default, if (i) Mr. Lam and Ms. Kwok
collectively cease to maintain ownership of 51% or more of the voting
share capital (or equivalent right of ownership including where the
voting share capital may have been transferred by way of security or
is otherwise held by a nominee) of the Company, or power to direct
its policies and management, whether by contract or otherwise; or (i)
any person other than Mr. Lam or Ms. Kwok becomes the chairman of
the Board.

Upon and at any time after the occurrence of an event of default, the
lenders may immediately cancel all or any part of the commitment and
the outstanding amount together with interest accrued thereon may
become immediately due and payable.

As at December 31, 2024, the term loan facilities of US$124,783,000
and HK$122,429,000 remained outstanding.

The Company will continue to make relevant disclosure in its
subsequent interim and annual reports of the Company pursuant to
Rule 13.21 of the Listing Rules for as long as circumstances giving
rise to the obligation under Rule 13.18 of the Listing Rules continue to
exist.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2024, the Company
did not have other disclosure obligations under Rule 13.18 of the
Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of
this report, being the latest practicable date prior to the date of this
report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting policies,
accounting standards and practices adopted by the Group, discussed
auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters, and reviewed
the consolidated financial statements and results of the Group for the
year ended December 31, 2024.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands with its shares
listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The
Group’s subsidiaries are incorporated in the British Virgin Islands,
Samoa, Singapore, Hong Kong and China. The Group’s operations
are mainly carried out by the Group’s subsidiaries in China while the
Group also has a corporate and administrative office in Hong Kong.

Our establishments and operations accordingly shall comply with
relevant laws and regulations in the Cayman lIslands, the British
Virgin Islands, Samoa, Singapore, Hong Kong and China. During the
year ended December 31, 2024, as far as the Company is aware of,
there was no incidence of non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group’s business.
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AUDITORS

On February 25, 2022, Ernst & Young (“EY”) resigned as the external
auditor of the Company, and the Board resolved to appoint Prism
Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited as the external auditor of the
Company to fill the vacancy following the resignation of EY and to
hold office until conclusion of the 2022 annual general meeting of the
Company. Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
February 25, 2022 and May 30, 2023 for further details.

The figures in respect of the Group’s consolidated statement of
financial position, consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income and the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
related notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 2024 as set
out in this annual report have been audited by the Company’s auditor,
Prism Hong Kong Limited, to the amounts set out in the Group’s
audited consolidated financial statements for the year.

A resolution to re-appoint Prism Hong Kong Limited, as our
external auditor will be submitted for Shareholders’ approval at the

forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there have been no other change of auditor
for the preceding three years.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Kwok Ying Lan
Chairman

Hong Kong
March 31, 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) and the management of the
Company are committed to the maintenance of good corporate
governance practices and procedures. The Company believes that
good corporate governance provides a framework that is essential
for effective management, a healthy corporate culture, successful
business growth and enhancing shareholders’ value. Since its
establishment, Yuzhou has been upholding the core values of
“prudent development and value creation”, and is devoted to adding
more value for China’s urban development. The Board integrates the
corporate culture into forging the core competencies and improving
corporate strategic management capabilities of the Company, and
formulates strategic planning for sustainable development as it aims
to be the representative company in “creating prudent value” for
China’s real estate industry. The corporate governance principles of
the Company emphasise a quality Board, sound internal controls, and
transparency and accountability to all shareholders. The Company
has applied the principles and complied with all, except C.2.1, where
applicable, of the code provisions and, where applicable, most of the
recommended best practices as set out in Appendix C1 Corporate
Governance Code to the Listing Rules throughout the year ended
December 31, 2024.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
oversees the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors business
and performance. The Board has delegated the authority and

responsibility for day-to-day management and operation of the Group
to the senior management of the Group.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith, in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests
of the Company and the shareholders at all times.

Dividend Policy

The Company considers stable and sustainable returns to
shareholders of the Company to be its goal and endeavors to
maintain a dividend policy to achieve such goal. When considering
the dividend payment, the Board shall take into account the factors
including but not limited to our earnings and financial condition,
operating requirements, capital requirements and any other conditions
that the Board may deem relevant. There is no assurance that
dividends of any amount will be declared or distributed in any given
period.
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Board Composition

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises seven
members, consisting of two executive Directors, two non-executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors as set out
below:

Executive Directors

Ms. Kwok Ying Lan
Mr. Lin Conghui

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lam Lung On

Mr. Liang Xingchao (appointed as a non-executive Director on April
11, 2025)

Mr. Song Jiajun (resigned on April 11, 2025)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lam Kwong Siu
Mr. Wee Henny Soon Chiang
Mr. Yu Shangyou

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the section headed
“Directors’ Biographies” of this annual report.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has provided an
annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and the Company considers each of them to be
independent.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning. Independent non-executive Directors are invited to
serve in the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee.

The Directors have no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships with each other, except that Ms. Kwok Ying
Lan, the Chairman, executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company, is the spouse of Mr. Lam Lung On, our non-executive
Director, and the sister-in-law of Mr. Lin Conghui, our executive
Director.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

As regards the Corporate Governance Code provision requiring
Directors to disclose the number and nature of offices held in public
companies or organisations and other significant commitments as
well as their identities and the time involved, Directors have agreed to
disclose their commitments to the Company in a timely manner.

Induction and Continuing Professional
Development

Mr. Liang Xingchao was appointed as the non-executive Director
with effect from April 11, 2025. Mr. Liang obtained the legal advice
referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on April 10, 2025,
and Mr. Liang confirmed that he understood his obligations as a
Director of the Company. Directors are continually updated on the
latest development and changes in the Listing Rules, the Corporate
Governance Code and other regulatory requirements in order to
ensure the compliance with the same by the Directors. Directors
are also encouraged to participate in professional development
courses and seminars to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. All of the existing Directors had provided record of training
they received during the year to the Company. They participated in
continuous professional development mainly by attending seminars or
reading various materials regarding corporate governance, regulatory
development and other relevant topics.

EXERBS®@

BEEg®

HREXEATRHEREEREEZLTRAAN
BT BBNMEMMEUREMERKSE
URESHANMmIRNER  EEERERER
R EIREEHIKEE ©

MEBMRIFEEEHRE

PEBLEEELZTAIERNITES > H2025F48
T1TRRBENR - RIELEEN2025F48108 EE £
MHRAE3.09DEFTIEM 2R ER BR LA
B THREEARANDESTNET T HOES
EHMEMLILTRA bESEATUREMEEE
RKNEHERBAREH UBRRESETHEBIR
E-NEEREZSSNEBEXLERERENATZ U
HENE MMM BANEE-FIERTESY
EEAABIREAFERZSHNIEIIGESF MmME
EEBRSNMMTEHEABERNRCEELR EEE
BRAEABEBEEIEEINSEER  UERFFEZXE
)EO

Training on
corporate
governance,
regulatory
development and
other relevant

topics
TtEEBEE
R REHMER
Members of the Board EFEERE FEEEN
Executive Directors HITES
Ms. Kwok Ying Lan PEBEL L V4
Mr. Lin Conghui MBS S 4 v
Non-executive Directors EHITES
Mr. Lam Lung On MBEEZ TS v
Mr. Liang Xingchao (appointed as a non-executive REBHE (R2025FE4B11HERITA N/A
Director on April 11, 2025) FERITESE) NiE A
Mr. Song Jiajun (resigned on April 11, 2025) RREBEE (BR2025F4811HEHE) v
Independent Non-executive Directors BIUERITES
Mr. Lam Kwong Siu MEILSE v
Mr. Wee Henny Soon Chiang =ERiE v
Mr. Yu Shangyou F EHiE v

In 2024, our company secretary took no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the

Listing Rules.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Compliance with the Model Code for Securities
Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code of the Listing Rules
as a code of conduct of the Company for Directors’ securities
transactions. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the
Directors have complied with the required standard set out in
the Model Code throughout the year ended December 31, 2024.
Employees who are, or likely to be, in possession of unpublished
price sensitive information in relation to the Company or its shares are
required to prohibit from dealing with shares of the Company during
the black-out period.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The code provision C.2.1 of the “Corporate Governance Code”
provides that the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer should
be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.
Ms. Kwok Ying Lan (333 ) has been assuming the roles of both
the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer since June 24, 2022.
Although these two roles are performed by the same individual,
certain responsibilities are shared with the executive Directors to
balance the power and authority. In addition, all major decisions are
made in consultation with members of the Board as well as senior
management. The Board has three independent non-executive
Directors who offer different independent perspectives. Therefore,
the Board is of the view that there are adequate balances of power
and safeguards in place. The Board would review and monitor the
situation on a regular basis to ensure that the present structure would
not impair the balance of power in the Group.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Directors has
entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of three
years while each of the independent non-executive Directors has
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of
three years.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Appointment and Re-election of Directors
(Continued)

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association and the
Corporate Governance Code, all Directors are subject to retirement
by rotation once every three years and are subject to re-election.
Newly appointed Directors are also required to offer themselves of re-
election at the next following general meeting (in the case of filling a
causal vacancy) or at the next annual general meeting (in the case
of an addition to the existing Board) following their appointment.
Accordingly, four Directors, namely Mr. Lam Lung On, Mr. Wee Henny
Soon Chiang, Mr. Yu Shangyou and Mr. Liang Xingchao shall retire
from office and are eligible to offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM of the Company.

Board Meetings

During the year, eight board meetings were convened by the
Company. The attendance of the Directors at the Board meetings was
as follows:

EXERBS®@

EET®
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REARBEBEEMAREEE AT  RA
EFPUAS-FRERE T LEEE-HZE
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EEBEREE-TLEREERREBAEENS
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EFXEER
R ARTNBHN\RESEEH -EFURE
FEEHERAT

Number of
attendance
Members of the Board EEHEEHE HERH
Executive Directors HITES
Ms. Kwok Ying Lan FHEBE L 8/8
Mr. Lin Conghui MENE S 4 8/8
Non-executive Directors ERITES
Mr. Lam Lung On MBEZTE 8/8
Mr. Liang Xingchao (appointed as a non-executive REBAE (FR2025F4B11HEERTA
Director on April 11, 2025) JEHITESE) 0/0
Mr. Song Jiajun (resigned on April 11, 2025) RRB&LE (BEF2025F4811HEHE) 6/8
Independent Non-executive Directors BIERITES
Mr. Lam Kwong Siu MEIKEE 6/8
Mr. Wee Henny Soon Chiang =ERiE 6/8
Mr. Yu Shangyou F EREE 6/8
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EEXELERET@

THE BOARD (Continued)
Board Meetings (Continued)

The Directors are provided with agenda and relevant Board materials
related to the meeting in advance before the meeting. They have
access to the senior management and the company secretary of
the Company at all times and may, upon reasonable request, seek
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense.

Apart from Board meetings, the Chairman also held a meeting with
all the independent non-executive Directors without presence of the
other Directors.

Board Committees

To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has
established four Board committees including the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and
the sustainability committee of the Company (the “Sustainability
Committee”) (collectively, the “Board Committees”). The Board has
delegated to the Board Committees responsibilities as set out in their
respective terms of reference.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises three members, namely Mr.
Wee Henny Soon Chiang (Chairman), Mr. Lam Kwong Siu and Mr. Yu
Shangyou.

The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee are:

1. develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

2. review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

3. review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and the
Directors; and

55 review the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and disclosure in the corporate governance
report.
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Audit Committee (Continued)

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee (both English and
Chinese versions), which follow closely the requirements of the
Corporate Governance Code and are modified from time to time and
adopted by the Board, are posted on the websites of the Company
and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

During the year, the Audit Committee held meetings with the senior
management and independent auditor of the Company to review
the interim and annual results of the Company, and discuss the risk
management and internal control systems as well as the effectiveness
of the internal audit function of the Company. The attendance of the
Directors at the Audit Committee meetings was as follows:

EXERBS®@

BEEg®

EBEZEZET ®

ERESENBEEE (BIFTEEA) BN A
ABREEMTHANEL - ZEEREE8H
WEHETA S EEATINEE I REELT
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REMBETER BERARITHAREEESR
RatmAraNEREERANSBEERK UK
ABEZHENBER L - EFHEEZEZEE T
EBERWOT

Mr. Wee Henny Soon Chiang (Chairman) =ERE (F/E) 3/3
Mr. Lam Kwong Siu MEIKEE 3/3
Mr. Yu Shangyou F EHE 3/3

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three members,
namely Mr. Lam Kwong Siu (Chairman), Ms. Kwok Ying Lan and Mr.
Wee Henny Soon Chiang.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include
determining the policy and structure for the remuneration of all
executive Directors, evaluating the performance of executive Directors
and senior management, reviewing and approving matters in relation
to share schemes, reviewing the Directors’ service contracts and
fixing the remuneration packages for all the Directors and senior
management, and making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of the independent non-executive Directors.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee, which
follow closely the requirements of the Code Provisions, including
determination of the specific remuneration packages of all the
executive Directors and senior management, have been adopted by
the Board, and are posted on the Company’s website and Hong Kong
Stock Exchange’s website. Directors’ remuneration is determined
based on a variety of factors such as market conditions, the market
remuneration standard and actual circumstances of the Company,
his/her respective qualifications and experience, and responsibilities
assumed.
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EXERBS@

THE BOARD (Continued)
Remuneration Committee (Continued)

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held meetings to
review the structure of the remunerations, the remuneration package

BEEE®W

HNEE T @
ERNFNEER AT RS UERAATNESH
Mo R E S HAN B R AT E SR

of the new Directors, and the renewal of service contracts or letter BN NETRHBEE EFLHEHFMNEZET S
of appointment of Director(s). The attendance of the Directors at the 1R T :

Remuneration Committee meetings was as follows:

Mr. Lam Kwong Siu (Chairman) MBI E (F/F) 2/2
Ms. Kwok Ying Lan EBL L 2/2
Mr. Wee Henny Soon Chiang =HEREE 2/2

The remuneration of the senior management analysed by bands for
the year ended December 31, 2024 is set out below:

BE2024F12A31BLFE SMEEABRR
FRBEDBIFENEIIWT ¢

Number of

Persons

Annual Income 2FEIRA A¥
HK$0 to HK$1,000,000 B I&07c ZE B #1,000,00078 5
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 781,000,001 7t ZE A #2,000,0007T 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 72,000,001 78 F A 1&3,000,0007T 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 753,000,001 75 E A 184,000,0007T 1

Sustainability Committee

On November 27, 2020, the Company established the Sustainability
Committee for the purpose of providing assistance and advice in
monitoring the decisions of management and its implementation
in achieving the Company’s goal to be a sustainable organization.
The Sustainability Committee currently comprises three members,
namely Ms. Kwok Ying Lan (Chairman), Mr. Lam Lung On and Mr. Lin
Conghui.

The Sustainability Committee shall perform the following duties:

(@)  Responsible for reviewing, and suggesting any changes to,
the Company’s strategy in respect of sustainable development
(the “SD Strategy”) more than twice a year (including approving
targets or key initiatives recommended by the working groups

under the committee), ensuring that the Company’s operations
and practices are carried out in line with the SD Strategy;

OiFEEREST
KATHR2020FE 11 B27HN IO ERREE
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Sustainability Committee (Continued)

(0)

the committee is also responsible for reviewing on an annual
basis the management approach and performance of the
Company in achieving targets or undertaking key initiatives
recommended by the following six working groups which
are responsible for their respective aspects of sustainable
development:

(i) the Employee Safety and Health Working Group;

(i) the Anti-Corruption Management Working Group;

(i) the Environmental Performance Working Group;

(iv)  the Social Performance Working Group;

(v)  the Governance Performance Working Group; and

(vij the Sustainable Development Communication and
Engagement Committee;

the committee is responsible for reviewing any significant
risks, opportunities or investments in connection with the
implementation of the SD Strategy, and approving any material
matters (whether financial or otherwise) arising from such
review;

the committee is responsible for reviewing and approving the
annual environmental, social and governance report and any

relevant ancillary public documents; and

report relevant matters of significance relating to sustainable
development to the Board through its chairman.
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EEXELERET@

THE BOARD (Continued)
Sustainability Committee (Continued)

The Company has posted the terms of reference of the Sustainability
Committee on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company’s website.

During the year, the Sustainability Committee held meetings to review
the implementation of the SD Strategy and its future development
priorities. The attendance of the Directors at the Sustainability
Committee meetings was as follows:

EET®

ARFEEREEZET ®
AATBEELEEENRETESRES S
Bt AZ PR A8 U Fe KA B 48 Uk o

ERN ARBEERZETETERERIREE
BRRBZAThARERER - EFHEIRFE
RREZEEEETERBERUOT

Ms. Kwok Ying Lan (Chairman) WHEBL T (FE) 3/3
Mr. Lam Lung On MEZLE 3/3
Mr. Lin Conghui MERNE S A 3/3
Nomination Committee RYLZEEE

The Nomination Committee currently comprises three members,
namely Mr. Lam Kwong Siu (Chairman), Ms. Kwok Ying Lan and Mr.
Wee Henny Soon Chiang.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the structure,
size and composition of the Board at least once every year to
ensure that it has a balanced composition of skills and experience
appropriate to requirements of the businesses of the Company,
identifying, selecting and recommending to the Board appropriate
candidates to serve as Directors, overseeing the process for
evaluating the performance of the Board, assessing the independence
of independent non-executive Directors.

The Company has posted the terms of reference of the nomination
committee on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company’s website.

Nomination Policy of Directors

The Company has adopted a nomination policy of Directors (the
“Nomination Policy”) which sets out the criteria and process of the
nomination and appointment of Directors of the Company in order to
nominate suitable candidates to the Board.
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Nomination Committee (Continued)

Nomination Policy of Directors (Continued)

Pursuant to the Nomination Policy, the Company considers a
number of criteria in evaluating and selecting candidates for
directorships, including but not limited to (i) character and integrity;
(i) qualifications including professional qualifications; (iii) willingness
to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a Board member
and other directorships and significant commitments; (iv) requirement
for the Board to have independent non-executive Directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidates would
be considered independent with reference to the independence
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules; (v) board diversity policy of the
Company and any measurable objectives adopted by the Board for
achieving diversity on the Board knowledge and experience that are
relevant to the Company’s business and corporate strategy; and (vi)
other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board may select candidates
for directorship from various channels, including but not limited
to internal promotion, re-designation, referral by other member of
the management and external recruitment agents. The Nomination
Committee and/or the Board should, upon receipt of the proposal
on appointment of new Director and the biographical information (or
relevant details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate based on
the criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate
is qualified for directorship. The Nomination Committee should then
recommend to the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for
directorship, as applicable. For any person that is nominated by a
shareholder of the Company (the “Shareholder”) for election as a
Director at the general meeting of the Company, the Nomination
Committee and/or the Board should evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate
is qualified for directorship. Where appropriate, the Nomination
Committee and/or the Board should make recommendation to the
Shareholders in respect of the proposed election of Director at the
general meeting.

The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy
periodically to ensure its continued effectiveness.

During the year, the Nomination Committee held meetings to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board. The attendance of
the Directors at the Nomination Committee meetings was as follows:
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Mr. Lam Kwong Siu (Chairman) MEIKLEE (F/E) 2/2
Ms. Kwok Ying Lan FHEBEL T 2/2
Mr. Wee Henny Soon Chiang =EREE 2/2
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Board Diversity Policy

The Company has established a policy concerning diversity of Board
members (the “Board Diversity Policy”) with a view to achieving
sustainable and balanced development. In designing the Board’s
composition, Board diversity has been considered from a number
of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skKills,
knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments will be
based on merit, and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

As at the date of this annual report, six of the Directors are male, and
one of the Directors is female. For the gender ratio in the workforce of
the Group, 66.3% are male and 33.7% are female. The Board is of the
view that the gender diversity across the workforce (including senior
management) is proper.

During the year, the Nomination Committee reviewed the Board
Diversity Policy and discussed the objectives set for implementing
the latter policy and noted that those objectives had been achieved.
Going forward, the Board targets to maintain at least the current level
of female representation, with ultimate goal of achieving gender parity.
The Board will identify and select female individuals with a diverse
range of skills, experience and knowledge in different fields from time
to time, and maintain a list of such female individuals who possess
qualities to become our Board members, which will be reviewed by
the Nomination Committee periodically in order to develop a pipeline
of potential successors to the Board to promote gender diversity of
the Board.

The Nomination Committee mainly comprises independent non-
executive Directors, and the Board believes that independent views
and inputs are assured in the implementation of the Board Diversity
Policy.

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance

During the year, the Company has arranged appropriate Directors and
Officers liability insurance coverage in respect of legal action against
its Directors and officers.
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Internal Controls

The Board is ultimately responsible for the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems and for review of their effectiveness.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate risk of
failure to achieve business objective, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
The risk management and internal control systems are designed
to help the achievement of business objectives in the following
categories:

1) effectiveness and efficiency of operations which include
safeguarding assets against unauthorised user or disposition;

2) reliability of financial and operational reporting; and

3) compliance with applicable laws,
policies and procedures.

regulations, and internal

An internal audit department has been established to perform
regular financial and operational reviews and recommend necessary
actions to the relevant management. The work carried out by the
internal audit department ensures the risk management and internal
control system are in place and function properly as intended. The
risk management and internal control systems are reviewed every 3
months. The review covers all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls. The results of the internal
audit and reviews are reported to the Directors of the Company.
The Directors have reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems during the year and
considered them effective and adequate. The Directors also reviewed
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions; the changes in the
nature and extent of significant risks (including ESG risks), and
the Company’s ability to respond to changes in its business and
the external environment; the scope and quality of management’s
ongoing monitoring of risks and of the internal control systems,
and the work of its internal audit function; the extent and frequency
of communication of monitoring results to the audit committee;
significant control failures or weaknesses and their impacts on the
Company’s financial performance or condition; and the effectiveness
of the Company’s processes for financial reporting and Listing Rule
compliance. No errors or irregularities with respect to any of the
foregoing items was noted.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Procedures and Internal Controls on Handling and
Dissemination of Inside Information

The Company is aware of its obligation under relevant sections of the
SFO and the Listing Rules. The Company has practical guidelines
on definition and the scope of inside information; disclosure and
management framework; exemptions for disclosure; receiving,
reporting and disclosing of inside information; confidentiality and
records of such information. In particular, staff who have access
to inside information are required to keep the unpublished inside
information strictly confidential until such inside information has been
officially announced to the public in accordance with the requirements
of the Listing Rules. The Board will review and approve the inside
information to be disclosed and the company secretary has the
responsibility to monitor and communicate with professional parties
such as our external lawyer and auditor during the process of inside
information discussion and announcement preparation.

Independent Auditors’ Remuneration

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the remuneration paid and
payable to the external auditor of the Company is set out as follows:
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RMB
Service rendered FRri (AR 75 AR
Audit service for 2024: 2024F E B ARTS ¢
— Annual audit services of the Company —RREEFEBRT 3,500,000
Non-audit services in relation to: BEAUTEENIEERT
— Accounting and tax advisory services — B RS B ARTS 7,408
— Others —Eh 500,000

Communication with Shareholders and
Shareholders’ Rights

The Company ensures that fair and transparent disclosure is made
for its business and financial performance through a variety of formal
communication channels. Information regarding the Company is
published on its website: www.yuzhou-group.com. Interim and annual
reports, circulars and notices of the Company are despatched to the
Shareholders. The website of the Company provides information such
as e-mail address, correspondence address, telephone numbers for
enquiries, and information on the business activities of the Group.
Shareholders may at any time send their enquires and concerns to the
Board in writing either by email to ir@yuzhou-group.com or direct mailing
to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for the
attention of the company secretary.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Communication with Shareholders and
Shareholders’ Rights (Continued)

Shareholders are encouraged to attend all general meetings of the
Company. Pursuant to the Articles of Association, shareholders
holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall
at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
company secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
the requisition; and the Company shall hold a general meeting within
two months after receiving the requisition. If a shareholder wishes
to propose a person other than a retiring Director for election as a
Director at a general meeting, pursuant to the Articles of Association,
the shareholder (other than the person to be proposed) duly qualified
to attend and vote at the general meeting shall send a written notice,
duly signed by the shareholder, of his/her intention to propose such
person for election and also a notice signed by the person to be
proposed of his/her willingness to be elected. These notices should
be lodged at the Company’s head office or the office of the Hong
Kong share registrar of the Company. The period for lodgement of
such notices shall commence on the day after the despatch of the
notice of such general meeting and end no later than seven days
prior to the date of such general meeting. All substantive resolutions
at general meetings are decided on a poll which is conducted by
the company secretary and scrutinised by the share registrar of
the Company. The results of the poll are published on the websites
of the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Regularly
updated financial, business and other information on the Group is
made available on the website of the Company for shareholders and
investors.

Procedures for Shareholders to Make Proposal at A General
Meeting

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company, a
shareholder should lodge a written notice of his/her/its proposal
(the “Proposal”) with his/her/its detailed contact information at the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for the
attention of the Company Secretary, with a copy of the Proposal
served to the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong at their
respective address and contact details set out in the “Corporate
Information” section of this annual report.

The request will be verified with the Company’s share registrar in
Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that the request is proper and
in order, the Board will be asked to include the Proposal in the agenda
for the general meeting.
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EEXELERET@

THE BOARD (Continued)

Communication with Shareholders and
Shareholders’ Rights (Continued)

Procedures for Shareholders to Make Proposal at A General
Meeting (Continued)

The notice period to be given to all the shareholders for consideration
of the Proposal raised by the shareholder concerned at the general
meeting varies according to the nature of the Proposal as follows:

(1) Notice of not less than twenty-one clear days and not less than
twenty clear business days in writing if the Proposal requires
approval at an annual general meeting of the Company; and

(2)  Notice of not less than fourteen clear days and not less than ten
clear business days in writing if the Proposal requires approval
at an extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

The Board considers that the implementation and effectiveness of
the Shareholders’ communication policy conducted during the year
are achieved properly, as Company has published all the corporate
communications and announcements on time as required by the
Listing Rules, and also convened the 2024 AGM and the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on December 30, 2024

properly.

Code Provision C.1.6

Under code C.1.6, independent non-executive Directors should
attend general meetings of the Company. During the year, no Director
was unable to attend the AGM and the extraordinary general meeting
of the Company held on May 30, 2024 and December 30, 2024,
respectively. Attendance of the Directors at the general meetings was
as follow:
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Number of
attendance
Members of the Board EEENE HERE
Executive Directors BITES
Ms. Kwok Ying Lan (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) — SREBL+ (F/EREEHNITE) 2/2
Mr. Lin Conghui MEENE 4 2/2
Non-executive Directors EHITES
Mr. Lam Lung On MEERLE 2/2
Mr. Song Jiajun (resigned on April 11, 2025) RERBLE (BEFR20255F4811 HET) 2/2
Independent Non-executive Directors BIJEHITES
Mr. Lam Kwong Siu MEIKEE 2/2
Mr. Wee Henny Soon Chiang =g L 2/2
Mr. Yu Shangyou F EheaE 2/2




BNEEZRARAT
—S_MEER

Fz

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

THE BOARD (Continued)

Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibilities for the
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements of the Group in accordance
with statutory requirement and applicable accounting standards. The
Directors also ensure the publication of the financial statements of the
Group is in a timely manner.

The statement by the auditor of the Company regarding its reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of the Group
is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 96 to 105.

Amendments to the Articles of Association

The Company proposed to adopt the amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association of the Company to include
relevant provisions to reflect the revised requirements of the Listing
Rules and such amendments were approved by the Shareholders at
the 2023 AGM held on May 30, 2024. For details, please refer to the
announcements and circular of the Company dated April 30, 2024,
May 6, 2024 and May 30, 2024, respectively.

During the reporting period, save for the abovementioned, there
were no other material amendments to the Articles of Association of
the Company, the text of which is available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B\ IR S

%@Prism

To the shareholders of Yuzhou Group Holdings Company Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yuzhou
Group Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 108 to 262, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards (which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”)
and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditors Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO THE
GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements which discloses that, the Group incurred a loss of
RMB14,774,863,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024 and, as
of that date, the Group had net current liabilities and net liabilities of
RMB23,801,556,000 and RMB11,735,686,000 respectively and failed
to pay off a US$1,285,496,000 (equivalent to RMB9,143,333,000)
senior notes’ interests, unpaid interest-bearing bank borrowing
interest of US$24,482,000 (equivalent to RMB176,124,000) and
HK$47,325,000 (equivalent to RMB43,825,000), and non-payment of
senior notes with principal in total of US$3,095,085,000 (equivalent
to RMB22,014,377,000) as well as non-payment of interest-
bearing bank borrowings with principal totaling US$179,583,000
(equivalent to RMB1,291,926,000) and HK$206,162,000 (equivalent
to RMB190,914,000). Such non-payment of interest or overdue
principal have caused an event of default pursuant to the terms
and conditions of both the senior note and interest-bearing bank
borrowing agreements. As a result, the respective creditors have right
to demand for immediate repayment on the outstanding principal
together with accrued interests. As at 31 December 2024, the Group
has interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, corporate bonds and
senior notes with an aggregate amount of RMB52,620,222,000, while
available cash and cash equivalent on hand was RMB1,119,141,000.

This condition indicates the existence of a material uncertainty which
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern and, therefore that it may be unable to realise its
assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.
The directors of the Company have considered the measures being
taken by the Group, are of the opinion that the Group would be
able to continue as going concern basis. The consolidated financial
statements do not include any adjustments that would result from
a failure of achieving the measures. Our opinion is not modified in
respect of this matter.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BIZHEMES @

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

RRESAEE

BIZHEEMMES @

FAREEIE@®

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FRBEMEEHAREFFENAR

Valuation of properties under development and properties held for sale

RN ERIFIEHE BRI FE I 1E

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had properties
under development and properties held for sale (the
“Properties”) amounting to RMB18,112,748,000 and
RMB13,037,581,000 respectively, which were measured
at cost method. Management engaged an external valuer
to determine the net realisable value (the “NRV”) of part
of properties and made an impairment assessment by
reference to the estimated market prices and estimated
future costs to completion of the remaining properties
at the end of the reporting period. Based on the
management’s assessment, a provision for the Properties
of RMB6,612,235,000 in total were recognised during
the year. We identified this as a key audit matter because
the carrying amounts of the Properties are significant and
significant estimation is required to determine their NRV.

Related disclosures are included in notes 3, 4, 21 and 22
to the consolidated financial statements.

R2024F12831H> BEBEBRAKZEFTENETEY
ERFEHEERRNYE (ZEYE) DNAARE
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We obtained understanding of the work of the
independent professional valuer engaged by
the management, and assessed the objectivity,
independence and competency of the external valuer.
We involved an independent valuation specialist to
evaluate the appropriateness of valuation techniques
used and challenge the underlying key estimations and
assumptions for selected samples through enquiry with
the management and by reference to the open market
information.

We compared the valuation performed by the external
valuer to the range provided by the independent
valuation specialists. We further assessed the
correctness of the property related data used as inputs
for the valuation.

We evaluated the reasonableness of the estimated
future costs to completion of the Properties, on a
sample basis, by comparing it to the actual development
cost of similar completed properties of the Group and
comparing the adjustments made by the management to
current market data.

We assessed the appropriateness of the NRV of
the Properties, on a sample basis, estimated by the
management by comparing the actual selling price
subsequent to year end or estimated market price that
derived from the NRV to the market prices achieved in
the same projects or comparable properties, based on
our knowledge of the Group’s business and the PRC real
estate industry.
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BIZHEMES @

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
Key audit matter

RSB R

FAREAFTE®

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FRYEME S EHRREFFENAR

Revaluation of Investment properties

EEREYFE

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had investment
properties amounting to RMB11,188,200,000 which were
measured at fair value. Change in fair values of investment
properties are recorded in profit or loss for the year in
which they arise. Management engaged an external valuer
to determine the fair values of the investment properties at
the end of the reporting period. Different valuation models
were applied by the external valuer on different types of
investment properties. We identified this as a key audit
matter because the carrying amounts of the investment
properties are significant and significant estimation is
required to determine their fair values.

Related disclosures are included in notes 3, 4 and 15 to
the consolidated financial statements.

1220245128310 BEEBRARENENREDES
AE11,188,200,0007c - REMEM AR EE BN EE
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EHE KRGS
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We obtained understanding of the work of the
independent professional valuer engaged by
the management, and assessed the objectivity,
independence and competency of the external valuer.
We involved an independent valuation specialist to
evaluate the appropriateness of valuation techniques
used and challenge the underlying key estimations and
assumptions for selected samples through enquiry with
the management and by reference to the rental values
and open market information.

We compared the valuation performed by the external
valuer to the range provided by the independent
valuation specialists. We further assessed the
correctness of the property related data used as inputs
for the valuation.

We also assessed the adequacy of the disclosures of the
valuation of the investment properties, including the fair
value hierarchy and the valuation techniques used and
the key inputs to the valuation of investment properties.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (cContinued)
Key audit matter

RREEE

BIZHEEMMES @

FAREEIE@®

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FRHBEMEEHAREGFENAR

Estimated provision for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) on other receivables

HtEMHERAIEERL ((TRHIEERL) 16517 E

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s carrying value of
other receivables was approximately RMB21,460,265,000
(net of ECLs on other receivables of RMB7,338,675,000)
and the ECLs on other receivables of RMB1,584,411,000
were recorded in profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2024. Management used an internal credit
rating model to calculate the amount of ECLs on other
receivables, and the provision ratio was determined on the
creditworthiness and financial condition of each debtor,
while the historical default rate and the forward-looking
data of the market environment were considered also. We
identified this as a key audit matter because the carrying
value of other receivables is significant and significant
estimate is required to determine the recoverability of other
receivables.

Related disclosures are included in notes 3, 4, 23 and 47
to the consolidated financial statements.
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We understood management processes and key
controls taken by the management in evaluating the
default rates used in assessing the collectability of other
receivables, and in the assumption made for evaluating
the reasonableness of other qualitative, quantitative, and
forward-looking data.

We tested the integrity of the information used by
the management on a sample basis to the source
documents and evaluated the appropriateness of the
expected credit loss rates applied by reference to the
historical payment records and financial conditions of the
debtors for ECL calculated by internal credit rating.

We evaluated the reasonableness of forward-looking
information used by the management by reference to
available market information.
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BIZHEMES @

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements, or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with our agreed term of agreement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BB ERE @

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during the audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Yip Chi Chiu.

Prism Hong Kong Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Yip Chi Chiu

Practising Certificate Number: PO6934
Hong Kong

31 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

MEHREmR

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H ILEE

2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M ARETT ARBTT
REVENUE WA 6 9,716,264 21,477,083
Cost of sales & A (9,540,325)  (21,109,247)
Gross profit EF] 175,939 367,836
Fair value loss on investment properties, net & EBY %A N ERIEFEE 15 (1,048,026) (3,033,881)
Other income and gains E U A K W 6 64,090 351,047
Selling and distribution expenses HE RO Hm A (211,088) (385,384)
Administrative expenses THRFEX (848,068) (861,313)
Other expenses HMBEx (364,914) (571,090)
Write-down of properties held for sale and WORFFIEIHE AR E R
properties under development to net EEYEECESIFEE
realisable value (6,612,235) (4,548,883)
Impairment of investments in joint ventures ~ MREE AT RBHEATKREN
and associates HE (114,316) (93,456)
Impairment of other receivables HApE W I8 & (1,584,411) (1,603,056)
Remeasurement of financial guarantee BN EMBEREL
contracts (233,831) (179,609)
Finance costs RAE B A 7 (3,964,401) (3,862,323)
Share of profits and losses of joint ventures ~ FEE &= AT B 477,928 294,057
Share of profits and losses of associates BB A B)IEE (396,965) (105,278)
LOSS BEFORE TAX PRI ARS8 8 (14,660,298)  (14,231,333)
Income tax expense FREMMAZ 11 (114,565) (78,077)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR ERERIE (14,774,863)  (14,309,410)
Attributable to: MUFEHEM:
Owners of the parent FBREEE A (11,966,840)  (10,520,568)
Non-controlling interests JEPERE R = (2,808,023) (3,788,842)
(14,774,863) (14,309,410)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO BREEBEERFEARGER
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS fE518
OF THE PARENT
- Basic (RMB cents per share) —EX (EBRARESD) 13 (187.23) (165.05)
- Diluted (RMB cents per share) —#E (BRARERD) 13 (187.23) (165.05)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FEEERER

VYear ended 31 December 2024 #ZE2024F12831HIEFE

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TFT AREFT
LOSS FOR THE YEAR ERERIE (14,774,863)  (14,309,410)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS Htt2mE1E
Other comprehensive loss that may be reclassified R E BB EEHOEERBE 2
to profit or loss in subsequent periods: HM2mEEE
Exchange differences on translation of foreign BINEBIME 2 ER AL
operations (768,791) (715,629)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that will not  PREEB BB IS EHHEZTIEE Y
be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent Htz2mika (B8 -
periods:
Surplus on properties revaluation YMEEL R 42,408 =
Income tax effect of properties revaluation MEEGZAEREE (10,602) S
Changes in financial assets at fair value through 22 R ESt A B2 EURER
other comprehensive income TRIEEED (6,367) (48,921)
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) that REEHBBAGENDERER
will not be reclassified to profit or loss zHM2mEmW R (E1E) F28
in subsequent periods 25,439 (48,921)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR, £E EM2EEE  {N%KRIE
NET OF TAX (743,352) (764,550)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR FE 2 @EEE4EZE (15,518,215) (15,073,960)
Attributable to: MUFEHEMN:
Owners of the parent BREEE A (12,710,192)  (11,285,118)
Non-controlling interests JEE R R (2,808,023) (3,788,842)
(15,518,215) (15,0783,960)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

BEMBRRE

31 December 2024 20244 128331H

2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M ARETT AREFT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment L EN Y 14 2,106,871 2,474,948
Investment properties KREYE 15 11,188,200 12,339,900
Goodwill mE 17 - 65,963
Investments in joint ventures REERNTRE 18 2,060,673 2,373,722
Investments in associates REERERE 19 4,847,499 5,509,165
Financial assets at fair value through profit or RAREFT ABENERE E
loss (“FVTPL”) 5,100 5,100
Financial assets at fair value through other A AET AEHMEEWED
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) TREE - 6,367
Deferred tax assets FIERIBE E 32 683,170 1,050,453
Total non-current assets ERENE ELEEE 20,891,513 23,825,618
CURRENT ASSETS MEMEE
Land held for property development for sale  IH/EY) ¥R IHE BRI L 20 1,624,455 1,624,455
Properties under development TEYE 21 18,112,748 29,607,234
Properties held for sale FIEHE BEmE 22 13,037,581 15,734,875
Prepayments, other receivables and FEAT R H fhFE R I K
other assets H&EE 23 24,856,097 31,006,494
Prepaid corporate income tax B EPTER 695,411 609,984
Prepaid land appreciation tax AT LI ER 871,841 959,254
Financial assets at FVTPL BAREFAEGENEREE - 240,813
Restricted cash ZIR&IIRE 24 1,858,068 1,368,808
Cash and cash equivalents RERIEEEEY 24 1,119,141 3,773,803
Total current assets BB EAERE 62,175,342 84,925,720
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEEE
Contract liabilities aHN8E 25 5,361,237 12,069,626
Trade payables B EARIB 26 7,960,003 10,118,689
Other payables and accruals HtENRIERETER 27 24,030,690 21,492,041
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings st EETREMEES 28 5,625,105 7,178,115
Corporate bonds NEMES 29 900,000 1,412,500
Senior notes BRER 30 38,789,815 38,719,873
Corporate income tax payables FET I 2PTEIR 1,979,475 1,985,197
Provision for land appreciation tax THIIREREE 31 1,330,573 1,547,433
Total current liabilities e B EAREE 85,976,898 94,523,474
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES BB EFRE (23,801,556) (9,597,754)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #&&E R nEaE (2,910,043) 14,227,864
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

HEMBIRRR®@®

31 December 2024 2024 12H31H

2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
f 5% AR®FT ARET T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBER
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings st EETREMEES 28 5,330,302 5,433,869
Corporate bonds NEMES 29 1,975,000 1,800,000
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIBES A 32 1,520,341 1,934,018
Total non-current liabilities JEREEaEERE 8,825,643 9,167,887
Net (liabilities)/assets (8B EEPE (11,735,686) 5,059,977
EQUITY M
Equity attributable to owners BATHE AEGER
of the parent
Issued capital BEITRA 33 559,947 559,947
Senior perpetual securities =Rk EES 36 1,911,986 1,911,986
Reserves 5 35 (15,019,383) (2,039,836)
(12,547,450) 432,097
Non-controlling interests JEPERG R 811,764 4,627,880
(Capital deficiency)/total equity (BAREA) TEmiasE (11,735,686) 5,059,977

Lam Lung On
HEER
Director

EF

Kwok Ying Lan
EE: ]
Director

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
HEEmEBER

Year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE2024F12831H IEEE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRARAARL

Shares Total

Share  Statutory  Exchange Share held under Senior Non- equity/

Issued premium surplus ~ fluctuation option  share award Capital ~ Revaluation Accumulated  perpetual controlling (capital

capital reserve reserve reserve reserve scheme reserve reserve loss  securities Total interests  deficiency)

#a/

RiEE  ERER  ERED RERGER (EBEY)

BEfRE (1 i ] BF BRERE AUFSRG 0 ASRE  EREE  RiGE S8KEE5 St HERER 4]

Notes RMB'0O0  RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB'O00  RMB'0O0  RMB'000  RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'0O0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

lE  AE¥Tr ARETR ABETn ARBTR ARETn ARBTR ARETn ARBTR ABWTn ARBTR ABMTn ARETR ARETR

(note 33) (note 33) (note 35(i)) (note 34) (note 34)  (note 35i))  (note 35(ii) (note 36)
(o) (itss)  (Haas() (is4)  (aiae)  (Hfais(i))  (WsEas(ii) (I3t36)
At1 January 2024 F04E1A18 550,047 1,008,439 212,642 30,299 51,774 (22,207) (799,263) (32,111)  (2489,409) 1,911,986 432,097 4621880 5059077
Loss for the year FEFR = - - - - - - - (11,966,840 - (11,966,840) (2,808,023 (14,774,863
Other compreensive (ossyincome for the year: ~ EEE 2T (S1) /i

Exchange diferences related to foreign operations  ENERIEEZ EREE - - - (168,791) - - - - - - (168,791) - (168,791)
Fai value loss on fivancial assets ot FVTOCI AR EHAZ MR ENEN

SREELAEERR - - - - - - - 6,367) - - (6,367) - (6,367)

Surplus on propertes revaluation, ne of tax NEBHERE NRRE - - - - - - - 31,806 - - 31,806 - 31,806

Total comprehensive loss for the year FEAEERLE - - - (168,791) - - - 25439 (11,966,840 - (12710492  (2,808,023) (15518,215)

Aoguiston of non-controling interests WEELRES - - - - - - (6,591) - - - (6,591) 6,591 -

Return of capital EAEH - - - - - - - - - - - (050,000) (950,000)

Dividends paid to non-controling shareholders B RBETR RS - - - - - - - - - - - (64,684) (64,684)

Distribution to holders of senior perpetual securies PSR @EHEE A - - - - - - - - (26598) - (265928) - (265928)

Equity-settled share option arrangements MEGzIBRE XS - - - - 3,164 - - - - - 3,164 - 3,164

Lapsed on share option BRERH - - - - (2,800) - - - 2,800 - - - -

At 31 Decemoer 2024 PoueE128318 0047 1008430 22642 (138492 52136 (2207 (B0S8B4F (6672 (47TI03T) 191986 (12547450 B1764  (11,735,686)
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)
SeEmE2HRG

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H ILEE

Attrioutable to owners of the parent

BREEAARS
Shares Retained
Share Statutory  Exchange Share  held under profits/ Senior Non-
Issued premium suplus fluctuation option  share award Captal  Revaluafion ~ (accumulated perpetual controling Total
capital eserve Tesenve eServe eserve scheme Teserve eserve loss) securities Total inferests equity
REE  iREE  ERE® ERE RERNZR REFE/

E&TRE i BB ] B HUARRG  EiHE  EGER  (B4PR) shMERs S HERER  EEKE
Notes RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000
Wt ARBTr ARMTR ARBTR ARETR  ARETR ARETR ARETR  ARETR  ARBTR ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR ARETR

(note 33) (note 33 (note 35()) (note 34) (note 34)  (note 3a(i)  [note 35(ii) (note 36)
(hiss)  (Wass)  (wiss)) (i) (ade)  (tas) (s (GE)
At1 January 2023 1#2003%1518 559,947 1,008,439 212682 745,928 53,800 (22,207) (799,263) 16,810 8,285,531 1911986 11,973618 13,101,744 25,075,367
Lossfor the year EERE 5 s s . . = . - 00568 - {05058 (376884 (14309410)
Other comprehensive income for the year: EERHRENG .
Exchange diferences related to foreign operations ESNEREEZEREE - - - (1156%9) - - - - - - (1156%9) - (115629
Fairvalue loss on fivanciel assets at FVTOCI AR EHAZ R EMER
EREENAEEE = v = = - - - (s - - B9 - %)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEREEELR = = S (715,629 = = - (48,921)  (10,520,568) - (11,285,118 (3,788,842  (15,073,960)
Capital controution from non-controling FERRRLE
shareholders - - - - - - - - - - - 1043803 1,043808
Acquisiton of subsidiaries WEKEAT 38 S S = S S = S S = S S 49,960 49,960
Acquisition of non-controling interests W RER - - - - - - - - - - - (l04827)  (104827)
Return of capital EXER - - - - - - - - - - - (5204908 (5.204.906)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERELR 39 - - - - - - - - - - - (1,149) (1,149
Dividends paid to non-controling shareholders ~ BFEERBRERARS - - - - - - - - - - - (467.908)  (467,909)
Distrbution to holders of senior perpetual securities MERXEEEEEA D - - - - - - - - (63319 - 63318 - 83319
Eqity-settled share option arrangements NERS BREZ R - - - - 6920 - - - - - 6920 - 6920
Lapsed on share option BREXH - - - - (8,046) - - - 8946 - - - -
At 31 December 2023 12023128318 559,947 1,008,439 212,642 30299" 51,774 o201 (799,263 (B2.111) (2489409 191,986 432097 4627880 5099977
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated deficit of * ZERBREEREVBRIRPEINGES B
RMB15,019,383,000 (31 December 2023: RMB2,039,836,000) in the AR %15,019,383,0007t (20235%F12831H : AR

consolidated statement of financial position. 2,039,836,0007T) °©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FEARERER

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H ILEE

2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5E ARBTT ARBETTT

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES &2 EFHELMNRERE

Loss before tax PRI ARS8 (14,660,298)  (14,231,333)
Adjustments for: MUTIEEEHALE .
Finance costs FRE A 7 3,964,401 3,862,323
Interest income B A 6 (30,525) (67,068)
Depreciation e 8 63,358 58,351
Fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL R AREFARBTNEREE
RAERE - 16,052
Fair value loss on properties revaluation MESHN A RNERIE 8 197,766 =
Write-down of properties held for sale and WORIFEIEE BRI
properties under development to net TEYEE 0 EIRFE
realisable value 6,612,235 4,548,883
Impairment of other receivables HAhrE W IE 5 & 1,584,411 1,603,056
Remeasurement of financial guarantee BN EMBEEREN
contracts 233,831 179,609
Impairment of investments of joint ventures REERARMEATDKEL
and associates A 114,316 93,456
Impairment of goodwill HERE 8 65,963 205,110
Impairment on property, plant and equipment #) % « B = & 2 & B E 8 61,940 =
Share of profits and losses of joint ventures ~ fE{E & & A S4B 2B (477,928) (294,057)
Share of profits and losses of associates fEIEEE A BB m %R 396,965 105,278
Fair value loss on investment properties, net BB 2N R EKIE S 15 1,048,026 3,033,881
Equity-settled share option expense D m S E R RS 8 3,164 6,920
Bargain purchase gain on acquisition of WiE—RENE BN RERE
a subsidiary U &= 38 - (63,744)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AW E 8 (1,597) (205,530)
(Gain)/loss on disposal of joint ventures and ~ HEGE A B REE AT
associates, net (Wz) E5187 6 (11,813) 109,316
Loss on disposal of an investment property HEREYEER - 37,233
Gain on disposal of property, plant HEWE BB RRHEWE
and equipment (11,449) -
(847,234) (1,002,264)
Decrease in properties under development EEM =R L 10,898,060 4,729,264
(Increase)/decrease in properties held for sale E{ESHE R
agm) R (2,876,534) 9,022,834
Decrease in prepayments, FET RN~ E fth e Uk kI8 K E Ath
other receivables and other assets EERLD 401,405 790,578
Decrease in contract liabilities BHEa’ERLD (6,708,389) (16,173,352)
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables B S EMATIE CRL) 180 (2,158,686) 1,046,631
Decrease in other payables and accruals HttENRERESTER R (1,439,958) (1,655,414)
Cash used in operations REFMARS (2,731,336) (3,241,723)
Interest received BlFE 30,525 67,068
PRC corporate income tax paid BEMPE P EMER (137,322) (368,809)
PRC land appreciation tax paid B E L #Ig(ER (254,835) (326,856)
Net cash flows used in operating activities KEEFFIAREREFE (3,092,968) (3,870,320)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
FERERERG

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12831 H ILEE

2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M sE ARETT ARET T
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES ®REESEENIESR=
Purchases of items of property, BEYE BEMRFEEE
plant and equipment (93) (111)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, HE¥XE -BEKRZHEEE
plant and equipment FRigFIE 145,807 2,962
Additions of investment properties REKREYE 15 (1,162) (536)
Proceeds from disposal of HEKREYEFRERIE
investment properties - 13,891
Repayment from joint ventures BENTER 3,330,509 4,239,877
Repayment from associates BENBIER 340,032 1,336,520
Dividend received from a joint venture BEWR—EEaZERABRKE 50,125 =
Dividend received from an associate Bl—EHEATRE 24,500 =
Return in capital by associates i A B BR[O - 6,000
Increase in debt investments ERREEMN - (256,967)
Acquisition of subsidiaries g1 PN 38 - (179,031)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHB AT 39 (201) (37,501)
Increase in restricted cash Z PR HIIR & 12 00 (489,260) (260,250)
Decrease in non-pledged time deposits with (AN EAR B8 =8 B =z EiK iR
original maturity of over three months EHFRURD - 400,000
Net cash flows generated from investing KRETHFASHREREFE
activities 3,400,257 5,264,854
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES BtERBIEENIRESR=
Capital contributions from non-controlling EERKERHE
shareholders - 30,900
Acquisition of non-controlling interests WS IR =R - (104,827)
Decrease in amounts due to non-controlling  FE{ JE4% B% B% 52 =R IE iR/
shareholders (194,733) (41,443)
Return of capital to non-controlling FEER KRR BRI
shareholders (50,000) (485,100)
New bank and other borrowings FRRITREMBEE 8,781 20,000
Repayment of bank and other borrowings BERTARAMEE (1,693,623) (1,753,896)
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders 21 IEIZRRAR SR IR B (55,689) (15,000)
Repayment of corporate bonds EERTES (337,500) (712,500)
Interest paid BENFE (643,779) (273,433)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)
FERERER®G

Year ended 31 December 2024 & ZE2024F12831H IEEE

2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
b 5% ARETT ARETF T
Net cash flows used in financing activities MEEESFARERE T (2,966,543) (3,335,299)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH BERIRSEBY R/ F5E
EQUIVALENTS (2,659,254) (1,940,765)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year IR & KIRE X EBY 3,773,803 5,630,872
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [ RE S & 2358 4,592 83,696
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF FXIRF&KIEESEEY
YEAR 24 1,119,141 3,773,803
ANALYSIS OF BALANCE OF CASH AND HERREEEBMBERIN
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances R& KMIRTTASER 1,119,141 3,773,803
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the 4 ARESAERFAH LA
consolidated statement of cash flows and EEVBERIRNIBEE R
included in the consolidated statement of REEEY
financial position 24 1,119,141 3,773,803




BNERZRERAS
ZE_UEFR

117

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Yuzhou Group Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) is a
limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and
its shares are listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”). The
registered office of the Company is located at Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman lIslands and its principal place of business in Hong
Kong is located at Units 5801-02, 58/F, The Center, 99 Queen’s
Road Central, Central, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) were principally engaged in property
development, property investment, property management and
hotel operations in the mainland of the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC” or “Mainland China”) and Hong Kong.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”),
Mr. Lam Lung On and Ms. Kwok Ying Lan, both being directors
of the Company, are considered as the controlling shareholders
of the Company.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:

e MBmRRMEE

31 December 2024 2024 12H31H

NEIKREBEEN
BEMNEBRERBRAR (TARAF) R
HEREFMMINEBEREETAR  HE
MTRERBBEXZMABRAR (TEEH
RFT1) EMR LT o A RQ B HY SIS R (L
72 Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands EFB X B E £ /U5
EBPREFKEBFRIIFHIRF L5818
5801-02%F o

FRNARBREWB LT HHEIEEER))
TERPEARAMBEARE (THE) M
BARE)) REBREMERE YEKE
MEEEURBIEER-

ZRBIERE (TEF) BB T RTEEMK
RREZAERBEBULEIRBAREREER
BRER

A Z Bk
x@aIgWEQEZ%%WT:

Nominal value of

Place of incorporation/

Equity interest

Registration and issued and paid-up/ attributable to the
Company name operations registered capital Company Principal activities
SEMARIL G R BETREMERS
AGEA TR AMBRAEE  AAREMGEREE TEEH
Direct Indirect
B &

Xiamen Yaozhou Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ¥(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB134,200,000 - 100%  Property development
BrENEHERERRAR () FE/ FEARE AR #134,200,0007T MERE

Xiamen Yuzhou Commercial Management Co., Ltd. #(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB4,652,050 - 91%  Property management
EFSNEEERERAE () FE/REARE AE#%4,652,0507T MEERE

Xiamen Diyuan Bonded Storage and Distribution Co., Ltd.*(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 S 100%  Property development
BB TRREERRAE" () FE/ FEARE AE#20,000,0007T e

Xiamen Kim International Realty Development Co., Ltd. #(Note) PRC/Mainland China US$113,600,000 - 100%  Property development
ErEEREZRRERAD () FE R AR 118,600,000% 7T MERE

Xiamen Richville Development Co., Ltd. #(Note) PRC/Mainland China US$55,000,000 - 100%  Property development
EFEERMEREFRAR () FE/ FEARE 55,000,000 ¢ MERE

Xiamen Gangyi Real-Estate Co., Ltd. ¥(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB260,000,000 - 100%  Property development
EFIEREEERAF () FE/REARE AE#%260,000,0007T b

Xiamen Yuzhou Grand Future Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.*(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB1,500,000,000 S 100%  Property development
EFENEEHEREBRAR" (s FE/ R AR AR #1,500,000,0007T MR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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31 December 2024 20244 128331H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (Continued)

Place of incorporation/

1.

AEIREBREN @

MEBATZER @
EABDEIEMBATDZHENT | (8

Nominal value of

Equity interest

Registration and issued and paid-up/  attributable to the
Company name operations registered capital Company Principal activities
SRR, R R BRIRBRERE/
NGEL ] TEME HAEE AXREGER TEER
Direct Indirect
E# ifE3

Xiamen Skyplaz Realty & Development Co., Ltd.*(Note) PRC/Mainland China US$25,000,000 - 100%  Property development
BFIEREHEREERAD" () FE/ FEA R 25,000,000%7% MERE

Hefei Yuzhou Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. #(Note) PRC/Mainland China US$90,000,000 - 100%  Property development
aRSNEHERERRAR () B/ FEARE 90,000,000% 7% MERE

Xiamen Huagiao City Real Estate Co., Ltd. *(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 - 100%  Property development
BREGHEMERERRAR () FE/ FEA R K 20,000,0007¢ MR

Xiamen Yuzhou Group Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB116,064,000 S 100%  Property investment
BEFMENERRHERAE® () HE/ B AR AE#116,064,0007T MELE

Shanghai Kangtai Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB1,530,000,000 = 100%  Property investment
LERREHEREERAT (H) FE/ FEA R AE#1,530,000,0007¢ MERE

Shanghai Jinyue Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB196,070,000 - 100%  Property development
LEEBEHAEREERAR® () HE/ B AR AR 196,070,000 MR

Shanghai Yuzhou Real Estate Investment Co. Ltd. (Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - 90%  Property investment
LESNEHERERRATC () FE/ FEA R AE#100,000,0007T MERE

Shanghai Yanhai Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB48,450,000 S 90%  Property development
IERBRMERYELEEREEATC (Hh) FE/ FEARE R %48,450,0007¢ MR

Shanghai Liyade Property Investment Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB42,000,000 = 90%  Property investment
LBARGREBEXERAF® () FE/ FEA R AE#42,000,0007T MERE

Hefei Ludong Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB80,000,000 - 100%  Property development
BREREHEREERETAFC () B/ FEARE AE 80,000,000 MERE

Hefei Kangli Realty Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000,000 - 100%  Property development
ARTEEEEERAFC () FE/ FEARE AE#30,000,0007% MR

Xiamen Shunzhou Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. *(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB800,000,000 S 100%  Property development
BErGENEERETRAR® () HE/ B AR A #800,000,0007T MERE

Xiamen Yuzhou Seaview Property Development Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB300,000,000 - 84%  Property development
BSNERREHEERATC () FE/ FEA R A E#300,000,0007T MERE

Shanghai Yuzhou Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - 90%  Property development
LESNEHEREERARC (D) B/ FEARE AR 100,000,0007% MERE

Shanghai Nankai Realty Development Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB90,000,000 - 90%  Property development
LEmANBEERERATC (D) FE/ FEA R AE#90,000,0007% MR

Shanghai Kangyi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB48,714,300 S 90%  Property development
LEREEHERZEARATC (D) FE/ FEARE AR %48,714,3007T MR

Yuzhou Properties (Quanzhou) Co., Ltd. ®Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB460,000,000 - 65%  Property development
BHE (M) BRAT® () FE/ FEA R AR %460,000,0007T MERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REMBHRRME®

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (Continued)

Place of incorporation/

1.

PEIREBEN @

MEATZER @
FABTEMBAT ZHIEWT (@)

Nominal value of

Equity interest

31 December 2024 2024 12H31H

Registration and issued and paid-up/ attributable to the
Company name operations registered capital Company Principal activities
SRR, SRR BETRBERS/
ASEL TEME HMAEE AAREGER TEEE
Direct Indirect
B ifE3

Tianjin Yuzhou Jinhai Real Estate Investment Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 - 100%  Property development
XEBMNEBHEREBRATC () FE/ FEARE AE#200,000,0007% MERE

Longyan Yuzhou Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000,000 - 100%  Property development
REBNEHAERZEERAD® () FE/ B AR AR 500,000,000 MR

Anhui Shengtian Property Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB150,000,000 - 100%  Property development
ZHRREELERAFC (D) FE/ FEARE AE#150,000,0007T MR

Anhui Shenghe Property Co. Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB110,000,000 S 100%  Property development
ZHRMEFXERATC (3D FE/ FEARE AR #110,000,0007¢ MERE

Yuzhou Properties (Shanghai) Company Limited ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB600,000,000 - 90%  Property development
BMEZE (L8) BRAFC (zD) FE/ FEARE A #600,000,0007% MERE

Xiamen Yuzhou City Co., Ltd.*(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB1,680,000,000 - 100%  Property development
BrISMHEERAR" (f:D) FE/ B AR AR 1,680,000,0007T MR

Hefei Shunzhou Realty Co., Ltd.*(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB1,200,000,000 - 100%  Property development
alENEEERAR" (H:D) FE/ FEARE K #1,200,000,0007¢ MR

Fujian Big World Huaxia Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB1,120,000,000 S 100%  Property development
BREAURESEHERRRF® (D) FE/REARE AR #1,120,000,0007% b

Yuzhou Properties (Hefei) Eastern Town Co., Ltd.” PRC/Mainland China RMB1,800,000,000 - 65%  Property development

(“Hefei Eastern Town”) (Note)

BMEZ GR) REERAD (GERE) () FE/ FEARE A E#1,800,000,0007¢ MR

Nanjing Bozhou Real Estate Investment Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB1,880,000,000 - 100%  Property development
BARENEHERZEERATC (D) FE/REARE A E%1,880,000,0007¢ e

Shanghai Shunhong Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB150,000,000 - 78%  Property development
LERBEMEREERAT (H) FE/ FEARE AE#150,000,0007¢ MERE

Nanjing Xiangzhou Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB130,000,000 - 65%  Property development
BARANBHEREERAZ® () B/ FEARE AR 130,000,0007% MERE

Shanghai Zexiang Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB2,315,000,000 - 100%  Property development
LEENRMEREERARC () FE/ FEIARE AE#2,315,000,0007¢ MR

Hefei Xiangzhou Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 62%  Property development
AEMNEHEREFRATC (D) FE/REARE A E%10,000,0007¢ e

Fuzhou Zexiang Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ®*(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 - 43%  Property development
BNENEHEREERATS (WD) FE/HEARE AR %50,000,0007¢ bEL e

Hefei Bozhou Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB392,160,000 - 82%  Property development

aRENEHEREARAR®

hE,/hEARE

AR 392,160,0007¢

WERE
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31 December 2024 20244 128331H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (Continued)

Place of incorporation/

1.

AEIREBREN @

MEBATZER @
EABDEIEMBATDZHENT | (8

Nominal value of

Equity interest

Registration and issued and paid-up/  attributable to the
Company name operations registered capital Company Principal activities
SRR, R R BRETRERRE,/
NGEL ] TEME HAEE AXREGER TEER
Direct Indirect
B ifE3

Suzhou Yuzhou Xuanyi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Property development
HENB M EREREERATC () hE/HEARE R #50,000,0007¢ MR

Suzhou Shunhong Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000,000 - 51%  Property development

(“Suzhou Shunhong”) ®(Note)

BNFEREMEREERAD (MRS () FE/ PR A E#2,000,000,0007¢ b

Suzhou Yucheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ¢(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB15,000,000 - 66%  Property development
EMBREHERZEARATC (D) FE/ FEARE A E%15,000,0007¢ MR

Zhangzhou Yuzhou Yicheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ®"(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB8,000,000 - 33%  Property development
ENTENEREEREERAT () hE/HEARE AR 8,000,0007% MR

Wuhan Lankong Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB421,060,000 - 88%  Property development
REETEMERZERAF (D) FE/ FEARE AE#421,060,0007T MR

Zhoushan Rongdu Real Estate Co., Ltd. ®*(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 - 45%  Property development
RUSKBELERA (H:D) FE/REARE A #200,000,0007T MERE

Qingdao Yuhong Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ¢(Note) PRC/Mainland China US$120,000,000 - 100%  Property development
EERBRMEREERAR® () FE/ FEARE 120,000,000% 7T MERE

Shanghai Xuchen Real Estate Development Co., Ltd ®'(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 50%  Property development
LERREHERZEERAT (M) B/ FEA R A E#10,000,0007¢ MERE

Anhui Shunhong Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ®"(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - 50%  Property development
ZHFRBEMEREERAT (W) FE/ FEARE AE#100,000,0007T MR

Qingdao Bozhou Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China US$63,000,000 - 100%  Property development
BEERNEHERBERATC () FE/ PR 63,000,000% 7T b

Qingdao Ganjing Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China US$66,670,000 - 69%  Property development
ERuRRHEREERAR® () FE/ FEARE 66,670,000 7T MERE

Wuxi Runteng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ®'(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 - 50%  Property development
EHEREHEREERAT (W) B/ FEA R AR #20,000,0007¢ MERE

Foshan Fengying Dexin Real-Estate Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB52,040,816 - 51%  Property development
BUTERBEEXERAFC () FE/ FEARE AE#52,040,8167C MR

Nanjing Haoyi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ¢(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB710,000,000 - 100%  Property development
AREREHEREERATC () FE/ PR AR #710,000,0007% MR

Jiangsu Guangsheng Property Co., Ltd. ®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB312,000,000 - 100%  Property development
IBEABEERAR® () HE/ B AR AR #312,000,0007 WERE

Great Bonus Limited Hong Kong HKS$1 - 100%  Property development
HEERAT Bl BT MERE
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REMBHRRME®

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (Continued)

Place of incorporation/

1.

PEIREBEN @

MEATZER @
FABTEMBAT ZHIEWT (@)

Nominal value of

Equity interest

31 December 2024 2024 12H31H

Registration and issued and paid-up/ attributable to the
Company name operations registered capital Company Principal activities
SRR, SRR BETRBERS/
ASEL TEME HMAEE AAREGER TEEE
Direct Indirect
B ifE3
Jiangmen Maogian Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB1,024,000,000 S 100%  Property development
(“Jiangmen Maogjian”) ¢(Note)
IMREEHERERRAR (DIPRE))C () FE/ FEARE A E#1,024,000,0007¢ MR
Zhuhai Coastal Green Home Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB150,000,000 - 66.67%  Property development
(“Zhuhai Coastal’) ¢(Note)

KM ESERERMERERRAE (TRELE)® () FE/ FEARE AR ¥150,000,0007T MERE

Tangshan Zhuoyue Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.?(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB60,000,000 - 90%  Property development
BlLEBEtEREERAR () FE/ FEARE R #60,000,0007¢ MERE

Kaifeng Yuhe City Property Co., Ltd.%(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 - 54%  Property development
HHEARELERATC () FE/REARE AR %50,000,0007¢ MR

Beijing Yumao Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.®"(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB1,900,000,000 S 46%  Property development
TREXEHERZEERAT () FE/ R AR AR #1,900,000,0007T MR

Shanghai Yushunxiang Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.%(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Property development
LERRIEHEREERATC () FE/ FEARE AR #10,000,0007¢ MERE

Hefei Xulong Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB150,000,000 - 80%  Property development
ARmEEEREERARC () FE/ FEARE A #150,000,0007T MERE

Ningbo Yuxiang Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.?(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000,000 - 51%  Property development
ERSARMERBERAT () FE/REARE A E%1,000,000,0007¢ b

Heifei Tengyu Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 S 100%  Property development
BEEFRHEREFRATC (D) FE/ FEARE A E%10,000,0007¢ e

Shanghai Shunhao Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.®"(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 36%  Property development
LERERMEREERAT (5 FE/ FEARE AR #10,000,0007% MERE

Chongaing Xiangzhou Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.?(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 54%  Property development
EEONEHEREERARC () FE/ FEARE R #50,000,0007¢ MERE

Wuhan Yubo Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.?(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000,000 51%  Property development
RESERMERBERAT () FE/REARE K %1,000,000,0007¢ b

Suzhou Fengxiang Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 100%  Property development
FNEAEMEREERAT () FE R AR AR 200,000,000 MR

Shanghai Yibo Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000,000 100%  Property development
LEEERMEREERAT () FE/ FEARE AR 500,000,000 MERE

Xinxiang Jiean Property Co., Ltd.?"(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB82,000,000 33%  Property development
MARZEELERAF (M) FE/ FEIARE AR #82,000,0007¢ MERE

Xuzhou Zhifeng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.?(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB16,000,000 70%  Property development
BNTRERMEREERATC () FE/REARE AR %16,000,0007¢ b
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31 December 2024 20244 128331H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (Continued)

Place of incorporation/

1.

AEIREBREN @

B AT 2 E R @)

EABDEIEMBATDZHENT | (8

Nominal value of

Equity interest

Registration and issued and paid-up/  attributable to the
Company name operations registered capital Company Principal activities
SRR, R R BRIRBRERE/
NGEL ] TEME HAEE AXREGER TEER
Direct Indirect
E# ifE3
Foshan Shunde Meiyusheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 100%  Property development
BUTIREREREEMEREERAT () FE/ FEA R AR 1,000,0007¢ MERE
Shanghai Lanxiucheng Real Estate Co., Ltd.®(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB1,700,000,000 51%  Property development
LEERHELERAR® ([ HE/ B AR AR #1,700,000,0007T MR
Suzhou Runteng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.%(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB900,000,000 50%  Property development
FNBREMERRAFC () FE/ FEA R A #900,000,0007% MR
Chongaing Xiangze Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.%(Note) PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 100%  Property development
EEMERMEREARAF® (H) HE/ B AR AE#100,000,0007T MERE
E Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under the PRC law. " REFEEEAMAIEEERE.
g Registered as domestic limited liability companies under the PRC @ RENEEREAMBBEREREEAT
law.
* Registered as Sino-foreign equity entities under the PRC law. * RIBPEERIMABRIEEERE -

These companies of the Group are accounted for as subsidiaries
even though the Group holds less than majority of voting rights
in those companies based on factors explained in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Note: The English names of these companies represent the best effort

made by the management of the Company to directly translate their
Chinese names as they did not register any official English names.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

© BEARERESATREORSUBRM
FEERBE B RRMEIFRER SR
FAFABIIEHBAT o

Mz ARRE AR LRFMERMERKEX R
EHEXLELAABDEEERNIRAPXS

MEZEEMAL

PERNEERATEVEEE AN
HAREEESEIELHNERTNB
A o B R HF EL Y B 2 B 80 5 4
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The Group incurred a loss of RMB14,774,863,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2024 and, as of that date, the Group had
net current liabilities and net liabilities of RMB23,801,556,000
and RMB11,735,686,000 respectively and failed to pay off a
US$1,285,496,000 (equivalent to RMB9,143,333,000) senior
notes’ interests, unpaid interest-bearing bank borrowing
interest of US$24,482,000 (equivalent to RMB176,124,000)
and HK$47,325,000 (equivalent to RMB43,825,000) and
non-payment of senior notes with principal in total of
US$3,095,085,000 (equivalent to RMB22,014,377,000) as
well as non-payment of interest-bearing bank borrowings
with principal totaling US$179,583,000 (equivalent to
RMB1,291,926,000) and HK$206,162,000 (equivalent to
RMB190,914,000). Such non-payment of interest or overdue
principal have caused an event of default pursuant to the
terms and conditions of both the senior notes and interest-
bearing bank borrowing agreements. As a result, the respective
creditors have right to demand for immediate repayment on
the outstanding principal together with accrued interests. As at
31 December 2024, the Group has interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings, corporate bonds and senior notes with an
aggregate amount of RMB52,620,222,000, while available cash
and cash equivalent on hand was RMB1,119,141,000. This
condition indicates the existence of a material uncertainty which
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern.

Notwithstanding this fact, the Directors consider it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements
on a going concern basis as the Group is expected to have
sufficient financial resources to meet its obligation as they fall
due for the next fifteen months based on its projected cash
flow forecasts. The Directors have carried out a detailed review
of the cash flow projections of the Group covering a period
up to 31 March 2026, the Directors consider that the Group is
financially viable to continue as a going concern.

REMBHRRME®

31 December 2024 2024 12H31H

2y EE
KEBREE2024F12B31HLEEE
EEXBEARE14,774,863,0007T ° &
ZEZH AEKEEHEERBHEEFBEAR
#23,801,556,000c B EFEARE
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION (continued)

In view of the above, the Group is implementing a debt
restructuring plan, which includes the following plans and
measures, to enable the Group to have sufficient financial
resources to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall
due:

(@ The Company and members of the Ad Hoc Group (the
“AHG”), together with their respective advisors, have
been engaging in constructive dialogue for the purposes
of implementing a holistic restructuring of the Group’s
offshore indebtedness (the “Proposed Restructuring”)
through a scheme of arrangement (or parallel schemes
of arrangement) (the “Schemes”). Since 8 February 2024,
creditors representing approximately 93% of the Existing
Notes (the “Scheme Creditors”) have acceded to the
restructuring support agreement.

The Schemes were approved by the requisite statutory
majorities of Scheme Creditors in the meetings of the
Scheme Creditors on 16 September 2024. The Court of
First Instance of the High Court of Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region and the Grand Court of the Cayman
Islands respectively approved the Hong Kong Plan and
the Cayman Plan in September 2024, with the plan
effective date being 4 October 2024.

On 20 February 2025, the Company has obtained the
requisite support from the majority of Scheme Creditors,
and the final longstop date for the restructuring effective
date has been extended from the originally scheduled 28
February 2025 to 31 August 2025 to allow more time to
fulfill the remaining restructuring conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION (continued)

(@)  (Continued)

The Proposed Restructuring entails a significant
deleveraging of the Group’s offshore indebtedness, which
will enable the Company to achieve a sustainable capital
structure to cope with its business operations in the long
term, and de-risk the Group’s ongoing operations. The
Group will work with its financial and legal advisors to
execute the remaining implementation steps to give effect
to the Proposed Restructuring prior to the final longstop
date; and

(b)  Subject to the market conditions, the Group has been in
the process of implementing an asset disposal plan for
investment properties to generate additional cash inflows.
In addition, the Group has implemented cost control
measures and minimized capital expenditures to preserve
liquidity for on-going development of its existing property
development projects.

Accordingly, the Directors consider that, taking into account the
above-mentioned plans and measures and their progress, it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements
on a going concern basis as the Group is expected to cure
its default on payment of its debt and has sufficient financial
resources to meet its obligation as they fall due for at least the
next twelve months from the date of approval the consolidated
financial statements.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to the consolidated
financial statements to adjust the value of the Group’s assets to
their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities
which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets as
current assets and non-current liabilities as current liabilities.
The effects of these potential adjustments have not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
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31 December 2024 20244 128331H

3.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards (which include all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for investment properties and financial
instruments which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand (RMB’000) except
when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
refer to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-
controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and
recognises the fair value of any investment retained and any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards for the first time for the current year’s
financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current (the “2020 Amendments”)

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the 2022 Amendments”)

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

3.1

3.2
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3.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards are described below:

a. Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that
a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising
in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-
lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. Since the Group
has no sale and leaseback transactions with variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
occurring from the date of initial application of HKFRS 16,
the amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.

b. The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that a
right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled
in its own equity instruments, and that only if a conversion
option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as an
equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact
its classification.

The 2022 Amendments further clarify that, among
covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement,
only those with which an entity must comply on or before
the reporting date affect the classification of that liability
as current or non-current. Additional disclosures are
required for non-current liabilities that are subject to the
entity complying with future covenants within 12 months
after the reporting period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions of its
liabilities as at 1 January 2023 and 2024 and concluded
that the classification of its liabilities as current or non-
current remained unchanged upon initial application of the
amendments. Accordingly, the amendments did not have
any impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(o} Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and
require additional disclosure of such arrangements. The
disclosure requirements in the amendments are intended
to assist users of financial statements in understanding
the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s
liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. As
the Group does not have supplier finance arrangements,
the amendments did not have any impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

3.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRS Accounting Standards, that have been issued but are
not yet effective, in these financial statements. The Group
intends to apply these new and revised HKFRS Accounting
Standards, if applicable, when they become effective.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements®
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public

Accountability: Disclosures®
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the

and HKFRS 7 Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments?
Amendments to HKFRS 10  Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture*
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’

Annual Improvements Amendments to HKFRS 1,
to HKFRS Accounting HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9, HKFRS
Standards - Volume 11 10 and HKAS 7?2

o Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026

S Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for

adoption
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3.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 3.3 BEGEREAERNNEBIT

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Further information about those HKFRS Accounting Standards
that are expected to be applicable to the Group is described
below.

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. While a number of sections have been brought
forward from HKAS 1 with limited changes, HKFRS 18
introduces new requirements for presentation within the
statement of profit or loss, including specified totals and
subtotals. Entities are required to classify all income and
expenses within the statement of profit or loss into one of the
five categories: operating, investing, financing, income taxes
and discontinued operations and to present two new defined
subtotals. It also requires disclosures about management-
defined performance measures in a single note and introduces
enhanced requirements on the grouping (aggregation and
disaggregation) and the location of information in both the
primary financial statements and the notes. Some requirements
previously included in HKAS 1 are moved to HKAS 8
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and
Errors, which is renamed as HKAS 8 Basis of Preparation
of Financial Statements. As a consequence of the issuance
of HKFRS 18, limited, but widely applicable, amendments
are made to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS 33
Earnings per Share and HKAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting.
In addition, there are minor consequential amendments to
other HKFRS Accounting Standards. HKFRS 18 and the
consequential amendments to other HKFRS Accounting
Standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2027 with earlier application permitted. Retrospective
application is required. The Group is currently analysing the
new requirements and assessing the impact of HKFRS 18 on
the presentation and disclosure of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced
disclosure requirements while still applying the recognition,
measurement and presentation requirements in other HKFRS
Accounting Standards. To be eligible, at the end of the reporting
period, an entity must be a subsidiary as defined in HKFRS
10 Consolidated Financial Statements, cannot have public
accountability and must have a parent (ultimate or intermediate)
that prepares consolidated financial statements available for
public use which comply with HKFRS Accounting Standards.
Earlier application is permitted. As the Company is a listed
company, it is not eligible to elect to apply HKFRS 19. Some of
the Company’s subsidiaries are considering the application of
HKFRS 19 in their specified financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 clarify the date on
which a financial asset or financial liability is derecognised and
introduce an accounting policy option to derecognise a financial
liability that is settled through an electronic payment system
before the settlement date if specified criteria are met. The
amendments clarify how to assess the contractual cash flow
characteristics of financial assets with environmental, social and
governance and other similar contingent features. Moreover,
the amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
financial assets with non-recourse features and contractually
linked instruments. The amendments also include additional
disclosures for investments in equity instruments designated
at fair value through other comprehensive income and financial
instruments with contingent features. The amendments shall
be applied retrospectively with an adjustment to opening
retained profits (or other component of equity) at the initial
application date. Prior periods are not required to be restated
and can only be restated without the use of hindsight. Earlier
application of either all the amendments at the same time or
only the amendments related to the classification of financial
assets is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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3.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 3.3 BEGEREAERNNEBIT

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and
in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution
of assets constitutes a business. For a transaction involving
assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in
that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be
applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of
amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the
HKICPA. However, the amendments are available for adoption
now.

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency and
how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement
date when exchangeability is lacking. The amendments
require disclosures of information that enable users of financial
statements to understand the impact of a currency not being
exchangeable. Earlier application is permitted. When applying
the amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative
information. Any cumulative effect of initially applying the
amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained profits or to the cumulative amount
of translation differences accumulated in a separate component
of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards —
Volume 11 set out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7 (and the
accompanying Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7), HKFRS
9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7. Details of the amendments that are
expected to be applicable to the Group are as follows:

o HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The
amendments have updated certain wording in paragraph
B38 of HKFRS 7 and paragraphs 1G1, IG14 and IG20B
of the Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 for the
purpose of simplification or achieving consistency
with other paragraphs in the standard and/or with the
concepts and terminology used in other standards. In
addition, the amendments clarify that the Guidance on
implementing HKFRS 7 does not necessarily illustrate
all the requirements in the referenced paragraphs of
HKFRS 7 nor does it create additional requirements.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

° HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments clarify
that when a lessee has determined that a lease liability
has been extinguished in accordance with HKFRS 9, the
lessee is required to apply paragraph 3.3.3 of HKFRS 9
and recognise any resulting gain or loss in profit or loss. In
addition, the amendments have updated certain wording
in paragraph 5.1.3 of HKFRS 9 and Appendix A of HKFRS
9 to remove potential confusion. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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3.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

° HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The
amendments clarify that the relationship described in
paragraph B74 of HKFRS 10 is just one example of
various relationships that might exist between the investor
and other parties acting as de facto agents of the investor,
which removes the inconsistency with the requirement
in paragraph B73 of HKFRS 10. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

° HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments
replace the term “cost method” with “at cost” in
paragraph 37 of HKAS 7 following the prior deletion
of the definition of “cost method”. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

3.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights
and over which it has significant influence. Significant influence
is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the net assets of a joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are made
to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may
exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively. In
addition, when there has been a change recognised directly
in the equity of the associates or joint venture, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and
its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s investments in the associates and joint ventures,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included as part of
the Group’s investments in associates or joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted
for under the equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of
significant influence over the associate or joint control over the
joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant
influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained
investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or
loss.
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31 December 2024 20244 128331H

3.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of
non-controlling interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition
related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the
acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition
date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair
value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss or other comprehensive income, as appropriate.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over
the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If
the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than
the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition
date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured
based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.
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3.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.4 EXTFHEER @

(Continued)
Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and financial
assets at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in
the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence
of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly
or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for non-financial asset is required (other than
deferred tax assets, properties under development, properties
held for sale and investment properties), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the
higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use
and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets
or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount
is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.
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3.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.4 EXTFHEER @

(Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion
of the carrying amount of a corporate asset is allocated to
an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise to the smallest
group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in which it
arises in those expense categories consistent with the function
of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an
asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of
any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vi) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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31 December 2024 20244 128331H

3.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for
a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the
asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property,
plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the
Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific
useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual
rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Over the shorter of lease terms
and 20 years

Over the shorter of lease terms
and 5 years

Over the shorter of lease terms
and 20 years

Buildings

Leasehold improvements

Hotel properties

Furniture, fixtures and 2 to 5 years
office equipment

Motor vehicles 2 to 5 years

Yacht 20 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. It is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including right-of-use assets) held to earn rental income and/
or for capital appreciation. Such properties are measured
initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which
reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Property under construction or development for future use as an
investment property is classified as investment property under
construction. If the fair value cannot be reliably determined,
the investment property under construction will be measured
at cost until such time as fair value can be determined or
construction is completed.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the disposal of an investment property
are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in
the period of the disposal.

REMBHRRME®

31 December 2024 2024 12H31H

34 EXRGHEBERE @

ME BB R BEITE @

—EYE -MERRHEERE (BENTER
WEMERED) RHERHBRAHEARK
HEFABEERKREEN b &1 BHE
DRI ERIDEEFENFGEaRE
RHULERREZENEaRBEREEN
HEMSMEFRERTENER-

ERIRURABERNREBEIKAES
EE -ERTRAIHERR  ERIREE
MOBEBEEHHNYME -BERRE-

REWE

REMERFERIES WA R, HABMF
EABENN I REBFHNEDR (@%@%
REE) - ZEVENTUAE (BEFEX
PRA) St E NP HERE &ﬁ%%ﬁa&
RERBEIBERFTOTHERRNARE
HIER o

REBEREDEZEEXRETDED
EREEREYE-RWEZNEEELAR
B RERREYMESUNAHE EER
AEFIEENRREEER I AL

ANELEH F'aﬁE’Jﬁ?éT aﬁﬁ%%o

HEREMENENRENBERNHE
BREGEmRER -



144 Yuzhou Group Holdings Company Limited

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Ty g = |

SEMBHRRMEG@

31 December 2024 20244 128331H

3.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Investment properties (Continued)

When the Group completes the construction or development of
a self-constructed investment property, any difference between
the fair value of the property at the completion date and its
previous carrying amount is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

For a transfer from inventories to investment properties, any
difference between the fair value of the property at the date of
change in use and its then carrying amount is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties, the deemed cost of a property for subsequent
accounting is its fair value at the date of change in use.

If a property occupied by the Group as an owner occupied
property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts
for such property in accordance with the policy stated under
“Property, plant and equipment and depreciation” for owned
property up to the date of change in use, and any difference at
that date between the carrying amount and the fair value of the
property is accounted for as a revaluation in accordance with
HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases. The Group
recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-
use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

@

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of use assets are measured at
cost, less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the
amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Over the lease terms
Over the lease terms

Leasehold land
Hotel properties

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests in
leasehold land held as inventories, they are subsequently
measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value
in accordance with the Group’s policy for “inventories”.
When a right-of-use asset meets the definition of
investment property, it is included in investment
properties. The corresponding right-of-use asset is
initially measured at cost, and subsequently measured
at fair value, in accordance with the Group’s policy for
“investment properties”.
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3.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

®)

()

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise
price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate the lease. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g. a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change
in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of offices (that is those
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date). Lease payments on short-term
leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as
either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease term and is included in
revenue in the consolidated statement of profit or loss due to its
operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount
of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the
same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised
as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee, are
accounted for as finance leases.

Land held for property development for sale

The land held for property development for sale represents
parcels of land owned by the Group for the purpose of
development of properties for sale. The land is initially stated
at cost less any impairment losses and is not depreciated.
It is transferred to properties under development upon
commencement of the related construction work in the property
development project.
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3.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Properties under development

Properties under development are intended to be held for sale
after completion.

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost
comprising land costs, construction costs, borrowing costs,
professional fees and other costs directly attributable to such
properties incurred during the development period, and net
realisable value.

Properties under development are classified as current assets
unless those will not be realised in the normal operating cycle.
On completion, the properties are transferred to properties held
for sale.

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost of properties held for sale is determined by an
apportionment of total land and building costs attributable to
the unsold properties.

Net realisable value is determined by reference to the sale
proceeds of properties sold in the ordinary course of business,
less applicable variable selling expenses, or by management
estimates based on the prevailing market conditions.

Allocation of property development costs

Land costs are allocated to each unit according to their
respective saleable gross floor areas (“GFA”) to the total
saleable GFA. Construction costs relating to units were
identified and allocated specifically. Common construction costs
have been allocated according to the saleable GFA similar to
land costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, FVTPL and FVTOCI.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus in the
case of a financial asset not at FVTPL, transaction costs.
Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient are measured at the transaction price determined
under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI, it needs to give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on
the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash
flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at FVTPL,
irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured
at amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at
FVTOCI are held within a business model with the objective
of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.
Financial assets which are not held within the afore mentioned
business models are classified and measured at FVTPL.
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3.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

Purchase or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date,
that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the

assets.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

@

©®)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the
asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets designated at FVTOCI (equity instruments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at FVTOCI when they meet the definition of
equity under HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation
and are not held for trading. The classification is
determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss. Dividends are recognised as other income in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss when the right of
payment has been established, except when the Group
benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the
in which case, such gains
are recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity
investments designated at FVTOCI are not subject to
impairment assessment.

cost of the financial asset,
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

(©

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are carried in the statement of
financial position at fair value with net changes in fair value
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

This category includes equity investments which the
Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at FVTOCI.
Dividends on the equity investments are also recognised
as other income in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss when the right of payment has been established.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily

derecognised (i.e.,

removed from the Group’s consolidated

statement of financial position) when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired, or

the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either
(@) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.
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3.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of the
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all debt
instruments not held at FVTPL. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of
the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information. The Group
considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when internal
or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to
receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking
into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.
A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables and contract assets which apply the simplified
approach as detailed below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 1 -

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 2 -

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to

lifetime ECLs
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3.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at FVTPL, loans and borrowings, payables, or as
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables, other
payables and accruals, senior notes, corporate bonds and
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

@

®)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade payables, other
payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade payables, other payables,
senior notes, corporate bonds, and interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
those contracts that require a payment to be made to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the
specified debtor fails to make a payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A
financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a
liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL
allowance determined in accordance with the policy as set
out in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (ii) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative
amount of income recognised.
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3.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.4 EXTFHEER @

(Continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of
financial position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and
short-term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally
within three months that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value and held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at
banks, and short-term deposits as defined above, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

Senior perpetual securities

Senior perpetual securities with no contractual obligation to
repay the principal or to pay any distribution are classified as
part of equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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3.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.4 EXTFHEER @

(Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and
any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss
and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the
end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.
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3.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.4 EXTFHEER @

(Continued)
Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it
is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted
for the effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

@

Sales of properties

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the asset
is transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms
of the contract and the laws that apply to the contract,
control of the asset may transfer over time or at a point
in time. Control of the asset is transferred over time if the
Group’s performance:

. provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer; or

° creates and enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

. does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised
at a point in time when the customer obtains control of
the asset. The progress towards complete satisfaction
of the performance obligation is measured based on
the Group’s efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the
performance obligation, by reference to the construction
costs incurred up to the end of reporting period as a
percentage of total estimated costs for each contract.

For property development and sales contract for which
the control of the property is transferred at a point in
time, revenue is recognised when the customer obtains
the physical possession or the legal title of the completed
property and the Group has present right to payment and
the collection of the consideration is probable.
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3.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.4 EXTFHEER @

(Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(b)  Provision of property management services and hotel
services
Revenue from provision of property management services
and hotel services are recognised over the scheduled
period on a straight-line basis because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.

Other income
Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset.

Contract assets

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services
to a customer before being unconditionally entitled to the
consideration under the contract terms, a contract asset is
recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional.
Contract assets are subject to impairment assessment, details
of which are included in the accounting policies for impairment
of financial assets. They are reclassified to trade receivables
when the right to the consideration becomes unconditional.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or
a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before
the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or
services to the customer).

Contract costs

(a)

(b)

Costs to fulfil a contract

Other than the costs which are capitalised as properties
under development and property and equipment, costs
incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised
as an asset if all of the following criteria are met:

(i) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the entity can specifically
identify.

(i) The costs generate or enhance resources of the
entity that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing
to satisfy) performance obligations in the future.

(i) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a
systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to
the customer of the goods or services to which the asset
relates. Other contract costs are expensed as incurred.

Costs of obtaining contracts

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those
costs that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with
customer, it would not have incurred if the contract had
not been obtained, e.g., commission to sales equals
incremental costs of obtaining a contract are capitalised
when incurred if the costs relate to revenue which will
be recognised in a future reporting period and the costs
are expected to be recovered. Other costs of obtaining a
contract are expensed when incurred.
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3.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.4 EXTFHEER @

(Continued)
Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services in exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they
are granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer
using a binomial model, further details of which are given in note
34 to the consolidated financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to
which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. The charge or credit to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of
that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair
value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without
an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-
vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of
an award unless there are also service and/or performance
conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Share-based payments (Continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it
is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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3.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Other employee benefits

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage
of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries, joint ventures
and associates in Mainland China are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. The subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are
required to contribute certain percentages of their payroll costs
to the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

There is no forfeited contribution under the aforementioned
schemes available to reduce the contributions payable in
future years. As such, there is no issue of whether forfeited
contributions may be used by the Group to reduce the existing
level of contributions to these schemes.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period
in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest
and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Events after the reporting period

If the Group receives information after the reporting period, but
prior to the date of authorisation for issue, about conditions
that existed at the end of the reporting period, it will assess
whether the information affects the amounts that it recognises
in its consolidated financial statements. The Group will adjust
the amounts recognised in its consolidated financial statements
to reflect any adjusting events after the reporting period and
update the disclosures that relate to those conditions in light
of the new information. For non-adjusting events after the
reporting period, the Group will not change the amounts
recognised in its consolidated financial statements but will
disclose the nature of the non-adjusting events and an estimate
of their financial effects, or a statement that such an estimate
cannot be made, if applicable.

Dividends

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they have been
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Foreign currencies

The consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB.
The Company’s functional currency is Hong Kong dollars.
In the opinion of the directors, as the Group’s operations
are mainly in the PRC, the use of RMB as the presentation
currency is more appropriate for the presentation of the
Group’s results and financial position. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included in
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising from settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.
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3.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.4 EXTFHEER @

(Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item
(i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or
loss is recognised in consolidated statement of comprehensive
income or profit or loss is also recognised in consolidated
statement of profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If
there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of the Company and overseas
subsidiaries are currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end
of the reporting period, and their statements of profit or loss are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the differences are
attributable to non-controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

3.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of the Company and overseas subsidiaries are
translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of
the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of the Company
and overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures and the disclosure of contingent
liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates
could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements:

Consolidation of entities in which the Group holds less than
majority of voting rights

The Group considers that it controls its subsidiaries even
though it owns less than 50% of the voting rights. This is
because the Group is the single largest shareholders of those
subsidiaries. The Group has enough power to control the
appointment of directors of those subsidiaries which the Group
holds less than majority of voting rights of those subsidiaries.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on
its investment property portfolio. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the
arrangements, such as the lease term not constituting a major
part of the economic life of the commercial property and the
present value of the minimum lease payments not amounting
to substantially all the fair value of the commercial property,
that it retains substantially all the significant risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of these properties which are leased out
and accounts for the contracts as operating leases.

Classification between investment properties and owner-
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group
considers whether a property generates cash flows largely
independently of the other assets held by the Group.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation and another portion that is held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold
separately or leased out separately under a finance lease, the
Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions could
not be sold separately, the property is an investment property
only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes.

Judgement is made on an individual property basis to determine
whether ancillary services are so significant that a property does
not qualify as an investment property.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Classification between investment properties and
properties held for sale

The Group develops properties held for sale and properties
held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. Judgement
is made by management in determining whether a property is
designated as an investment property or a property held for
sale. The Group considers its intention of holding the properties
at the early development stage of the related properties.
During the course of construction, the related properties
under construction are accounted for as properties under
development included in current assets if the properties are
intended for sale after its completion, whereas, the properties
are accounted for as investment properties under construction
included in non-current assets if the properties are intended to
be held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation. Upon
completion of the properties, the properties developed for sale
are transferred to properties held for sale and are stated at cost,
while the properties developed to earn rentals and/or for capital
appreciation are transferred to investment properties and are
subject to revaluation at each reporting date.

Deferred tax on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred
tax assets arising from investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model, the Directors have reviewed the
Group’s investment property portfolio and concluded that the
Group’s investment properties are held under a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment properties over time,
rather than through sale. Therefore, in determining the Group’s
deferred tax on investment properties, the Directors have
determined that the presumption set out in HKAS 12 /ncome
Taxes that investment properties measured using the fair value
model are recovered through sale is rebutted.

Deferred tax assets on tax losses

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the
likely timing and the level of future taxable profits, together with
future tax planning strategies.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Deferred tax assets on tax losses (Continued)

The Group has tax losses of RMB18,841,228,000 (2023:
RMB12,208,652,000) carried forward. These losses related
to subsidiaries that have a history of losses, have not expired,
and may not be used to offset taxable income elsewhere in the
Group. The subsidiaries have neither any taxable temporary
difference nor any tax planning opportunities available that could
partly support the recognition of these losses as deferred tax
assets. On this basis, the Group has determined that it cannot
recognise deferred tax assets on the tax losses carried forward.

If the Group had been able to recognise all unrecognised
deferred tax assets, the profit and equity would have increased
by RMB4,710,307,000. Further details on deferred taxes are
disclosed in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2024 was nil
(2023: RMB 65,963,000), net of the accumulated impairment of
RMB65,963,000 (2023: Nil). Further details are given in note 17
to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimation of net realisable value of properties under
development and properties held for sale

Properties under development and properties held for sale are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost
of each unit in each phase of development is determined using
the weighted average method. The estimated net realisable
value is the estimated selling price less selling expenses and
the estimated cost of completion (if any), which are estimated
based on the best available information. The carrying amounts
of properties under development and properties held for sale
at 31 December 2024 were RMB18,112,748,000 (2023:
RMB29,607,234,000) and RMB13,037,581,000 (2023:
RMB15,734,875,000), respectively.

Valuation of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on the
valuations performed by independent qualified professional
valuers. In determining the fair values, the valuers have based
on a method of valuation which involves certain unobservable
inputs used in the valuations as set out in note 15. In relying
on the valuation report, the Directors have exercised their
judgements and are satisfied that the assumptions used in
the valuation are reflective of the current market conditions.
Changes to these assumptions would result in changes in
the fair values of the Group’s investment properties and the
corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain or loss
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The
carrying amount of investment properties at 31 December 2024
was RMB11,188,200,000 (2023: RMB12,339,900,000).

Allocation of construction cost on properties under
development

When developing properties, the Group typically divides the
development projects into phases. Costs directly related to
the development of a phase are recorded as the cost of such
phase. Costs that are common to each phase are allocated to
each phase based on the GFA of each phase as a percentage
of the total saleable GFA of the entire project. The cost of the
unit sold is determined by the floor area in square metre sold
during the year multiplied by the average cost per square metre
of that particular phase of the project. The carrying amount
of properties under development at 31 December 2024 was
RMB18,112,748,000 (2023: RMB29,607,234,000).

4.

REMBHRRME®

31 December 2024 2024 12H31H

# = n+#u ﬁﬁ&{E n'I' (&)

fhst FEEEAR & (@)

1R EBYERIFIEIE & BBy 2 09 o] &
HEE
EEVERFFEHERRNYELR A
HA BB FEMETNRBEEINR - RS
BRI S EEMM AT UMEFY
AEE -G JEZRFENLIEREMNER
FENGHENGASAEEBRBEERI &G
g TR A (WH) 720245128318 »
ERYERTFHERRNYWEZRT
BEHRAARME18,112,748,0005T (2023
£ ARM29,607,234,0007T) RAR
#13,037,581,0007C (20234F | AR
15,734,875,0007T) °

REYENEE
REMERBEBICERS XL EME
THHEERAABNER BEEAAEBER
HEAUIREETERNE TAYE
RMABE (BERME15) NEEEAE
EnE o NRBHEERSE BEEEH81T
ER P MEMEEFBBRRENRMIE
BhR ZERBNTMNESHIGREAL
EEBREMENAAG TEAHESER
RFTREZSBEHEREAE 12024
F12A81B REVENEEEAAR
#11,188,200,0007T (20234 : AR
12,339,900,0007T) °

EEMENBERE S 8

RRAEMES AEE—KRERHEFTEE
DR —EHRFTHANEZERARLE
EBZBNRAAR SHNEBRRAE
EENEEERGEEABEENTHER
EEBAHENEI DEBESH - EHE
R AZEFREHN A RKEEZ@DBERN
ZHBEENESFAARFHERAMERE P
2024F12A31B  ERWMEZREEAA
EE#£18,112,748,0007T (2023F 1 AR
29,607,234,0007T) ©



174 Yuzhou Group Holdings Company Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
HEUBHRRNE®

31 December 2024 20244 128331H

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimated provision for ECLs on other receivables and
financial guarantee contracts

The amounts of ECLs on other receivables and financial
guarantee contracts are calculated by management using an
internal credit rating model. The provision ratio is determined
on the creditworthiness and financial condition of each debtor,
while the historical default rate and the forward looking
data of the market environment were considered also. The
carrying amounts of other receivables and provision for
financial guarantee contracts at 31 December 2024 were
RMB21,460,265,000 (2023: RMB27,344,082,000) and
RMB2,219,453,000 (2023: RMB1,951,882,000) respectively.

Impairment of investments in joint ventures and associates
The Group determines whether investments in joint ventures
and associates are impaired by regularly reviewing whether
there are any indicators of impairment of the investments.
For investments where impairment indicators exist,
management estimated the recoverable amounts of the
investments, being higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use, which significant judgements are required.
The carrying amounts of investments in joint ventures and
associates at 31 December 2024 were RMB2,060,673,000
(2023: RMB2,373,722,000) and RMB4,847,499,000 (2023:
RMB5,509,165,000) respectively.

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”)

The Group is subject to CIT in the PRC. As a result of the fact
that certain matters relating to income taxes have not been
confirmed by the local tax bureau, objective estimates and
judgement based on currently enacted tax laws, regulations
and other related policies are required in determining the
provision for income taxes. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts originally recorded, the
differences will impact on the income tax and tax provisions in
the period in which the differences realise. The carrying amount
of corporate income tax payables at 31 December 2024 was
RMB1,979,475,000 (2023: RMB1,985,197,000).

SETHHE RS @
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

PRC Iand appreciation tax (“LAT”)

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The provision for LAT
is based on management’s best estimates according to its
understanding of the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC
tax laws and regulations. The actual LAT liabilities are subject to
the determination by the tax authorities upon the completion of
the property development projects. The Group has not finalised
its LAT calculation and payments with the tax authorities for
certain property development projects. The final outcome could
be different from the amounts that were initially recorded, and
any differences will have impact on the land appreciation tax
expense and the related provision in the period in which the
differences realise. The carrying amount of provision for land
appreciation tax at 31 December 2024 was RMB1,330,573,000
(2023: RMB1,547,433,000).

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has
five reportable operating segments as follows:

(@) the property development segment engages in the
development and sale of properties;

(b)  the property investment segment invests in properties
for their rental income potential and/or for capital
appreciation;

(c) the property management segment engages in the
provision of property management services;

(d)  the hotel operation segment engages in the operation of
hotels; and

(e) the others segment comprises corporate income and
expense items.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resources allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment (loss)/profit, which is a measure of adjusted (loss)/profit
before tax. The adjusted (loss)/profit before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s (loss)/profit before tax except
that interest income and finance costs are excluded from such
measurement. Segment assets and liabilities are not reported to
the Group’s chief operating decision maker regularly.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference
to the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the
then prevailing market prices.

4.

REMBHRRME®

31 December 2024 2024 12H31H
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'%'ﬁ

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. KEFWEX @
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2024 i F2024F12H31HILFE
Property Property Property Hotel
development investment management operation Others Total
MERE MERE MEEE B RE Heth Fak ]
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARETR AR%Tr ARETE ARETR ARET®
Segment revenue SERA
Sales to external customers  ESMNBEAELNHEE 9,226,399 221,458 267,304 1,103 - 9,716,264
Other income and gains Hitt A K& 32,077 842 303 - 343 33,565
Total ek 9,258,476 222,300 267,607 1,103 343 9,749,829
Segment results PEET | (0683,443)  (1,081,431) 90,057 (346) (51,250)  (10,726,422)
Reconciliation: Bk
Interest income FISWA 30,525
Finance costs MEMA (3,964,401)
Loss before tax M AR (14,660,298)
Other segment information: ~ E 9 H&EH :
Depreciation nE 33,352 26,318 2,125 1,262 301 63,358
Capital expenditure” BEXRY 358 1,162 310 - - 1,830
Fair value loss on investment ~ BREMEAAEFE
properties, net BB - 1,048,026 - - - 1,048,026
Fair value loss on properties ~ #JZER-NALE
revaluation 5] 197,766 - - - - 197,766
Impairment on property, plant 1% BE K&kt
and equipment BE 61,940 - - - - 61,940
Impairment of goodwil BERE 65,963 - - - - 65,963
Impairment of investments in joint ;& & A8 REE A
ventures and associates REZHE 114,316 - - - - 114,316
Impairment of other receivables ~ ELft1EW BRI E 1,584,411 - - - - 1,584,411
Remeasurement of financial B ENBER
guarantee contracts &% 233,831 - - - - 233,831
Share of profits of joint ventures FETS BEATER (477,928) - - - - (477,928)
Share of losses of associates  [E{EEEE AT 396,965 - - - - 396,965
Write-down of properties held — #BISESHEBRH
for sale and properties MERTENES
under development to EREEFE
net realisable value 6,612,235 - - - - 6,612,235
Investments in joint ventures ~ REEATRE 2,060,673 - - - - 2,060,673
Investments in associates REERARRE 4,847,499 - - - - 4,847,499

*

equipment and investment properties.

Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and

* EXRAXBEFENE BERREURRKRE

Y/ EL
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REMBHRRME®

31 December 2024 2024 12H31H

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. KENHEN @
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2023 #H F2023F12H31HILLFE
Property Property Property Hotel
development investment  management operation Others Total
MERE MERE MEERE BEEE =0y |
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT  ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETx ARETR
Segment revenue SERA
Sales to external customers  [AMPEFEHMNEETR 20,996,450 239,344 231,509 9,780 - 21477,083
Other income and gains HEtl AR & 254,066 29,558 227 33 95 283,979
Total ek 21,250,516 268,902 231,736 9,813 95 21,761,062
Segment results Ve (7428135 (2,925,730) 10,419 3447 (96,079)  (10,436,078)
Reconciliation: Bk
Interest income FIEWA 67,068
Finance costs MERK (3,862,323)
Loss before tax BRiRAIEE (14,231,333)
Other segment information: ~ E 9 HEH :
Depreciation nE 28,428 27,307 2,258 4 317 58,351
Capital expenditure® BARRY 3,720 536 65 26 - 4,347
Fair valug loss on investment ~ REWEAAERE
properties, net ] - 3,033,881 = = = 3,033,881
Impairment of goodwil HERE 205,110 - - - - 205,110
Impairment of investments in joint R & & A G RBE AT
ventures and associates REZRE 93,456 - - - - 93,456
Impairment of other receivables ~ ELft FEWT B R & 1,603,056 - - - - 1,603,056
Remeasurement of financial BN ENBRREEN
guarantee contracts 179,609 - - - - 179,609
Share of profits of joint ventures  FE{E A& AT ER (294,057) - - - - (294,057)
Share of losses of associates  FE{GEEE A E)E51E 105,278 - - - - 105,278
Write-down of properties held ~ H#UBIF{ESEE BRK
for sale and properties MERTEMERE
under development to EREETE
net realisable value 4,548,883 = = = = 4,548,883
Investments in joint ventures ~ REEATRE 2,373,722 - - - = 2,373,722
Investments in associates REEARRE 5,509,165 - - - 5,509,165

* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant

and equipment and investment properties.

. EARXBERABENE BERREUARERE
EX
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e

SMBHRRME @

31 December 2024 20244 128331H

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about a major customer

There were no sales to a single external customer which
amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s revenue during the
year ended 31 December 2023 and 2024.

Geographical information

Geographical information is not presented since over 90% of
the Group’s revenue from external customers is generated in
Mainland China and over 90% of the segment assets of the
Group are located in Mainland China. Accordingly, in the opinion
of the Directors, the presentation of geographical information
would provide no additional useful information to the users of
these financial statements.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

An analysis of the Group’s revenue, other income and gains is
as follows:

5.

REDLEF @

FEEREH

RE E20283F K2024F12B31HIEEE»
MEEE B EANIHEREINHBA
REBERANT0% o

i E

RN AEBEBIO%MINEERKAREF
Bl AFEE 0% DB & E MU PEK
BE w25 MIEER - At EER
A 2IMBENRTATEHNZFUHRE
NERERHEIERANER -

HE A ~ EAth i A B Uk =

A& E AU A~ E MR R R w59 53 4 40
T

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT AER®FT

Revenue from contracts with customers EEESAMA 9,494,806 21,237,739
Revenue from other sources H 5B AIHEA

Rental income from investment properties B E&EYEZFHEWA 221,458 239,344

Total 485t 9,716,264 21,477,083
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Revenue from contracts with customers

(i) Disaggregated revenue information
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

REMBHRRME®

31 December 2024 2024 12H31H

WA~ Efth i A B U & )

EREHEA

i) WAZHFEH

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE2024F12A31HILLEE
Property Property Hotel
development management operation Total
ek MEERE SR st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Types of goods or services My IRELER
Sale of properties MEIHE 9,226,399 - - 9,226,399
Property management fee income ~ #ESEEIRA - 267,304 - 267,304
Hotel operation income B IE A A - - 1,103 1,103
Total st 9,226,399 267,304 1,103 9,494,806
Timing of revenue recognition W A BB ES
Goods transferred at a point in time ~ RE—RHREELER 9,226,399 - - 9,226,399
Services transferred over time R—EBREERRE - 267,304 1,103 268,407
Total st 9,226,309 267,304 1,103 9,494,806
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31 December 2024 20244 128331H

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6. WA -~HMARWE @
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers BEEREHWA @

(Continued)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) () WAZIFER (B)

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H F2023F 128310 LLEE
Property Property Hotel
development management operation Total

MERE MEERE BEEE Mt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR

Types of goods or services Ao REER

Sale of properties MEHE 20,996,450 = = 20,996,450
Property management fee income ~ ¥EEEEIWA - 231,509 - 231,509
Hotel operation income BEEEUA - - 9,780 9,780
Total st 20,996,450 231,509 9,780 21,237,739

Timing of revenue recognition AR

Goods transferred at a point in time = NE—BHERE R 20,996,450 - - 20,996,450
Services transferred over time R — R R AR = 231,509 9,780 241,289
Total 1t 20,996,450 231,509 9,780 21,237,739
The following table shows the amounts of revenue THREHFABZRSHVELEEMR
recognised in the current reporting period that were AREIAEERNIMASE !

included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the
reporting period:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE TR ARBTT

Revenue recognised that was included st AREHIF SN EERN
in contract liabilities at the beginning BRI A :
of the reporting period:
Sales of properties YIEIHE 8,131,752 17,595,327
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(ii)

Performance obligations
Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sales of properties

For property sales contract for which the control of the
property is transferred at a point in time, the performance
obligation is satisfied when the physical possession or the
legal title of the completed property is obtained by the
purchaser.

The Group receives 15%-100% of the contract value
from customers when they sign the sale and purchase
agreement (for the customers who use mortgage loans
provided by the banks, the remaining amount of the total
contract value will be paid to the Group by the banks
once the customers meet the requirements of the banks)
while construction work of the subject properties is still
ongoing. These advance payment of 15%-100% of the
contract value from customers will be recognised as a
contract liabilities throughout the property construction
period until revenue from property sales is recognised.

At 31 December 2024, the amount of transaction prices
allocated to the remaining performance obligations
(unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) which are expected to
be recognised as revenue is RMB6,720,411,000 (2023:
RMB14,148,453,000).

Property management and hotel operation services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and short-term advances are
normally required before rendering the services. Property
management and hotel operation services are for periods
of one year or less, and are billed based on the time
incurred. The Group has elected the practical expedient
not to disclose the remaining performance obligations for
these types of contracts which is permitted under HKFRS
15.

REMBHRRME®

31 December 2024 2024 12H31H

6. UXA -~ Hfthix A B Uz o

ZERSHA @
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31 December 2024 20244 128331H

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6. WA -~HMARWE @
(Continued)

Other income and gains H g A R Wk z
An analysis of the Group’s other income and gains is as follows: AEBEHMBWARKZEN DU T -
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARFT ARMEFTT
Bank interest income RITFEWA 30,525 67,068
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, HEWB AR FEE
net (note 39) (M5E£39) 1,597 205,530
Gain on disposal of joint ventures HESERRAKEE QTN
and associates, net W m=FEE 11,813 =
Others Hith 20,155 78,449
Total other income and gains E WA R U 48 58 64,090 351,047
7. FINANCE COSTS 7. MEMRE
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: MEREANDHAOT -
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARHEFTT

Interest on interest-bearing bank and other s+ B R1T R EMEE

borrowings, corporate bonds and senior NEEFRELEEZEENFE

notes 4,301,215 4,370,122
Less: Interest capitalised BRI E (336,814) (507,799)

Total wast 3,964,401 3,862,323
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31 December 2024 2024 12H31H

LOSS BEFORE TAX 8. MR¥RAEIEIE
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging: AEBNKFRRAIBEDRINEUTRIER
By
2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Iz AREBTT AREBTT
Cost of properties sold BEMERK 9,375,435 20,820,587
Cost of services provided FriR AR TS 2 A 164,890 288,660
Depreciation ¥rEe 14 63,358 58,351
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, net* & i B A 5 Uk & 5 28* 39 (1,597) (205,530)
Impairment on property, plant and YERE R ERE"
equipment* 14 61,940 -
Loss on properties revaluation* MBS HEE 197,766 =
Impairment of goodwill* EESRCAEN 17 65,963 205,110
Lease payments not included in the KRt AREEEFTEN
measurement of lease liabilities HBENM® 39,522 46,499
Auditor’s remuneration 12 B4 Bm e BA 3,500 8,000
Employee benefit expense (including EBE®AN X H (BEEEK
directors’ and chief executive BERTEFHFM GF:F9)) :
officer’s remuneration (note 9)):
Wages and salaries TERFE 123,361 207,030
Equity-settled share option expense UG4S FEIERERS 3,164 6,920
Retirement benefit scheme RIREAE B
contributions 18,877 27,825
Less: amount capitalised B BR{EEER (19,384) (55,525)
126,018 186,250
Direct operating expenses BEHEREMEELEN
(including repairs and maintenance) EZ&EE S E (BIEM#E
arising on rental-earning Kt &)
investment properties 20,362 22,223

These items are included in “Other expenses” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

# This item is included in “Other income and gains” in the consolidated
statement of profit and loss.

- ZEEBEFA

BaRATEMAR -

‘ ZEBFAGGIRERATEMBARIKRE]
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31 December 2024 20244 128331H

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 9. EEREERNITEFHM
OFFICER’S REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive officer’'s remuneration for the year, AREEEEKREBEATEHFNREE LHR
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1) (a), (b), B~ FBRBERFFE383(1)(a)~ (b)~ (c) A (f)
(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 BRhAB (RBESFDER) ROIF28IF
of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of BUT

Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARMEFTT
Fees ke 2,302 2,562
Other emoluments: Hi = -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RBMEREYRET 2,320 2,442
Equity-settled share option expense MEREEERERS 811 1,339
Pension scheme contributions BRE ST 172 174
Bonus 1E4T 143 163
Subtotal /et 3,446 4,118
Total 4Est 5,748 6,680
In prior year, certain directors and the chief executive officer RBFEE REAQBIERESZ - &TF
were granted options, in respect of their services to the Group, EENAEEITEARSEOREEEMR
under the share option scheme of the Company, further details [REMERBERE BRAE—THEBEHN
of which are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial HEVBERERNEF4 ZEEREE NS
statements. The fair value of such options, which has been BHREFEEaRxNER EAREDLR
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss over EHBBHEE SFAXFERBTEEFEEN
the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant and MHEBRERNEBIHEA LM EEREFEHR
the amounts included in the financial statements for the current TEBFBNRE-
and prior years are included in the above directors’ and chief
executive officer’s remuneration disclosures.
During the financial year, no amounts were paid by the Group to R BEE AEEBERTALEIES K
any of the highest paid individuals who are not a director of the NEEENESHEEXNRBEAMNA
Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or AEBFAMAZENREBNEALBERS

an compensation for loss of office. =
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31 December 2024 2024F12H531H

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 9. EEREEHITEHMN @
OFFICER’S REMUNERATION (Continued)
The remuneration of each of the directors and the chief BEEREENTENFMEINOT

executive officer is set out below:

Salaries, Equity-settled Retirement

allowances and  share option benefit scheme Total

Fees benefits in kind expense  contributions Bonus  remuneration
A1 MRGEEH RIKAER

ik RENER BRERX EEIEE 4 e e

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT  ARWFR  ARETR  ARBFR  AREBFR  ARBTR

2024 20245
Executive directors: WiTES:
Ms. Kwok Ying Lan® B [ - 1,756 357 6 - 2,178
Mr. Lin Conghui MEBLE - 564 97 37 143 841
Subtotal it - 2,320 454 102 143 3,019
Non-executive director: FHTESE:
Mr. Lam Lung On MEEREE 1,756 - 357 70 - 2,183
Mr. Song Jiajun REGBLE - - - - - -
Subtotal INgt 1,756 - 357 70 - 2,183
Independent non-executive directors: B FFHTES :
Mr. Lam Kwong Siu HEKEE 182 - - - - 182
Mr. Wee Henny Soon Chiang BEREE 182 - - - - 182
Mr. Yu Shangyou FhksE 182 - - - - 182
Subtotal N 546 - - - - 546
Total W5t 2,302 2,320 811 172 143 5,748
2023 2023
Executive directors: RTES!
Ms. Kwok Ying Lan® FEEKL - 1,749 589 69 - 2,407
M. Lin Conghui HEBEE - 693 161 % 163 1,053
Subtotal gt - 2,442 750 105 163 3,460
Non-executive director: FunES:
Ms. Xie Mei #i§U L (1R2023F
(resigned on 31 March 2023) 3B31HET) - - - - - -
Mr. Lam Lung On MEERLE 2,019 - 589 69 = 2,677
Mr. Song Jiajun REBELE (R2023F
(appointed on 31 March 2023) 3B31HEZA) - - - - - -
Subtotal 15 2,019 - 589 69 - 2,677
Independent non-executive directors: B FER{TEE
Mr. Lam Kwong Siu HEREE 181 - - - - 181
Mr. Wee Henny Soon Chiang BEREE 181 = = = = 181
Mr. Yu Shangyou FHk%ksE 181 - - - - 181
Subtotal NGt 543 - - - - 543
Total st 2,562 2,442 1,339 174 163 6,680
* Ms. Kwok Ying Lan is also the chief executive officer of the : FEBML LN ARABZEERITE

Company.
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EMBHRRME®

31 December 2024 20244 128331H

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 9.
OFFICER’S REMUNERATION (Continued)

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
executive officer waived or agreed to waive any remuneration

during the year.

RER MEEFHEFERT
EREEMAFMA L -

EEREENTEFM®

EBREXE

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. FEEHES
The five highest paid employees during the year included two RER IS ReHEEEEMS (2023
(2023: two) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out F MR EF ZEESFENHFNEBEERN
in note 9 above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining EXHIEE SR N =% (202345 1 =4) EE
three (2023: three) non-directors, highest paid employees for ERoMEENEEFMNEBWT -
the year are as follows:
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTT AR®BFT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R ARBYEFN 5,062 5,347
Pension scheme contributions BREEIAIHR 101 98
Bonus 1E4T 508 631
Total st 5,671 6,076

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following

bands is as follows:

Number of employees

% EJH)/T?L"F@J%EIE’J?Fi%&iFEF%ﬂﬁ
HESABNMT

EEAH
2024 2023
HKD 1,000,001 to HKD 1,500,000 751,000,001 75 E A #81,500,0007T 2 =
HKD 1,500,001 to HKD 2,000,000 781,500,001 7% £ A& #52,000,00070 - 2
HKD 3,500,001 to HKD 4,000,000 713,500,001 75 & % 184,000,0007T 1 1
Total 4Bt 3 3
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FEMBHRRMNE®

31 December 2024 2024 12H31H

11. INCOME TAX

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made for the
current year as the Group has no assessable profits arising in

11. FR1G#M

Hong Kong during the year (2023: Nil). The income tax for the

subsidiaries operating in Mainland China is calculated at the
applicable tax rates on the taxable profits for the year.

An analysis of the income tax charge for the year is as follows:

e 7 7 2 B 4 O 4 0 OB 2 4 TR R LR
B E R A EERE AN GBI LB
(2023% : ) - RREAREENIEA
51 B9 F 19 10 AR 8 4 P 60 AR T R0 42 0 A
GESIR

FEERMBRZXHIDHWT

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREF T
Current: BUER
PRC corporate income tax E T 2EFTER
— Charge for the year —REFEEZH 86,260 199,195
— (Over)/under provision in prior years —AEEE (BREEH)
BELE (40,087) 14,983
PRC land appreciation tax (note 31) R I E R (F5E81) 125,388 368,846
171,561 583,024
Deferred: IRIE :
Current year KEE (56,996) (504,947)
Total tax charge for the year KEEMRBEZ HIEEE 114,565 78,077




188

Yuzhou Group Holdings Company Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

'%’ﬁ

MEBERRIE@®

31 December 2024 20244 128331H

. INCOME TAX (Continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax
using the statutory rate for Mainland China in which the majority
of the Group’s subsidiaries are domiciled and/or operate to the

11. FRIE1R @

RAAEEBABIMBATMER, K
KENPEAENEZEREXABBERN G
MATAMBNMERSEAFERBERZH

12.

tax expense for the year, are as follows: HENT !
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BTFT AR®BFT
Loss before tax PRI AIRET 1B (14,660,298) (14,231,333)
Tax charge at the statutory income tax rate A EFT BRIt EWRIE
sz (3,665,075) (3,557,833)
Adjustments in respect of current tax U AT RA R BV AR R TE Y S 2
of previous periods (40,087) 14,983
Profits and losses attributable to BE AR RBEABEGER
joint ventures and associates (20,241) (47,195)
Income not subject to tax BERR WA (22) (123)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR 2,087,805 1,703,035
Tax losses not recognised REERIRIEEE 1,658,144 1,688,576
LAT provided BEEHR T tILER 125,388 368,846
Tax effect on LAT THIEERNRE L (31,347) (92,212)
Tax charge RIEESZ 114,565 78,077

The share of tax expense attributable to joint ventures
amounting to RMB347,294,000 (2023: RMB238,200,000) is
included in “Share of profits and losses of joint ventures” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. The share of tax credit
attributable to associates amounting to RMB1,604,000 (2023:
tax expense of RMB5,058,000) is included in “Share of profits
and losses of associates” in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors did not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

EERBREERIBEMYZ A ARKS347,294,000
7t (20234 : AR %238,200,0007t) * B &t
ANFEBEERZ EBLEEGEATEEI Tk

HHE AR REBEIERA ARYE1,604,0007T

(2023%F : RIERZ AR 15,058,0007T) B

SFAGREHET R EEHERATRm IR

535

BEENRBRMEBE20245 K%2023F12831
HIEFEIRGRARE

12.
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13. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount for the year
ended 31 December 2024 is based on the loss for the year
attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent, adjusted for
the distribution related to senior perpetual securities, and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares of 6,543,909,500
(20283: 6,543,909,500) in issue less the weighted average
number of shares of 10,324,504 (2023: 10,324,504) held under
the share award scheme during the year.

The calculation of the diluted loss per share amount is based
on the loss attributable to ordinary equity holders, adjusted
for the distribution related to senior perpetual securities, and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the
calculation is the total of (i) the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue less the weighted average number of
shares held under the share award scheme during the year,
as used in the basic loss per share calculation, and (i) the
weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed to have
been issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise of
all dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares (see
below).

REMBHRRME®

31 December 2024 2024 12H31H

13. BAFRIEREHIFAARGE

HE2024F12H31HIEFENSRER
BEEEEITRBADEREG A AR
EERNEE (ERBESHRKELZSBRH
HARELEABE) RFREFTEZER
I 986,543,909,5008% (20234 :
6,543,909,5008%) 1R #& B (7 SZ Bh =t EI P
R N T 198010,324,5040% (20234 :
10,324,50408) 5t & -

SREFERSHANREBREFEARE
HEE EREASRXEZSAMNDIK
EHARE) st 8 > Mt BFAANEERME
THEAOWARGESREXHBIENERN
BRITEERME TR RER O ZE
TR RO MEFTHH B K(i)R
RINFIEREBEENZERBREKRFEET
ERERRFEUEETAETHNEER
METFHHE RN (RT3 -
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31 December 2024 20244 128331H

13. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE

PARENT (Continued)

The calculations of the basic and diluted loss per share are

13. AR EERERHEARLE
ZES 18 @

BREARBEGIENFELER !

based on:
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTT AR®BFT
Loss E518
Loss attributable to owners of the parent BRBHEE AEMLEE (11,966,840) (10,520,568)
Distribution related to senior perpetual BRI SMRKEZ SN
securities (265,928) (263,318)
Loss used in the basic and diluted loss REAR RIS ERBIEETA
per share calculations K18 (12,232,768) (10,783,886)

Number of shares
nEs
2024 2023

Shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue less the weighted average number
of shares held under the share award

scheme during the year, used in
the basic loss per share calculation

Bz 15

FABHTEERZMETS
BURIR R AR (0 2B 5t BIFR 15
R MEFHIE - BREtE
BREARBIR

6,533,584,996 6,5633,584,996

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue during the year, used in the diluted

loss per share calculation

FACBHTEERZMETS
B AR ESREEBRE

6,533,584,996 6,5633,584,996
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

4R e MR R M T @

31 December 2024 2024F12H531H

14. YE B EK=H

Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures
land and Hotel Leasehold and office Motor
buildings properties Yacht improvements equipment vehicles Total
gL HENE Hi%ER
RIgF BENE it ®E WAERE HE gt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEBTR AERETRT ARBTn ARETx ARETR ARETR  ARETR
31 December 2024 2024%12A318
At 1 January 2024 202451818
Cost A 2,296,725 457,709 109,007 15,071 96,805 61,791 3,037,108
Accumulated depreciation Ritie (265,307) (86,372) (51,405) (15,071) (85,635) (58,370) (562,160)
Net carrying amount RRIE 2,031,418 371,337 57,602 - 11,170 3,421 2,474,948
At 1 January 2024, net of #2024E181R
accumulated depreciation NBRRETE 2,031,418 371,337 57,602 - 11,170 3,421 2,474,948
Additions RE - - - - 668 - 668
Disposals %E (110,861) = 5 = (1,425) 5 (112,286)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 39) L& B/AE) (Hz£39) - - - - (6) (20) (26)
Depreciation provided FREHRNTE
during the year 46,340) (8,744) (5,482) = 2,101) (691) (63,358)
Transfer to investment properties  BRERENE (13,500) (139,600) - - - - (153,100)
Surplus on revaluation upon transfer EEERENE %K
to investment properties BB - 42,408 - - - - 42,408
Deficit on revaluation upon transfer BRERENLEE
to investment properties RT3 (30,852) - - - - - (30,852)
Impairment HAE (61,940) - - - - - (61,940)
Exchange realignment ERHAE 9,223 - 1,172 - 14 - 10,409
At 31 December 2024, net of #2024 128318 »
accumulated depreciation IREHTERAE
and impairment 1,777,148 265,401 53,292 - 8,320 2,710 2,106,871
At 31 December 2024: 120245128318 :
Cost A 2,129,556 334,005 111,391 15,204 95,993 61726 2,747,965
Accumulated depreciation RFERAE
and impairment (352,408) (68,604) (58,009) (15,204) (87,673) (59,016) (641,004)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,777,148 265,401 53,292 - 8,320 2,710 2,106,871
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31 December 2024 20244 128331H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. ME - -BERRE @

(Continued)
Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures
land and Hotel Leasehold and office Motor
buildings properties Yacht  improvements equipment vehicles Total
RELH HENE  GREER
RigF BEME g £ WAERE AE izt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTR AREFT AREFR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
31 December 2023 2023%128318
At 1 January 2023 #2023F181H
Cost B 2,580,156 457,709 107,453 14,925 101,159 64,712 3,326,114
Accumulated depreciation RitE (228,911) (79,828) (45,300 (12,923) (85,134) 50,685) (511,781)
Net carrying amount REFE 2,351,245 377,881 62,153 2,002 16,025 5,027 2,814,333
At 1 January 2023, net of acoumulated 1220231818
depreciation NREHAE 2,351,245 377,881 62,153 2002 16,025 5027 2,814,333
Acquisition of subsidiaries through FRERAHKERBAT
business combination (note 38) (Hi3%38) - - = 44 S 44
Additions RE 3,717 - - - 94 - 3,811
Disposals EE (2,339) - - (379) (244) (2,962)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 39) HEMBAF (H339) - = = = (4 (31 (35)
Depreciation provided during the year £ REHRMHE (37,554) (6,544) (6,105) (2,147) (4,670) (1,331) (58,351)
Transfer to properties held for sale BRERFHERRONE (290,976) - - - - - (290,976)
Exchange realignment ERBE 7,325 - 1,554 145 60 - 9,084
At 31 December 2023, net of #2023 128318
accumulated depreciation MBREHNE 2,031,418 371,337 57,602 - 11,170 3421 2,474,948
At 31 December 2023: 2023128318
Cost B 2,296,725 457,709 109,007 15,071 96,805 61,791 3,037,108
Accumulated depreciation BitiE (265,307) (86,372) (51,405) (15,071) (85,635 (58,370) (562,160)
Net carrying amount REFE 2,031,418 371,337 57,602 - 11,170 3,421 2,474,948

At 31 December 2024, right-of-use assets with aggregate
carrying amount of approximately RMB252,996,000
(2023: RMB273,267,000) and RMB215,829,000 (20283:
RMB290,361,000) were included in leasehold land and buildings
and hotel properties, respectively, and the depreciation charged
to profit or loss in the current year was RMB25,240,000 (2023:
RMB26,190,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
transferred certain owner-occupied buildings and hotel
properties to investment properties as the Group changed the
uses of above assets for the rental purpose.

R2024%F12A31H  REAELEBENAR
252,996,000t (20234 | AR
273,267,0007t) M AR #215,829,0007T
(20234 : AR #¥290,361,0007t) BI1E
AHEEESRFARE LI M EBFUR
BEWME RAEERBRIOBNITES
AR #25,240,0007T (20234F 1 AR
26,190,0007T) °

REE2024F12831BLEEE ~EEE
BETEABTFABEVEZEREYE
DRAEEG LA EERRERAHER
;ggo
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

The above buildings were revalued individually at the end of the
reporting period by Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and
Advisory Limited (“JLL"), an independent professionally qualified
valuer, at an aggregate fair value of RMB153,100,000 on the
transferred date. A revaluation surplus of RMB42,408,000 and
revaluation deficits amounting to RMB30,852,000, resulting
from the valuations, have been credited to the consolidated
statement of other comprehensive income and charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, respectively.

As at December 31 2024, the Group performed an impairment
assessment on its self-owned building. The recoverable amount
of the asset was measured at fair value less costs of disposal,
with the fair value determined using the direct comparison
method by reference to recent comparable market transaction
data, which are positively correlated with market unit sales
rates. As the recoverable amount was lower than its carrying
amount, an impairment loss of RMB61,940,000 (2023: Nil) was
recognised for the year. The impairment loss recognised was
included in “Other expenses” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

REMBHRRME®

31 December 2024 2024 12H31H

14. ME - -BERZE @

FREFHRBIFEXSER G EMHE K
ThETERAEHNERRT (THEHT))
RBREHRBNEREAANAABEEA
R #153,100,0007T {8 53 E &4 - W& E T
EENEMLERKARE42,408,0000 R E
AL AR 130,852,000 B 2 Bl 5 A 4R
BHMEEWRERKBFREEEERINEG-

R2024F12831H  AEBHBEERETFE
TRESH BENTKREBSEEALE
BEERAAE AAEKLSEZHMEBALL
MBEXZ 8% (EMBEAHE X2 MIEHE
f) BEREBELEREZET AR TRE S
EERHERE WFNBEIREBEA
R #61,940,0007T (20234 : ) - UMW
BEBEAGEERRATHMBES -
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

15. KEYE

Under
Completed construction Total
BT TE Mzt
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
i AREBTT AREBTT ARETT
Carrying amount at 1 January 2023 20231 B1HMIREE 14,527,746 971,873 15,499,619
Additions wE 536 - 536
Disposal BE (85,100) - (85,100)
Transfer to properties held for sale BREESEHERRNYE (59,367) = (59,367)
Exchange realignment ERAE 18,093 - 18,093
Net losses from fair value adjustments ‘A 7 BB 512358 (2,648,508) (385,373) (3,033,881)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2023 220235128310 &
and 1 January 2024 202441 B1 A WEEE 11,753,400 586,500 12,339,900
Additions NE 1,162 - 1,162
Transfer from properties held for sale & BIFIEHERRNYE 22 102,800 = 102,800
Transfer from property, plant and BREENE BERRE
equipment 14 158,100 - 158,100
Transfer to properties under HEREEEYE
development 21 = (194,136) (194,136)
Transfer to properties held for sale BREESEHERERNYE 22 (186,657) = (186,657)
Exchange realignment ERAE 20,057 - 20,057
Net losses from fair value adjustments ‘A # BB 512348 (1,002,462) (45,564) (1,048,026)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2024  7£2024%128531H M IREE 10,841,400 346,800 11,188,200
Notes: P -
(a) At 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s investment properties (a) R2024F12B31H AEBETRAELES

with an aggregate carrying amount of RMB6,226,600,000 (2023:
RMB6,970,000,000) were pledged to banks to secure the bank loans
granted to the Group (note 28(a)(ii)).

(b) The Group’s completed investment properties are leased to third
parties, further summary details of which are included in note 16.

AR #6,226,600,0007T (20234 : AR
6,970,000,0007T) M EMEBDIKIFFIRITIE
AHAEBRERRITERNIER (5E28()() ©

() FAEBENBERIRENELETHE=15"E8F
BEEF BN M EE160
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c)

The Group’s completed investment properties and investment
properties under construction were revalued on 31 December 2024
and 2023 by JLL, an independent professional qualified valuer.

For completed investment properties, valuations were either based
on the capitalisation of net rental income derived from the existing
leases and/or achievable in the existing market with due allowance
for the reversionary income potential of the properties, or made
with reference to comparable market transactions taking into
considerations of adjustments to reflect differences in transaction
timing, location and tenure.

For investment properties under construction which were stated at
fair value at the end of the reporting period, valuations were based
on the cost approach and have taken into account the land cost,
construction costs, overhead cost and the project profit margin.

In the opinion of the Directors, for all investment properties that
are measured at fair value, the current use of the properties is their
highest and best use.

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, all of the investment properties
were measured at fair value.

Fair value hierarchy

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the fair value measurement of all
of the Group’s investment properties used significant unobservable
inputs (Level 3) as defined in HKFRS 13.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 (quoted prices in active markets) and Level 2
(significant observable inputs) and no transfers into or out of Level 3
(2023: Nil).

REMBHRRME®

31 December 2024 2024 12H31H

15. REME @

M 5E -

()

€))

FAEENECBIRENERTERREYES
BUSXESERGEEMPEBHITIN2024F K
2023F12831HE M

MEBRIREVEMS  HEENREEHEER
FRTHHEUERNEASWAFEERE I
BESAERERTERROBA  R2ET
BHERTERF LEBRARRRZEB U
BERBEHNERMIEL 2B

HRREPRUAAEIRNEEREYE
HEMNREESELE R LR A BER
T BEAERREEFEEK

EEIH ERAAGHENFEREYVEM
SOREVENRERRAERSUERER

R2024F K%20235FE 128318 i B R B %Y
BAnEtE-

NREER

R2024F K%20235E 128310 A EBMABERE
MENAAEDRBIIETREENEEH AR
(B34 (EEREBUBHRSERSE135%) st

g

ER AABESFBEERFIR GOIBRTHH
WE) BEof IRENIZHARE) [
EEB FEEANEHE3MR (20235 1 F) ©
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c) (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

15. REYME @

MisE @ ()

Descriptions of valuation techniques used and key inputs to valuation

(c)

(&)

ARERER (&)

HREVMEGEERANGER EREIEBARK

on investment properties: HERAA -
Significant
Valuation techniques  unobservable inputs Range or weighted average Sensitivity
&ER% ETRZNTERALE EHENMETY HRE
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
Completed and under
construction
BAIRER
Retails, offices, hotels, Income approach Estimated annual rental 292-33,600 329-18,000 A significant increase/(decrease) in estimated

residentials and
apartments
SEVPHAEBIE
FERLE
WAE

Market approach

5%

Cost approach

A%

value/sq.m.(RMB)

LT AKRERSE
BE (AR¥D)

Capitalisation rate

EESIES

Unit price (RMB/sg.m.)

BEARERT/TAR

Unit price (RMB/sg.m.)

BEARERT/TAR

3.2%-5.5%

9,000-405,000

2,800-3,300

2.9%-6%

10,000-602,000

3,600-4,100

annual rental value per square metre
would result in significant increase/
(decrease) in fair value.

EHETHRERSBEABEN/ (B
EOAREXRIEM/ (HD)

A significant increase/(decrease) in the
capitalisation rate would result in
significant decrease/(increase) in fair
value.

BXCERREM/ (B)) 8L RAAEBAR
AL/ (g o

A significant increase/(decrease) in unit
price per square metre would result in
significant increase/(decrease) in fair
value.

STHKEEAREM/ (B GLRAAE
REEm/ A) o

A significant increase/(decrease) in unit
price per square metre would result in
significant increase/(decrease) in fair
value.

STHKEEAREM/ (B GLAAE
REEm/ AL) o
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c) (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

(&)

() (&)

15. REME @

M 5E -

ARERER ()

Significant
Valuation techniques  unobservable inputs Range or weighted average Sensitivity
&ER* FTRENTZRARE BEHMETS HRE
2024 2023
20245 20235
Land comparable sales 206,900 246,900 A significant increase/(decrease) in land
value (RMB'000) comparable sales value would result
in significant increase/(decrease) in fair
value.
THEIEHEEE THE L HEEEAREN (B)) 892
ARETD SEXBEM/ (B
Construction costs 108,900 266,900 A significant increase/(decrease) in
incurred (RMB'000) construction costs incurred would result
in significant increase/(decrease) in fair
value.
EENBRERA EENBRAAARIEN/ (B BLA%R
ARETD EREEM,/ (FD) o
Estimated project profits 18,246 44,295 A significant increase/(decrease) in estimated
(RMB'000) project profits would result in significant
increase/(decrease) in fair value.
EEtEEF A EHEEFIBABEN,/ (B)) §SARME
(N=LS ) AU,/ (AD) o
Car parking spaces Income approach Estimated annual rental 1,440-11,400 1,200-11,400 A significant increase/(decrease) in estimated
value/unit (RMB) annual rental value per unit would result
in significant increase/(decrease) in fair
value.
FES5 WAE HHEEUFHEER hEt S BNERSBEAREM,/ (A
N=L0) SAREXBREM (FD) o

Market approach

iR

The valuation of certain retails, offices, hotels,

Capitalisation rate 2.5%-3.5%

EESIES

Unit price (RMB/unit) 75,000-3,800,000
BB AR%T/ B

residentials,

apartments and car parking spaces were determined based on unit
prices of comparable transactions with adjustment on dissimilar

attributes.

2.5%-3.5%

90,000-3,851,000

ETZE

E o

SHAES
BREDEABLERR

A significant increase/(decrease) in the
capitalisation rate would result in
significant decrease/(increase) in fair
value.

EARLEAREM (AL &
B/ (gm) o

A significant increase/(decrease) in unit
price per unit would result in significant
increase/(decrease) in fair value.

SEABEAREN/ (B)) §LAREX
B1gm,/ (ab) o

LAREKE

BE-REE - ABREES
SEBRARIEBEE
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31 December 2024 20244 128331H

16. LEASES
The Group as lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 15) under
operating lease arrangements. The terms of the leases
generally also require the tenants to pay security deposits
and to provide for periodic rent adjustments according to the
then prevailing market conditions. Rental income recognised
by the Group during the year was RMB221,458,000 (2023:
RMB239,344,000), details of which are included in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.

At 31 December 2024, the undiscounted lease payments
receivables by the Group in future periods under non
cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

16. A&

FEBEAHEA

FEERBEECEHEZHHBEREYF
(PF5E15) - ZFEHEEHER—RIFEREK
BAZMREBZLEREZFOTHERRE
ARAEEAE - AEERFERNESINES I
A& ANEE221,458,0007T (2023%F : AR
#239,344,0007T)  BERFBEHNGESH
BIRRMI5E6 -

R2024F 128310 HEA~ERRIBEEH
A RECEHAENEW AR
ENZHOTF

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AR¥EFT

Within one year —FRN 221,829 254,839
After one year but within two years —FEREMEAN 158,827 192,942
After two years but within three years MEBREB=FRN 96,187 135,256
After three years but within four years —FBENFRN 67,410 75,482
After four years but within five years MEBREBREFERN 48,460 43,818
After five years LFE 128,110 128,756

720,823 831,093
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17. GOODWILL 17. B8
RMB’000
ARETIT
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of accumulated impairment 7220231818 Z M4 > IR R sHiEE 65,963
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 38) WiE—mEHE AR (fizEss) 205,110
Impairment during the year FRRE (205,110)
At 31 December 2023 72023%F12H31H 65,963

At 31 December 2023: 2023F12H31H .
Cost BN 1,443,640
Accumulated impairment REtRE (1,377,677)
Net carrying amount REFE 65,963
Cost at 1 January 2024, net of accumulated impairment 72202451810 Z A4~ > B RetRE 65,963
Impairment during the year FRRE (65,963)
At 31 December 2024 K20245%12831H =

At 31 December 2024: R2024%F12831H
Cost %N 1,443,640
Accumulated impairment RETRE (1,443,640)
Net carrying amount REEE -
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17. GOODWILL (Continued) 17. B2 ®)

Impairment testing of goodwill

The Group’s goodwill acquired through business combinations
in the prior years were allocated to cash generating units
(“CGU”) for the property development segment, which were
principally engaged in the property development in the PRC, for
impairment testing. The recoverable amounts of the CGU of the
property development segment were determined based on a
value in-use calculation using a cash flow projections based on
a financial budget covering a one-year period to five-year period
approved by management and cash flow beyond the five-year
period was extrapolated using a growth rate of 2.50% (2023:
3.00%). The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections
is 8.00% (2023: 6.00%).

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation of the
abovementioned property development segment’s CGU for
31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023. The following
describes each key assumption on which management had
based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing
of goodwill:

Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and reflects
specific risks relating to the relevant units.

Business environment — There was no major change in the
existing political, legal and economic conditions in the PRC in
which the cash-generating units carried on their business.

The management is of the view that the valuation techniques
and estimates have taken into account the impact of the
deteriorated market environment. The recoverable amount
of the property development segment’s CGU assessed at
31 December 2024 was less than its carrying value due
to underperforming, as the result, the Group recognised
impairment of RMB65,963,000 (2023: RMB205,110,000) in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss during the year.

AR B

HBETREIR ZXEERBTEEEB
EBAHRBEZAECDREEWERE Y
H(EFERTEAREYWERSE) 2REESE
BA(TREELBNM) - WEBREHIR
SELBAZAKODESENDERBRER
EEN (UEEBHAZMHEE (1548
E5FEH) AEEMER) HENEREBEE
EMBHsEHMNEBES e #EH2.50%
(2023% : 3.00%) Wi R ETHE - IBE R
SEAMANITIREA8.00% (2023%F
6.00%) o

AE LAY ERESBZREELEEUR
2024%F12H31H K%2023FE12831HZfF
FEBEERRR - TXHMLEEEFAR
HEREETEEREBENAMKENS
BEFERK:

HHEEX-FARTREXABFRA R KR8 R
BN ERE-

EHEEE-ReEEBUNREBFEN
B IR BOA kR R AT IR 1 3
REAZH-

EEERA HERERMGEFEEEE
MBRIEJ[ENEE - R2024F12831
HEGNOMEREDSREcELEEMDN
AWElSEARBENEMENLEREE
At FRAAEBERGEEIRER
AR ¥65,963,0007T (20234F : AR
205,110,0007%) AR (& ©
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18. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 18. REEARINKRE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TFT ARBFT
Share of net assets EEEEFE 2,470,061 2,776,523
Impairment losses VR EYSE=] (409,388) (402,801)
2,060,673 2,373,722
Notes: FHEE -
The Group’s other receivable balances due from joint ventures and other NEEEWEENBINEMERNBEERRENSESE
payable balances due to joint ventures are disclosed in note 23 and 27 to NEIMNEMELRIBEGDIFBER GRS FRERW
the consolidated financial statements, respectively. 28827 ©
Particulars of the Group’s material joint ventures are as follows: AEFRBAGEARANFBENT

Percentage of

THEEMEAESL
Registered and  Places of registration Voting  Ownership Profit
Company name paid-up capital and business right interest sharing  Principal activities
ARAHE HAMRSRES ERREEME RE# FAEE#EZ  AESML  TERES
Hefei Jinjiu Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. ®* (Note) RMB200,000,000  PRC/Mainland China 40% 40% 40%  Property development
AREREHEREFRAF (M) AR200,000,0007t  FE/HEAE MERE
Hefei Ruiyuan Real Estate Co., Ltd.®* (Note) RMB1,000,000,000 PRC/Mainland China 40% 40% 40%  Property development
aRHEEEERAT (D) AR 1,000,000,0007c FE,/HEAE MR
Chongaing Tongrong Industrial Co., Ltd.®* (Note) RMB700,000,000  PRC/Mainland China 49% 49% 49%  Property development
BEEERBEXARAT () AR¥700,000,0007t  HE/HEAE MERE
Tangshan Gaowu Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd.®* (Note) RMB100,000,000  PRC/Mainland China 51% 51% 51%  Property development

BELUEREHMERZEERAR () AR100,000,0007t  FE,/HEAE MR
All the above joint ventures are indirectly held by the Company and are not A AE ARMERAABEEETE AldEHMA
audited by Prism Hong Kong Limited. EESMEBBRAREZ-
e Registered as domestic limited liability companies under the PRC e RIBEPEAEIMAEARNBRET QS

law.
* These companies are accounted for as joint ventures at the * RIBFASERKARME ZE AN

respective period end date as in accordance with the memorandum FEEHARIEEERE  ZEAANEEY

and articles of the companies, major financial and operating policies BRECEHEAERBEE AR

of these companies require the unanimous consent of all directors.

The English names of these entities represent the best effort made by the HRZEARTRFMEMERN BRI FILHEZE
management of the Company to directly translate their Chinese names as NELBOHARABBEBENREPXLBERZEIEN

they did not register any official English names. % ©
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18. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 18. MEEATINKRE @)

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

The Group assessed at the end of the reporting period whether there was
any indication that investments in joint ventures may be impaired. The
Group assessed the recoverable amount of the joint ventures and led to
the recognition of an impairment of RMB29,506,000 (2023: RMB6,910,000)
during the year.

The Group has discontinued the recognition of its share of losses of certain
joint ventures because the share of losses of these joint ventures exceeded
the Group’s interest in the joint ventures and the Group has no obligation
to take up further losses. The amounts of the Group’s unrecognised share
of losses of these joint ventures for the current year and cumulatively were
RMB34,629,000 (2023: RMB103,180,000) and RMB137,809,000 (2023:
RMB103,180,000), respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, Tangshan Gaowu Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. (“Tangshan Gaowu”), which is considered material
joint venture of the Group, a strategic partner of the Group engaged in the
manufacture of property development and is accounted for using the equity
method. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s joint ventures
were not individually material. Accordingly, no separate financial information
of this joint venture has been disclosed.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information in
respect of Tangshan Gaowu adjusted for any differences in accounting
policies and reconciled to the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements:

AERARREHEARRILESEEABRER
REEATRERNAECRE -FA AEETGERE
N B R BT Uy [B] & BE I B SRR B A R #529,506,0007T
(2023 : AE6,910,0007T) °

AEEECREBIBDHETEAERINER BRRE
ENEZREAERATINBEBEINAEERZEESE
NEMER MAEBRTESEREE—FFHEIB A
ERAFERERHEABIBDEZESERABEN
LD A A AR34,629,0007T (20234F | AR
103,180,0007T) & A R #137,809,0007T (20234 : A
FR1£103,180,0007%) ©

REE2024F12B31HIEFE ElLEBERMERE
ERAE (BLUBE) WRAXEENEAGEA
) AREBRUESYEMENRIESEBRN LEHRAE
FHIEAE - NEE2023F 12831 HILEEE  LEALE
EEEARENBEE - AL THEBEZSE QT
B IB L A RS E Rl o

TRITHMESTHRNERNZERFHBERT HESH
BRRAZEEEETHRZBELUSEZMBER
22

Tangshan Gaowu

BELsE

2024

RMB’000

ARETw

Current assets REEE 2,606,651

Non-current assets EREEE 19

Current liabilities REaE (675,807)

Non-current liabilities ERENEE (1,150,000)

Net assets BEEFEE 780,863
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in the associate: AEBRBEE QTR ZHIR

Proportion of the Group’s ownership AEBMABE#EZ LA 51%

Carrying amount of the investment KEREE 398,240

Revenue WA 3,364,081

Profit for the year FEEFHE 830,991

Total comprehensive income for the year FESENGELE 830,991
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31 December 2024 2024F12H531H

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of the

18. REEATINEKE @)

MisE @ ()

TRITAEBGEQRTDNEBUFEL  BESE

Group’s joint ventures that are not individually material: NEWAREK :
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARSTT AR#ETT
Share of the joint ventures’ profit for the year PMEEERAFEEFNH 54,123 294,057
Share of the joint ventures’ total comprehensive DMEGERTLE N L EE
income 54,123 294,057
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s FEEBREE AT ZKREN
investments in the joint ventures EREARE 1,662,433 2,373,722
Certain of the bank and other borrowings of the Group’s joint ventures are AEBESENTINETHEIREMESRUAERRS

secured by pledges over the Group’s equity interests in the joint ventures
and the subsidiaries with an aggregate carrying amount at the end of the
reporting period of approximately RMB25,500,000 (2023: RMB33,500,000).

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

ENRIRENBABSINKRENREHAARNERAEELN
AR #25,500,0007T (20234 : AR #33,500,0007T)

TEIRIR

19. NEIE AT E

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ART T
Share of net assets LB EFE 5,030,549 5,607,405
Impairment losses AR (183,050) (98,240)
4,847,499 5,509,165

Notes: f5E <

(a) The Group’s other receivable balances due from associates and other
payable balances due to associates are disclosed in note 23 and
note 27 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

(a)  AEERIEUWEE R E R E M EURIEE R R
EAEEABNEMENRBERD NGRS
A SR AR P 523 K MY 5E27 PO e B o
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19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(o)

Particulars of the Group’s material associates are as follows:

19. MEEATINRE @)

MisE o ()

(b)

FEBERBEABNFBNOT ¢

Percentage of

Registered and Places of registration Ownership
Company name paid-up capital and business interest  Principal activities
FE1LFRA 1
AT HMRHREEES ERRSEHE HEERE FEBEH
Shanghai Fumao Real-Estate RMB1,700,000,000 PRC/Mainland China 49%  Property development
Co., Ltd. (Note)
EERXEXBRAR (M) AER¥1,700,000,0007c  HE,/HEIARE ek
Changzhou Guangyu Real Estate RMB855,000,000 PRC/Mainland China 49%  Property development
Development Co., Ltd. (Note)
BNAHREHEREBFRAF (D) AR 855,000,000t  E]FEIARE L/ELik
Tianjin Harmonious Home Construction RMB2,101,000,000 PRC/Mainland China 30%  Property development
and Development Co., Ltd. (Note)
FEMHREERFREARAD ()  AREM2,101,000,0007t B,/ FEARE ek
Yangzhou Meizan Real Estate RMB2,691,603,200 PRC/Mainland China 30%  Property development

Development Co., Ltd (Note)
BNTEERMEZERERAR
(H¥33)

AR 12,691,603,20070

P EARE

The Group’s shareholdings in the associates all comprise equity

shares held by the wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company.

Note: The English names of these entities represent the best
effort made by the management of the Company to directly
translate their Chinese names as they did not register any

official English names.

The Group assessed at the end of the reporting period whether there (c)

was any indication that investments in associates may be impaired.
The Group assessed the recoverable amount of the associates and
led to the recognition of an impairment of RMB84,810,000 (2023:

RMB86,546,000) during the year.

The Group has discontinued the recognition of its share of losses of (d)

certain associates because the share of losses of these associates
exceeded the Group’s interest in the associates and the Group has
no obligation to take up further losses. The amounts of the Group’s
unrecognised share of losses of these associates for the current year
and cumulatively were RMB42,890,000 (2023: RMB88,992,000) and
RMB131,882,000 (2023: RMB88,992,000), respectively.

tE Lk

FEERBERATNREDEERAABDLEN
BRBAFKANRE-

Mzt : ARNZERABWRFMERNEXEXH
AL ARTDEEESR
NRBEPXLIEERBEMA -

FEERBENEERBFERSATATR
BRRBMEARNKRAANEDRE FN > A&
(3 5 1 S g 0 A B B9 T Ui [ < BB 0 B SRR (B A
R #584,810,0007T (20234 : AR #86,546,000
7o) °

HRAEEELETHE AR ZGIEBBER
ZEMEQNTAZEG BEAEERTEEH AT
E—P R MAEEDRIEEIHEGZS
BEABZER AEBRAEERGZEH
EARNABAEERRASEINBAR
#42,890,0007 (20234 : AR #88,992,000
7o) B AR #131,882,0007T (20234 : AR
88,992,0007T) °
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Notes: (Continued)

(e)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, Yangzhou Meizan Real
Estate Development Co., Ltd (“Yangzhou Meizan”) (2023: Yangzhou
Meizan), which is considered material associate of the Group,
a strategic partner of the Group engaged in the manufacture of
property development and is accounted for using the equity method.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information
in respect of Yangzhou Meizan adjusted for any differences in

19.

REMBHRRME®

31 December 2024 2024 12H31H

REERTNKRE @

MisE @ ()

(e) REE2024F12831B EEE  BINTHEER
MEZRERAT (HBNEZ)) (2023F .
MEHE) WRAXEBNEAMEAT) BA
EENREMEMBNRIESEBRE UERE
AN

TR B RO E R E R EEE T A
REVBREAZEREEETHRZBMNEYE

accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount in the ZHBERE
consolidated financial statements:
Yangzhou Yangzhou
Meizan Meizan
BEMEE BMNEE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARSTT ARKEFT
Current assets MENEE 4,071,561 4,630,655
Non-current assets ERIMEE 37,097 45,248
Current liabilities mENaE (1,571,345) (1,759,169)
Non-current liabilities ElE =N (236,562) (505,268)
Net assets BESFE 2,300,751 2,411,466
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest REBPHE R Eam 2 HR
in the associate:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership NEBMAIA#EZ LG 30% 30%
Carrying amount of the investment KEREE 690,225 723,440
Revenue WA 472,032 1,500,725
Loss for the year EEEE (110,715) (133,845)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEREEIRLLEE (110,715) (133,845)
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19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 19. MEEATINRE @)

Notes: (Continued) MisE @ (48
0] The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of (f) TRIIRAEEHSAINERMBEER > &8
the Group’s associates that are not individually material: S AT AEKX
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T AR¥EFT
Share of the associates’ loss for the year DMEBEABEEEE (363,750) (65,124)
Share of the associates’ total comprehensive D5t & A B 2 HE KB 4828
loss (363,750) (65,124)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s REERBMENB ZRENKRERE
investments in the associates 4,157,274 4,785,725
(9) Certain of the bank and other borrowings of the Group’s associates (9) KEBBEADINAETRITREMERUE
are secured by pledges over the Group’s equity interests in the EERBMEATNRE RNRSHANVREDAE
associates with an aggregate carrying amount at the end of the EAR1,692,581,0007¢ (20234 : AR
reporting period of RMB1,692,581,000 (2023: RMB1,025,100,000). 1,025,100,00077) ) YE3E 4 o
20. LAND HELD FOR PROPERTY 20. FIFMERZBHERRN L
DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AR®BFT
Carrying amount at beginning of year FYREE 1,624,455 3,026,266
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 39) HE—RB AR (HzE39) - (1,401,811)
Carrying amount at end of year FRIEEE 1,624,455 1,624,455
Portion classified as current assets NEAREENIED (1,624,455) (1,624,455)

Non-current assets ERBEE - S
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21. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 21. T &M
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TFT ARBFT
Properties under development expected to  FEBHEF H & &= B HEAR L T K
be completed within normal operating DEANBEENTTRYE
cycle and classified as current assets FEERRS T HB R AUk (o] -
are expected to be recoverable:
Within one year —FR 7,505,672 15,885,539
After one year —F% 10,607,076 13,721,695
Total 4Bt 18,112,748 29,607,234
At 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s properties R2024F 128310 AEB G THREARE
under development with an aggregate carrying amount of A ANR#5,017,564,0007T (20234 : AR
RMB5,017,564,000 (2023: RMB8,870,803,000) were pledged #8,870,803,00070) WEEYEDIKTFEF
to banks to secure certain of the bank loans granted to the RITUIEAREBEERENE TIRITERD
Group (note 28(a)(i)). AR (FF5E28(a)(i)) ©
During the year ended 31 December 2024, certain car spaces REE2024F12A31BEEE  EFTEH
have been transferred from investment properties under EETEREYEEREZEAEZMWE T
construction to properties under development, because their RERIBEEEFNANRHBERBRES
planned use have been changed to sale in ordinary course, the HE ZEYWERERNBREHNAAE
fair values of the properties at the date of change in use are BIEBREE T RIENREEMA

considered as the deemed cost for subsequent accounting.
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22.

23.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

At 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s properties held
for sale with an aggregate carrying amount of RMB251,318,000
(2023: RMB356,530,000) were pledged to banks to secure
certain of the bank loans granted to the Group (note 28(a)(ii)).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
transferred a property from property held for sale to investment
property as there is a change in use of the asset for the rental
purpose. The property was revalued individually at the date
of transfer by JLL, at a fair value of RMB102,800,000 based
on the transferred date. A revaluation deficit amounting to
RMB166,915,000, resulting from the valuation, has been
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
transferred certain properties from investment properties to
properties held for sale, as the Group changed the uses of the
above assets for the purpose of sale in ordinary course. The
fair values of the properties at the dates of change in use are
considered as the deemed cost for subsequent accounting.

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES
AND OTHER ASSETS

22. FFHEREBNME

R2024F12A31B  AEBETREARE
A ANR1251,318,00070 (20234 | AR
356,530,00070) WRFEHERERNYXE
B FRITUGEATEBEENE FIRT
ERBVIEIR (M 5E28(a)(ii)) ©

REE2024F12B31HILLEE  ZEBF
FEHERRNMEEBREZREYWE T
HREERARERARERR ZWEN
WEEORTPERTEAEEAEN AR
EARM102,800,0007¢ 18 Bl #h & (& o E &
EMEENEMGEBEL AR 166,915,0007T
BEEGGEm&ANERe

REZE2024F12B31H L EE  ZERBF
ETYEEBREVEESRERFHERR
MYE DTRAAEER EREERREN
ARBDEERBREPHE - ZEWERSE
NAREAMNAABERERESSHEEN
B R A

23. TR H AU R IE R At
BE

2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
(N AREFT AREFT
Prepayments SEENEN 3,395,832 3,662,412
Receivable from joint ventures i = —PNIE | (b)(d) 8,463,658 11,179,621
Receivable from associates g =N E ] (b)(d) 2,966,585 3,467,047
Receivable from non-controlling AN NI 2
shareholders of subsidiaries BRI (b)(c)(e) 2,699,244 2,640,498
Other receivables and other assets ~ HtEUWRIE R HMMEE (a)c)(e) 14,669,453 15,811,180
Provision for ECLs on receivables R & E QA BIFIE B E
from joint ventures, associates N BRI K A At FE U R IE
and other receivables JEHRE 1Rk EHE (0)(d) (7,338,675) (5,754,264)
Total 485t 24,856,097 31,006,494
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23. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES
AND OTHER ASSETS (Continued)

Notes:

(@)

At 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’s other receivables
with an aggregate carrying amount of RMB54,395,000 (2023:
RMB15,597,000) were pledged to banks to secure certain of the
bank loans granted to the Group (note 28(a)(iv)).

As at 31 December 2023 and 2024, receivables due from joint
ventures, associates and non-controlling shareholders of subsidiaries
are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Regarding credit risk arising from receivable from non-controlling
shareholders of subsidiaries and other receivables and other
assets, the Group conducts impairment assessment under ECL
for significant balances individually. The credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but not credit-impaired due to
the deterioration in the financial position of certain debtors. The
Group recognises the ECLs of RMB410,956,000 which are measured
at lifetime ECLs during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB1,105,194,000).

For receivables from joint ventures and associates, the Group
performed individual impairment assessment on each joint venture
and associate. Since the downturn in Mainland China’s real estate
industry adversely impacted the financial performance of some of the
Group’s joint ventures and associates, the Group recognised ECLs
of RMB552,782,000 (2023: RMB189,264,000) and RMB620,673,000
(2023: RMB308,598,000) on receivables from joint ventures and
associates respectively for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The remaining financial assets included in the above balances relate
to receivables for which there was no recent history of default and
past due amounts. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the loss
allowance was assessed to be minimal.

REMBHRRME®

31 December 2024 2024 12H31H

23. FAfFH - Efth Y IE KR HAth
BEE®

M5E

(@)  2024F12R318 AKEETHREMBES A
K #554,395,0007T (20234 : AR #15,597,000
70) M E thE KRR B IR IR T IRITUER A&
BEERNE TIRITEMRBER HEE28(@@)0V) °

(b) R2023F K2024F12831H » EIREGE AT
TE ~ FE B A B AR T B FE WM B A Bl JE AR
RERNEAEIRE  RERBREREHEE-

(c)  FLPEURHI B A B IEIE AR AR SR AR IE LUK E fth FE U
REBEREMNEEEENGEERRMS  A5E
RIEFEHEERIMNEREHEBETRHET
AR ETEFANUBERIBE EER
R E AR LUREEE MBI R EERE-.
AEEMPEE2024F128331H L EERDIER
EE#8% ARK410,956,0007t (22 HHFEHEE
Hi8%kst8) (20235 1 AR#1,105,194,000
7o) ©

d) HEREGEATDERBELTNREMS &&E
EHZEE AT AHE QB ERNETREST
oHRPEAERMETERERHAEES
TeE B RBERNTNUBREEETRAE
&, AEBRE E2024FE 12831 B ILEEREW
BENBRBEATNRIBS JEREHEE
8% AR #552,782,0007T (20234 : AR
189,264,0007t) Kz A R 1£620,673,0007T (2023
£ 1 AR #%308,598,0007T) °

(e) FALMAHRMBETEREERT EITIHE
R D ER K R B HA Y FE UK IE 5 B © R 20244F R
2023F12H31H  BEEERIGALAFE
j(o
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24. RESTRICTED CASH AND CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

=LY

24. ZRFVFEUARRERRESF

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AR®BTFT

Cash and bank balances R & KMIRTTAS BR 2,977,209 5,142,611

Less: Restricted cash (note (c)) B ZIRHIRE BsECc) (1,858,068) (1,368,808)

Cash and cash equivalents BERIREEEY 1,119,141 3,773,803

Notes: B -

(a) Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank (a) IRITEMIRES BIRTTER X% B BEA

deposit rates.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances of
the Group denominated in RMB amounted to RMB2,909,322,000
(2023: RMB5,043,122,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into
other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted
to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

A summary of the restricted cash of the Group as at 31 December
2024 is as follows:

(i) As further detailed in note 41(a) to the consolidated financial
statements, guarantee deposits of RMB12,225,000 (2023:
RMB13,912,000) as at 31 December 2024 were pledged
to banks which provide mortgages to the purchasers of the
Group’s properties, for potential default of mortgage loans
advanced to property purchasers. Such guarantee deposits
will be released after the property ownership certificates of the
relevant properties have been passed to the banks.

Be

) MREPBERE AEBNUARBHFENR
S RIRTTHEGEEA AR E2,009,322,0007T
(20234 : AR#5,043,122,00070) - AR
TOEHRRBRAEMEN R RIEFE A
EHNNEEEGIREE EERCESER
T AEERENESBREETIELENIR
TRARERBAHMENE.

()  AEEF2024F12A31HNZRFIR M

T

(i)

AR EMBRERM FE41()FFE—F
st o F220245F 128318 » ERiEE A
R #12,225,0007t (20234%F : AR
13,912,00070) B EBEFTEAEBYE
BEREHRBBZIRIT FAEBEEVEE
RIERZ (TR IBERNE S o ZFIEF
RERRERVENEESRFIRITE
F5 AT AR bR o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

24. RESTRICTED CASH AND CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

©

(Continued)

(ii)

(il

According to relevant loan facility agreements signed
by certain subsidiaries of the Group with the banks, the
subsidiaries are required to place the pre-sale proceeds of
their properties at designated bank accounts. The deposits
can only be used for the payment of property development
costs incurred by the subsidiaries and the repayment of the
relevant loans. Besides, proceeds from pre-sales of properties
are placed in restricted bank accounts in accordance with
the applicable government regulations. At 31 December
2024, such deposits amounted to RMB1,489,693,000 (2023:
RMB917,464,000).

Certain subsidiaries of the Group are required to place certain
amounts at specific bank accounts as guarantee deposits
for the use of the loan proceeds. At 31 December 2024, the
Group had no such deposits (2023: RMB5,645,000) (note
28(a)(vii).

The restricted balances, involved in outstanding litigation
and arbitration cases, of certain subsidiaries of the Group is
RMB356,151,000 (2023: RMB431,787,000).

25. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

As at 1 January 2023, the contract liabilities of the Group
amounted to RMB28,177,504,000. Contract liabilities represent
sales proceeds received from buyers in connection with the
Group’s pre-sales of properties.

The decrease in balance of contract liabilities was mainly due to
less pre-sales of properties during the year.

REMBHRRME®

31 December 2024 2024 12H31H

24, SRFIREURRERIRESE
EY @

MisE @ ()

iy REBEAEMETHBATLBITEEN
HRERRE RS ZEWBRATER
HYMENBEFRSREFZABERT
P ZEREHETRREZOZENR
BABIEENMERERAREEREE
BEM LN MENTBEFRERER
BERBBNARERNZRABTE
FoR2024F12B31H  ZEREA A
R #£1,489,693,0007T (20234 : AR
917,464,0007%) ©

(i) AEENETHEBLQSBREERT
REGEAETSBEEAERES UE
BERMEMRIE-12024F128318 >
AEBL FMZERE (2023F 0 AR
5,645,0007T) (Fff5E28(a)(vi) ©

vy, ANEBETHEBARS D RKRFR
EHERHENZIRGBEAARE
356,151,0007C (2023F : AR
431,787,0007%) ©

25. a9 &E

R2023FE1B 1R AEBEHNEBEAAR
#28,177,504,0007cc G EBIEMEAE
EEEYEMAERKERMNEEFRER

NEERBRALIEEANRFREAEY
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31 December 2024 20244 128331H

26. TRADE PAYABLES 26. B E{IRIA
An aging analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the REESHEERF BEZRAEBEREE
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: HEAZ7|EREDTAOT -
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARTT AR®BTFT
Within 1 year 1R 4,784,145 7,302,454
1 to 2 years 1E26F 3,175,858 2,816,235
Total “Est 7,960,003 10,118,689
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and unsecured. BREMRIEAT B REIKR-
27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 27. HthWEMIEREER
2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M &E AREBFT AR®BFT
Accruals FEs & M 803,643 1,539,364
Other payables Hih R RIE (a) 17,032,867 13,547,915
Amount due to joint ventures B &S ABMIEA (a) 1,565,639 1,662,436
Amount due to associates [EI B E QB RIE (a) 1,225,837 1,563,353
Amount due to non-controlling ENAEENEBEARN
shareholders of the Group’s JEVERR IR R FRIE
subsidiaries (@) 1,183,251 1,227,091
Financial guarantee contracts HEEFRELN (o) 2,219,453 1,951,882
Total st 24,030,690 21,492,041
Notes: B -
(@) These balances are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms () ZEAGBRILF REEBETEERS

of repayment.
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27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(0)

As at 31 December 2024, the financial guarantee contracts represent
guarantees given to financial institutions in connection with facilities
granted to independent third parties, joint ventures and associates.
The independent third parties’ loan facilities granted by the financial
institutions were RMB4,798,421,000 (2023: RMB4,721,651,000)
(Note 41(d)), of which was fully utilised by the independent third
parties. The Guarantees given to banks and other lenders in
connection with facilities granted to joint ventures and associates
were RMB941,859,000 (2023: RMB1,066,827,000) (Note 41(b))
in total. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over the guarantees.

The Group does not provide financial guarantees except for limited
circumstances. All guarantees are approved by the Directors and
senior management.

The financial guarantee contracts are measured at the higher of
the ECL allowance and the amount initially recognised less the
cumulative amount of income recognised. The ECL allowance is
measured by estimating the cash shortfalls, which are based on
the expected payments to reimburse the holders (i.e., the financial
institutions) for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the
Group expects to receive from the debtors (i.e., the independent
third parties, joint ventures and associates). During the year ended
31 December 2024, a ECL allowance of RMB245,672,000 (2023:
RMB61,234,000) (Note 41(d)) was further provided due to the
deterioration of the financial position of the independent third parties
meanwhile a ECL allowance of RMB11,841,000 was reversed
during the year ended 31 December 2024 and a ECL allowance of
RMB118,375,000 was provided during the year ended 31 December
2023 due to the guarantees given to banks and other lenders in
connection with facilities granted to joint ventures and associates
(Note 41(b)).

REMBHRRME®

31 December 2024 2024 12H31H

27. At RIERESER @

st - (8

(o)

R2024F12831H  MBIERSOEMBEIL
BZH EEARRHEATEENRED S
MEBRUENER SHEBEBENBISE=
FEFREA ARK4,798,421,0005T (2023
£ ANR#¥4,721,651,00078) (MIzE41(d)) > A
BIASE=A2RFA -ReE QA RHEAT
ERENREARTEREMERARENER
H et AR #941,859,0007T (20234 : AR
1,066,827,0007t) (Fi5E41(b)) o A& B uf fE 5
EREAEARFRIEMEERE-

BRERBRIN AEEFREMBER-FFE
BREOBHEERSHREEABH] -

B ERAARBHEEBABERITSER
THEACHEIBARTSENRSESTE-B
HEERAEENEAGHRESEMTE ]
THRBERERBEEREA (IESRE®E) E
L EEBRANBEHRRERAERBEHEEEA
BMELIE=F aE AR RBEAT) WEH
FEREEE - REE2024FE12831HILEEE - A
REBIBE=FUBERRBE BE—PHRTE
HE BB K EHE ARE245,672,0007T (2023
£ 1 AR161,234,00078) (Miz41(d)) > R
HRMEFEELATRBERATREAIRT
REMERARHEER HE41(0) REE
2024F12B31HILFECEEIFEHREERERLX
B AR #11,841,0007T » MR & E£20234F 12
AS1HIEFERFREREEBRAREEARE
118,375,0007T °
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28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 28. stERITREMBEE
BORROWINGS

2024 2023
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) Maturity RMB’000 (%) Maturity RMB’000
BIEFIE(%) ABE ARETR  EEAE%) HfE  AR®TR
Current ENA
Bank loans - secured RITER-FHRE 3.85-8.34 on demand/ 2,060,025 4.20-9.89  on demand/ 3,771,888
2025 2024
HER,2025 HER /2024
Other loans - secured HittER-EHE 6.00-11.00 2025 3,565,080 6.00-11.00 2024 3,406,227
Total-current BNER4E 5t 5,625,105 7,178,115
Non-current E(3:00-
Bank loans - secured RTER-FEHE 3.85-7.60 2026-2036 5,330,302 4.20-7.60 2025-2036 4,598,869
Other loans - secured HtER-BER - - - 10.00 2025 835,000
Total-non-current JEENHR AR 5t 5,330,302 5,433,869
Total 45t 10,955,407 12,611,984
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AE®FT
Analysed into: DIWTF -
Bank loans repayable: BEEZEIRTTERBIEAR !
Within one year or on demand P1ERTIZEX 2,060,025 3,771,888
In the second year REE2F 2,414,142 810,181
In the third to fifth years, inclusive NREBSEEFSE
(BIEERMF) 672,200 1,334,728
Beyond five years 5F % 2,243,960 2,453,960
Subtotal /NEF 7,390,327 8,370,757
Other loans repayable: BEEHMERNEAR
Within one year or on demand P1ERERER 3,565,080 3,406,227
In the second year N2 - 835,000
Subtotal /NEF 3,565,080 4,241,227
Total st 10,955,407 12,611,984
* The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out * ZEINPRERERERBEPRENEE

in the loan agreement. B



BNERZRERAS
ZE_UEFR

ZE5

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes:

(@)

Certain of the Group’s bank and other borrowings are secured or
guaranteed by:

(i) mortgages over the Group’s properties under development
with an aggregate carrying amount at the end of the
reporting period of approximately RMB5,017,564,000 (2023:
RMB8,870,803,000) (note 21);

(ii) pledges over the Group’s investment properties with an
aggregate carrying amount at the end of the reporting
period of approximately RMB6,226,600,000 (2023:
RMB6,970,000,000) (note 15(a));

(iii) pledges over the Group’s properties held for sale with an
aggregate carrying amount at the end of the reporting period
of approximately RMB251,318,000 (2023: RMB356,530,000)
(note 22);

(iv) pledges over the Group’s other receivables with an aggregate
carrying amount at the end of the reporting period of
approximately RMB54,395,000 (2023: RMB15,597,000) (note
23(a));

(v) pledges over the Group’s equity interest in subsidiaries;

(vi) corporate guarantees executed by certain subsidiaries
of the Company and the Company to the extent of
RMB6,325,101,000 (2023: RMB7,336,426,000); and

(vii) Certain subsidiaries of the Company had no deposits placed
at specific bank accounts as guarantee deposits for the
use of the loan proceeds as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMBS5,645,000) (note 24(c)(iii)).

The Group’s bank and other borrowings with carrying amounts of
RMB6,050,532,000 (2023: RMB7,763,464,000), RMB624,110,000
(2023: RMB628,268,000) and RMB4,280,765,000 (2023:
RMB4,220,252,000) are denominated in RMB, Hong Kong dollars
and United States dollars, respectively.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group failed to comply with certain
covenants of certain bank loans, which are primarily related to the
consolidated current ratio of the Group, with an aggregate carrying
amount of RMB1,482,842,000 (2023: RMB1,451,783,000) which in
turn permitted the lenders to demand for accelerated repayment and
are classified as current liabilities as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

28.

M5E

REMBHRRME®

31 December 2024 2024 12H31H

SR REMES @

FEBNETRITRAMEESHUTAIE
R

0] FREBMPRESHBERR RELEDN
# AR #5,017,564,0007C (20234 : A
F2#£8,870,803,0007T) BITE Y % 11218

(M5E21) 5

(ii) REEBRRSPBERE  REREYN
# AR 16,226,600,0007T (20234 @ A
F2#6,970,000,0007T) BI1& B Y £ K15
(M5E15(@a)) 5

(i) AEERRSPEBSRE REEEY
A AR #251,318,0007T (20234 : AR
#356,530,0007T) B 1ESE & R Y
EMIRIE (fFsE22) 5

(iv) AEBRBRSHBGERES  RERED
A AR #54,395,00077 (20234F | AR
#&15,597,0007T) BY E fth & U 7R I8 B9 4K 17
(Fz¥23(a)) >

v)  EEERETHEBASNRENIER

V) ARBDETHBRABARFABDFEES
85 AR #6,325,101,00075 (20234 :
AR #7,336,426,00070) BIATER ;
P4

(vi)  AABHETHIB AT 2024412531
Bt #% (20234 : AR #5,645,0007T) 7
BERTERSEARSEARERRS
LU A & R P 1S R I8 (MY 524 (o) i) ©

FEBUARE BB EETHENRTRE
s & > IREESD B A AR %6,050,532,0007T
(20234 : AR¥7,763,464,0007T) * AR
624,110,0007C (20234 : AR #628,268,000
7T) R AR #4,280,765,0007T (20234 : AR#E
4,220,252,0007T) ©

72024128310 » AEBMAKAEBTIHORIT
BARZETRYN (FEAKAEBRS AR
BR) > HIRmEBEA ARM1,482,842,0007T
(20234 : AR#1,451,783,0007T) * MfE™R
AR ERNNREIE > W 220245 20235
nEAREBAEE.
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29. CORPORATE BONDS

29. AEIMEH

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®ETFT AER®BFT

Corporate bonds due in 2024 2024 F R HARY A B E S 1,075,000 1,075,000
Corporate bonds due in 2025 2025F R A BIEH 1,800,000 2,137,500
2,875,000 3,212,500

Portion classified as current liabilities DEARBEENI D (900,000) (1,412,500)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE 1,975,000 1,800,000

Included in the above are bonds in an aggregate principal
amount of:

(i)

RMB2,000,000,000 corporate bonds due in 2024 issued
by a subsidiary of the Company in April 2019 (the “6.5%
Corporate Bonds”). The 6.5% Corporate Bonds have
a term of five years and bear interest at a rate of 6.5%
per annum. The 6.5% Corporate Bonds are unsecured.
At the end of the second, third and fourth year, the
subsidiary of the Group shall be entitled to adjust the
coupon rate of corporate bonds and the bond holders
shall be entitled to sell back the bonds to the Group. In
April 2021, the coupon rate was adjusted to 6.98% per
annum. During the year ended 31 December 2023, a
large Chinese state-owned asset management company
repaid 6.5% Corporate Bonds with a principal amount
of RMB925,000,000 on behalf of the Company. In
April 2024, the coupon rate was adjusted to 6% per
annum, and the Group obtained approval from the
respective bondholders of the 6.5% Corporate Bonds
for the extension of the maturity date. According to the
related extension arrangement, the Group is required
to settle 15% of the outstanding principal in 2026 and
the remaining 85% of the outstanding principal in 2027,
therefore the remaining balances of RMB1,075,000,000
as at 31 December 2024 are classified as non-current
liabilities. The 6.5% Corporate Bonds were classified as
current liabilities as at 31 December 2023.

BEUTAZBENGES

KAl —BMHRBRABNR2019F
4B ET2024F B BB AR
2,000,000,000c A EIfES (6.5
EREES)) 6.5BARESARR
FoEBF65EFE6.5ERARE
FABBR - RE_FER-F=ZFX
MENFER AEBNNB LR EE
BEADBFNEBMME > MESF
BEAEHBEAEBRLERES 12021
F4B > BEAERFAEAESF6.98E
REE2023F12H31HIEFEE > —
AREFHEAEEEBEERANEAES
%8 AR #925,000,0007T86.5E A F
BEHEBEXRABEHRE-1R20245F4
B EZEMNERELATECE ) AEH
ESERNBBHFSBESRFEANE
EREIA B -RIEMARFERZHE
AEMBER2026FE £ F15%8I K E
BT WHR2027FE 45T 6785% M
FEEAXAE FAILH20245F12H31H
BT gR4E 8% AR 1,075,000,0007T
NEAERBEE -6.5EATEBEEN
2023F 12831 BN EAREAE-
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29. CORPORATE BONDS (Continued)

(i)

RMB1,500,000,000 corporate bonds due in 2025 issued
by a subsidiary of the Company in July 2020 (the “6.5%
Corporate Bonds II"). The 6.5% Corporate Bonds Il have
a term of five years and bear interest at a rate of 6.5%
per annum. At the end of the second and fourth year,
the subsidiary of the Group shall be entitled to adjust the
coupon rate of corporate bonds and the bond holders
shall be entitled to sell back the bonds to the Group.
During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023,
the Group repaid RMB75,000,000 and RMB356,250,000
of the corporate bonds respectively. During the
reporting period, the Group repaid RMB168,750,000
of the corporate bonds and the remaining balance is
RMB900,000,000 as at 31 December 2024. In July
2023, the Group has agreed to change repayment terms
with respective bondholders in which the balances of
RMB450,000,000 6.5% Corporate Bonds Il are becoming
due before 31 December 2025 and therefore classified as
current liabilities as at 31 December 2024. The remaining
balances of RMB225,000,000 and RMB225,000,000
are becoming due in January 2026 and July 2026,
respectively, which are classified as non-current liabilities
as at 31 December 2024. The 6.5% Corporate Bond Il
are pledged over the Group’s equity interests in certain
subsidiaries. The balances of RMB168,750,000 and
RMB900,000,000 were classified as current liabilities and
non-current liabilities respectively as at 31 December
2023.

REMBHRRME®

31 December 2024 2024 12H31H

29. NEIESH @)

(i)

ApBE—HEKEBABR20204F
TH#{T20256F 2B AR
1,500,000,000c 2 EEH (76.5
ERBEEH 1) °6.5BERBEHF
HPRF EEF65EFE -
TERMENFER AERNKEL
BIEMBEAABSFNERMAE
MESFEAEHAAEBRRLDE &
Fo B E2022F KX2023F12H31H
FTEE A"EBERNEREBARE
75,000,0007T &z A K #356,250,000
THARIES RHREHEAN AEE
BEERQARES AR168,750,000
T FR2024FE 1231 A FERE R A A
F£ #900,000,0007T ° fA20234%F7 8 »
AEBECHEFRESRAEARCES
BEBKEH HPe.5EARES N
48R AR 1450,000,0007T# 522025
F12H31HAT B HE > ALEF20244F
12B31HDEAREEE ™ F R
“EER AR 18225,000,00070 K& A R &
225,000,0007Tc# 73 B H2 2026418
2026578 B HF > 122024F 12831
HofEAFERBEE 6.5ERBEES
“HAEERETHBABRREE
B2 ARM168,750,000t &
AR #900,000,0007T#22023FE 1283
BN EARIEBBERIERES

e

N
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29. CORPORATE BONDS (Continued)

(ii)

RMB1,500,000,000 corporate bonds due in 2025 issued
by a subsidiary of the Company in September 2020 (the
“6.5% Corporate Bonds IlII"). The 6.5% Corporate Bonds
Il have a term of five years and bear interest at a rate of
6.5% per annum. At the end of the second and fourth
year, the subsidiary of the Group shall be entitled to adjust
the coupon rate of corporate bonds and the bond holders
shall be entitled to sell back the bonds to the Group.
During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023,
the Group repaid RMB75,000,000 and RMB356,250,000
of the corporate bonds respectively. During the
reporting period, the Group repaid RMB168,750,000
of the corporate bonds and the remaining balance is
RMB900,000,000 as at 31 December 2024. In July
2023, the Group has agreed to change repayment terms
with respective bondholders in which the balances of
RMB450,000,000 6.5% Corporate Bonds Il are becoming
due before 31 December 2025 and therefore classified as
current liabilities as at 31 December 2024. The remaining
balances of RMB225,000,000 and RMB225,000,000
are becoming due in March 2026 and September 2026,
respectively, which are classified as non-current liabilities
as at 31 December 2024. The 6.5% Corporate Bond Il
are pledged over the Group’s equity interests in certain
subsidiaries. The balances of RMB168,750,000 and
RMB900,000,000 were classified as current liabilities and
non-current liabilities respectively as at 31 December
2023.

29. ANEMESH @)

(iff)

ApBE— BB ABR20204F
OB ¥ 1T2025F BB AR
1,500,000,000c M2 E)EH (6.5
ERBEH=1) °6.5BERNBEHF=
ABEAFE HEF6L5EFE -NSH
TERMENUFR AEENKEL
BIEMBEAABRSFNETAE
MESFEAEEBDAEBRRLDE R
Fo B E2022F K2023F12831H
FTEE - AEBERNEREBARE
75,000,0007T &z A & #356,250,000
THRBEESF RBEHRN AEH
BEERAES AR168,750,000
T FR2024FE 1231 BRI ERE R A A
F2 #900,000,0007T ° 12023578 »
FEBBHERBESFEAREESE
BEKT Hb65BEQABEHF =W
4R AR 1450,000,0007T # 122025
F12H31HAT B> ALEF20244F
12B31HDEAREBEE - mF &R
“EER AR 1&225,000,00070 K& A R &
225,000,0007Tc# 3 B 2202643 A
2026598 B HF > 122024F 12831
HOEAFERNEBE 6.5ELABES
—HAEBRRETHEB AR NREE
B2 ARM168,750,000t &
AR #900,000,0007T#22023FE 1283
BN EARBEBERIEREE
Fo
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31 December 2024 2024 12H31H

30. SENIOR NOTES 30. BAERE
2024 2023
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity RMB’000 rate (%) Maturity RMB’000
BIRFE(%) AHME  ARBETRT EBEBRRIE9%) B ARETR
2016 Senior Notes-6% 2016FBEERE 6% 6.26 2023 1,778,172 6.26 2023 1,769,734
2017 Senior Notes-6% 2017TEBLEERE 6% 6.35 2022 83,532 6.35 2022 83,135
2019 Senior Notes-8.625% 20195 BEAEHE-8.625% 9.40 2022 102,714 9.40 2022 102,227
2019 Senior Notes 1-8.5% 2019 BRELE——85% 8.81 2023 3,556,345 8.81 2023 3,539,469
2019 Senior Notes 11-8.5% 2019 BLEE —-85% 8.85 2024 3,556,345 8.85 2024 3,537,638
2019 Senior Notes-6% 20195 BAREE-6% 7.74 2023 2,845,076 7.74 2023 2,831,575
2019 Senior Notes-8.375% 2019 B L EHE—8.375% 8.63 2024 3,535,007 8.63 2024 3,532,547
2019 Senior Notes-8.3% 2019 BLERE-8.3% 8.56 2025 3,440,022 8.56 2025 3,462,488
2020 Senior Notes-7.375% 2020 BLERE—7.375% 7.52 2026 4,501,284 7.52 2026 4,503,615
2020 Senior Notes-7.7% 2020 BEERE-T7.7% 7.87 2025 2,830,172 7.87 2025 2,826,319
2020 Senior Notes-7.85% 2020 BLERE—7.85% 8.01 2026 2,084,319 8.01 2026 2,080,451
2021 Senior Notes-6.35% 2021 B EE-6.35% 6.36 2027 3,919,641 6.36 2027 3,924,604
2021 Senior Notes-8.5% 201 FEBEEE-85% 18.06 2022 817,959 18.06 2022 814,078
2021 Senior Notes-9.95% 2021 EBLEE-9.95% 14.06 2023 1,273,171 14.06 2023 1,267,130
2021 Senior Notes-12% 2021 EBAER—12% 14.66 2023 711,269 14.66 2023 707,894
2022 Senior Notes-7.8125% 2022 BRER—7.8125% 10.07 2023 3,754,787 10.07 2023 3,736,969
38,789,815 38,719,873
Portion classified as DEARHEENHD
current liabilities (38,789,815) (38,719,873)
Non-current portion FERBED = -
Notes: f5E <
(a) In October 2016, the Company issued 6% senior notes (the (a) MR2016FE108 > KRB BITAEHLE

“2016 Senior Notes-6%") with an aggregate principal value of
US$250,000,000 (approximately RMB1,695,000,000). The net
proceeds, after deducting the issuance costs, amounted to
approximately US$246,375,000 (approximately RMB1,670,000,000).
The 2016 Senior Notes-6% matured on 25 October 2023 without
any settlement.

250,000,000% ¢ (K9 AR #1,695,000,000
7T) HEe% B ERE (1 2016 F B L EHE —
6% 1) MR BETERABNMBRIBREN
#246,375,000% 7T (9 A R #1,670,000,000
7T) °2016E B R EHE — 6% 20234E10H25H
MBI R EE



220

Yuzhou Group Holdings Company Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
HEUBHRRNE®

31 December 2024 20244 128331H

30. SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(o)

In January 2017, the Company issued 6% senior notes (the
“2017 Senior Notes-6%") with an aggregate principal value of
US$350,000,000 (approximately RMB2,410,277,000). The net
proceeds, after deducting the issuance costs, amounted to
approximately US$343,700,000 (approximately RMB2,396,000,000).
In October 2021, the Company early redeemed part of the 2017
Senior Notes-6% with a principal amount of US$10,000,000
(approximately RMB63,757,000) at the redemption price of
US$6,979,000 (approximately RMB44,222,000). In January 2022,
the Company conducted the exchange offer to exchange notes
with new notes with an extended maturity and terms. According
to the exchange offer, 2017 Senior Notes-6% with a principal
amount of US$328,056,000 (approximately RMB2,284,779,000)
was exchanged. In March 2022, the Company early redeemed
part of the 2017 Senior Notes-6% with a principal amount of
US$200,000 (approximately RMB1,393,000) at the redemption
price of US$26,500 (approximately RMB205,375). The remaining
principal of 2017 Senior Notes-6% in the amount of US$11,744,000
(approximately RMB83,531,000) matured on 25 January 2022
without any settlement.

In January 2019, the Company issued 8.625% senior notes (the
“2019 Senior Notes-8.625%") with an aggregate principal value
of US$500,000,000 (approximately RMB3,373,600,000). The
net proceeds, after deducting the issuance costs, amounted to
approximately US$494,901,000 (approximately RMB3,339,199,000).
In December 2019, the Company early redeemed part of the 2019
Senior Notes-8.625% with a principal amount of US$257,931,000
(approximately RMB1,799,378,000) at the redemption price of
US$280,178,000 (approximately RMB1,951,244,000) representing
108.625% of the principal amount together with accrued and
unpaid interest up to the redemption date. In January 2022, the
Company conducted the exchange offer to exchange notes with
new notes with an extended maturity and terms. According to
the exchange offer, 2019 Senior Notes-8.625% with a principal
amount of US$227,628,000 (approximately RMB1,585,338,000) was
exchanged. The remaining principal of 2019 Senior Notes-8.625%
in the amount of US$14,441,000 (approximately RMB102,714,000)
matured on 23 January 2022 without any settlement.
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R2017E1R A RABE#ETASRE
350,000,000% ¢ (K9 AR ¥2,410,277,000
T7T) MR BEER (T2017TEBHLEER -
6% 1) MR ETERABNMERIBREN
#343,700,000% 7T (9 AR %2,396,000,000
70) °22021F108 » A ABIREEO &£ 48
10,000,000%% 7T (A9 AR #63,757,0007T) B3P
D201 7TEBEEE —6% E[OE%6,979,000
E 5T (W AR E44,222,0007T) © 1R20224%F18 »
KABBEARBRELN UXKBRFHREN
HEZEH - REIREL > £$£%328,056,000
E7T (W ARE2,284,779,0007T) BI20174F
BAREE 6% ETRIRR2022F38 »
AABIREEEB A%%200,000E 77T (WA
E#81,393,00070) M D201 7E B AL EiE—
6% > FEEE 526,500% 7T (K AR #205,375
TT) 201 7TEBAEHR -6%ME A4
11,744,000% 7t (A9 AR #83,531,0007T) 7
20221250 FIHAB M R EIE -

R2019F 1B A RARAETAETRE
500,000,000% ¢ (K9 AR #3,373,600,000
70) H98.625% B E# (T 2019F B R EH —
8.625% ) < fSIIREITE BB NS HIEFHE
#9#3494,901,000% 7¢ (A9 A R #3,339,199,000
7T) ° FR2019F 128 » AABRFEEO A& 48
257,931,000% 7t (49 AR %1,799,378,0007T)
BE D201 90F B EH —8.625% > BE[OES
280,178,000% 7t (#9 A R #§1,951,244,0007T *
HEERAEEEMN108.625%) ERE & = ER HHA
BIFEET MRS F) B o 122022818 > A AT B
ARB|BL UXHREHBRENHTZE - R
RBEH > AL FE227,628,000E 7T (VAR
1,585,338,0007T) MI2019E B I EH —8.625%
BT 0 2019F B 15 —8.625% M F ik
A& %814,441,000E 7t (A9 AR #102,714,000
7T) 20221823 F BIHAE M R EE -
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30. SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(d)

In January 2019, the Company issued 8.5% senior notes (the
“2019 Senior Notes 1-8.5%") with an aggregate principal value
of US$500,000,000 (approximately RMB3,354,050,000). The
net proceeds, after deducting the issuance costs, amounted to
approximately US$494,912,000 (approximately RMB3,319,922,000).
The 2019 Senior Notes 1-8.5% matured on 4 February 2023 without
any settlement.

In February 2019, the Company issued 8.5% senior notes (the
“2019 Senior Notes 11-8.5%") with an aggregate principal value
of US$500,000,000 (approximately RMB3,351,195,000). The
net proceeds, after deducting the issuance costs, amounted to
approximately US$493,000,000 (approximately RMB3,304,278,000).
The 2019 Senior Notes 11-8.5% matured on 26 February 2024
without any settlement.

In July 2019, the Company issued 6% senior notes (the “2019 Senior
Notes-6%") with an aggregate principal value of US$400,000,000
(approximately RMB2,654,619,000). The net proceeds, after
deducting the issuance costs, amounted to approximately
US$376,379,000 (approximately RMB2,497,859,000). The 2019
Senior Notes-6% matured on 25 October 2023 without any
settlement.

In October 2019, the Company issued 8.375% senior notes (the
“2019 Senior Notes-8.375%") with an aggregate principal value
of US$500,000,000 (approximately RMB3,504,550,000). The
net proceeds, after deducting the issuance costs, amounted to
approximately US$494,902,000 (approximately RMB3,468,821,000).
In March 2020, the Company early redeemed part of the 2019
Senior Notes-8.375% with a principal amount of US$3,000,000
(approximately RMB19,575,000) at the redemption price of
US$2,065,000 (approximately RMB13,481,000). The remaining
principal of 2019 Senior Notes-8.375% in the amount of
US$497,000,000 (approximately RMB3,535,005,000) matured on 30
October 2024 without any settlement.
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R2019F 1A XA HTEAETRAE
500,000,000% ¢ (K9 AR #3,354,050,000
7T) MI8.5%BALEEE (T 2019F BLEEHE——
8.5% 1) o INFRETEHBIAMERIEFEN
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R2019F 2B AR ETAERE
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=R e ER i S

R2019F 7R ARB#TASEE
400,000,000% 7t (A9 AR #2,654,619,000
Tt) 6% BHER (T 20105 B L EH —
6%1) RGBT ERBNMERNIEFEY
#376,379,000% 7t (A9 AR 12,497,859,000
70) °2019F B EE — 6% 2023F10825H
S HAB I REE-

R2019F10B A ARAETAEZHEE
500,000,000% ¢ (K9 AR #3,504,550,000
70) 8.375% B R (1 2019F B R EH —
8.375% 1)  &INBRVEITEAEMNFIERMIERE
#)%494,902,000% 7T (K AR #£3,468,821,000
7T) °1R20204E3B A ABIRFELO A S
3,000,000% 7t (K AR ¥19,575,0007T) B9
B 2019FE B ER —8.375% HEEIESA
2,065,000% 7T (A9 AR ®13,481,0007T) °
2019 BHLEEH —8.375%N TS
497,000,000% 7T (¥ A R #3,535,005,0007T)
20244108308 ZIHAB I R E31E o
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30. SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(h)

In November 2019, the Company issued 8.3% senior notes (the
“2019 Senior Notes-8.3%") with an aggregate principal value
of US$500,000,000 (approximately RMB3,514,991,000). The
net proceeds, after deducting the issuance costs, amounted to
approximately US$494,000,000 (approximately RMB3,472,811,000).
In March 2020, the Company early redeemed part of the 2019
Senior Notes-8.3% with a principal amount of US$5,000,000
(approximately RMB32,625,000) at the redemption price of
US$3,546,000 (approximately RMB23,150,000). During the year
ended 31 December 2021, the Company early redeemed part of
the 2019 Senior Notes-8.3% with total of the principal amount of
US$9,000,000 (approximately RMB57,381,000) at the redemption
price of US$7,943,000 (approximately RMB50,330,000). The
remaining principal of 2019 Senior Notes-8.3% in the amount of
US$486,000,000 (approximately RMB3,456,765,000) will mature on
27 May 2025.

In January 2020, the Company issued 7.375% senior notes (the
“2020 Senior Notes-7.375%") with an aggregate principal value
of US$645,000,000 (approximately RMB4,440,581,000). The
net proceeds, after deducting the issuance costs, amounted to
approximately US$640,455,000 (approximately RMB4,409,290,000).
In March 2020, the Company early redeemed part of the 2020
Senior Notes-7.375% with a principal amount of US$1,500,000
(approximately RMB9,787,000) at the redemption price of
US$997,000 (approximately RMB6,509,000). During the year ended
31 December 2021, the Company early redeemed part of the
2020 Senior Notes-7.375% with total of the principal amount of
US$7,000,000 (approximately RMB44,630,000) at the redemption
price of US$5,932,000 (approximately RMB37,588,000). The
remaining principal of 2020 Senior Notes-7.375% in the amount of
US$636,500,000 (approximately RMB4,527,225,000) will mature on
13 January 2026.

In February 2020, the Company issued 7.7% senior notes (the
“2020 Senior Notes-7.7%") with an aggregate principal value
of US$400,000,000 (approximately RMB2,809,363,000). The
net proceeds, after deducting the issuance costs, amounted to
approximately US$397,166,000 (approximately RMB2,789,460,000).
The 2020 Senior Notes-7.7% will mature on 20 February 2025.
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30. SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(k)

In August 2020, the Company issued green senior notes (the
“2020 Senior Notes-7.85%") with an aggregate principal amount
of US$300,000,000 (approximately RMB2,088,540,000) bearing
interest at 7.85% per annum. The net proceeds, after deducting
the issuance costs, amounted to approximately US$296,000,000
(approximately RMB2,060,693,000). In March 2021, the Company
early redeemed part of the 2020 Senior Notes-7.85% with a principal
amount of US$5,000,000 (approximately RMB31,879,000) at the
redemption price of US$4,311,000 (approximately RMB28,305,000).
The remaining principal of 2020 Senior Notes-7.85% in the amount
of US$295,000,000 (approximately RMB2,098,242,000) will mature
on 12 August 2026.

In January 2021, the Company issued green senior notes (the
“2021 Senior Notes-6.35%") with an aggregate principal amount
of US$562,000,000 (approximately RMB3,635,232,000) bearing
interest at 6.35% per annum. The net proceeds, after deducting
the issuance costs, amounted to approximately US$556,853,000
(approximately RMB3,601,939,000). In March 2021, the Company
early redeemed part of the 2021 Senior Notes-6.35% with a principal
amount of US$5,000,000 (approximately RMB31,879,000) at the
redemption price of US$4,386,000 (approximately RMB28,798,000).
The remaining principal of 2021 Senior Notes-6.35% in the amount
of US$557,000,000 (approximately RMB3,961,766,000) will mature
on 13 January 2027.

In September 2021, the Company issued green senior notes (the
“2021 Senior Notes-8.5%") with an aggregate principal amount
of US$120,000,000 (approximately RMB774,792,000) bearing
interest at 8.5% per annum. The net proceeds, after deducting
the issuance costs, amounted to approximately US$109,912,000
(approximately RMB709,658,000). In November 2021, the Company
early redeemed part of the 2021 Senior Notes-8.5% with a principal
amount of US$5,000,000 (approximately RMB31,879,000) at the
redemption price of US$5,000,000 (approximately RMB31,935,000).
The remaining principal of 2021 Senior Notes-8.5% in the amount of
US$115,000,000 (approximately RMB817,959,000) matured on 22
September 2022 without any settlement.
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30. SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(n)

In September 2021, the Company issued green senior notes (the
“2021 Senior Notes-9.95%”) with an aggregate principal amount of
US$200,000,000 (approximately RMB1,291,320,000) bearing interest
at 9.95% per annum. The net proceeds, after deducting the issuance
costs, amounted to approximately US$186,727,000 (approximately
RMB1,205,622,000). During the year ended 31 December 2021,
the Company early redeemed part of the 2021 Senior Notes-9.95%
with total of the principal amount of US$21,000,000 (approximately
RMB133,890,000) at the redemption price of US$19,751,000
(approximately RMB125,150,000). The remaining principal of
2021 Senior Notes-9.95% in the amount of US$179,000,000
(approximately RMB1,273,171,000) matured on 8 June 2023 without
any settlement.

In July 2021, the Company issued green senior notes (the “2021
Senior Notes-12%") with an aggregate principal amount of
US$100,000,000 (approximately RMB652,500,000) bearing interest
at 12% per annum. The net proceeds, after deducting the issuance
costs, amounted to approximately US$94,901,000 (approximately
RMB619,229,000). During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Company amended the 2021 Senior Notes-12% originally due 2022
to 2023. The 2021 Senior Notes-12% matured on 30 September
2023 without any settlement.

In January 2022, the Company issued news senior notes (the “2022
Senior Notes-7.8125%") to conducted the exchange offer with an
aggregate principal amount of US$527,899,800 (approximately
RMB3,416,145,186) bearing interest at 7.8125% per annum. The
net proceeds, after deducting the issuance costs, amounted to
approximately US$516,910,350 (approximately RMB3,345,030,254).
The 2022 Senior Notes-7.8125% matured on 21 January 2023
without any settlement.

The Company, at its option, can redeem all or a portion of the
senior notes at any time prior to the maturity date at the redemption
prices (principal amount plus applicable premium) plus accrued and
unpaid interest up to the redemption date, as set forth in the written
agreements between the Company and the trustees of the senior
notes.
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30. SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(o] The senior notes of the Group are denominated in United States
dollars and are secured by pledges over the equity interests of
certain subsidiaries of the Company.

(s) During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group failed to pay
off a US$446,592,000 (equivalent to RMB3,176,465,000) (2023:
US$488,257,000 (equivalent to RMB3,456,341,000)) senior notes’
interest and non-payment of senior notes with principal in total
of US$997,000,000 (equivalent to RMB7,091,352,000) (2023:
US$1,956,900,000 (equivalent to RMB13,852,773,000)). As of 31
December 2024, the Group failed to pay off a US$1,285,496,000
(equivalent to RMB9,143,333,000) (2023: US$842,027,000
(equivalent to RMB5,960,657,000)) senior notes’ interest and non-
payment of senior notes with principal in total of US$3,095,085,000
(equivalent to RMB22,014,377,000) (2023: US$2,098,085,000
(equivalent to RMB14,852,211,000)). Such non-payment of interest
or overdue principal have caused an event of default under the senior
notes agreements. As a result, all note holders have right to demand
immediate repayment of the principal and accrued interest. As at 31
December 2024 and 2023, all senior notes are classified as current
liabilities.

31. PROVISION FOR LAND APPRECIATION

TAX

According to the requirements of the Provisional Regulations of
the PRC on LAT effective from 1 January 1994, and the Detailed
Implementation Rules on the Provisional Regulations of the PRC
on LAT effective from 27 January 1995, all gains arising from the
sale or transfer of state-owned land use rights, buildings and
their attached facilities in Mainland China are subject to LAT at
progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% of the appreciation
value, with an exemption provided for the sale of ordinary
residential properties if their appreciation values do not exceed
20% of the sum of the total deductible items.

The Group has estimated, made and included in taxation a
provision for LAT according to the requirements set forth in the
relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. The actual LAT liabilities
are subject to the determination by the tax authorities upon
completion of the property development projects and the tax
authorities may disagree with the basis on which the provision
for LAT is calculated.
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M B A BRI AR HE(EIR I o

(s) REZE2024F 12831 HIEFE > AEBKRTE
BHLREEAN E446,592,000E 7T (FHER AR
#3,176,465,0007T) (2023%F : 488,257,000
E7x (HERARS,456,341,0007T)) &
AEMELEENA£HE997,000,000%
T (FHER ARK7,091,352,0007T) (2023
£ :1,956,900,000E 7T (HHER AR
13,852,773,0007T)) o & E20245F12831H >
AEBRNBEBILEENE,285,496,000
=7t (HBER AR9,143,333,0007T) (2023
£ 842,027,000t (HER AR
5,960,657,00070)) R AZ N ELERENAE
##513,095,085,000& 7T (BER AR
22,014,377,0007%) (20234 : 2,098,085,000%
7T (FBER AR14,852,211,0007T)) < BRE&
FRHMEREBPEAEEERNBEZRIBENE
HNEH A FIEZHRFEABEERIL
BEEERSKREFTF B c1R20245F K%20235%F128
1B FIABAEREDEARTARE-

1. IMIEER AR

RIBFEE1994FE1B1HEBERW(TEAR
HANE L HIBERGITIEAG ) & B199551
Bo7THREEMM(PEARENER L G E
METEGEEMA) )R E » P A
tEREEZEE I MERE - BFREKH
BRMEENFBERG  BENFIEER
EBI30%E60%H REFR R H 4 - i (E
R EREEEFABREE2INREBEEE
MW20% BEEEEFTETHNHETRR
A T IR E TR o

FEBERBEEBPREARBEZGERAH
RE > A FERERBEAF A LHIEE
MEB BN IHIBEREGEEATYE
MEBER TR HRBERET MNHD
ERFETRAEFAEEFE L MR ERE
wREE-



2 2 Yuzhou Group Holdings Company Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

EMBHRRME®

31 December 2024 20244 128331H

32. DEFERRED TAX 32. IREIRIE
Net deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised in the REEMBRARTEINELERIBEEE
consolidated statement of financial position are as follows: REEFENT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTT AR®BTFT
Deferred tax assets recognised in the RiFE M BEAR R RPERN
consolidated statement of financial position IRIERMIBEE 683,170 1,050,453
Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the R EMBRRARPERN
consolidated statement of financial position IRERIBEE (1,520,341) (1,934,018)
(837,171) (883,565)
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the FROBRERBEERBENESHUWT -
year are as follows:
Deferred tax assets RIERIBE E
Fair value
adjustments
Arising from from
provision  acquisition of
for LAT subsidiaries Tax losses Total
e BB It 8
EfgLi RAEEZ
IEEREE NRERE MIEEE Wt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
At 1 January 2023 20231811 517,131 272,831 1,068,306 1,858,268
Charged to profit or loss during the year R B8k (130,279) (52,263) (618,961) (801,497
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 39) HEMBAR (f7F39) - (6,318) = (6,318)
At 31 December 2023 and 1R2023F12831H K
1 January 2024 2024%181H 386,858 214,250 449,345 1,050,453
Charged to profit or loss during the year E£R Bz (54,215) (23,131) (289,937) (367,283)
At 31 December 2024 1R2024F12831H 332,643 191,119 159,408 683,170
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31 December 2024 2024 12H31H

32. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

32. IRERIE &)

Deferred tax liabilities EERERE
Fair value
Arising from  adjustments
revaluation on arising from
investment  acquisition of Revaluation of
properties subsidiaries properties Total
W B Tt B
ELXERE REEEZ
MEER NRERE MEE it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR  ARETE ARBTR  ARETR
At 1 January 2023 1202351810 1,311,898 2,063,785 111,491 3,487,174
Credited to profit or loss during FRE AR
the year (758,470) (547,974) S (1,306,444)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 38(i)) YREBH B A B (HF5E38(i) - 52,904 - 52,904
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 39) HEWBAR (Hz39) - (299,616) = (299,616)
At 31 December 2023 and 12023128318 &
1 January 2024 2024F181H 553,428 1,269,099 111,491 1,934,018
Credited to profit or loss during FREALBR
the year (262,007) (112,830) (49,442) (424,279)
Surplus on properties revaluation MEEGREG - - 10,602 10,602
At 31 December 2024 120245128318 291,421 1,156,269 72,651 1,520,341

The Group had unutilised tax losses of approximately
RMB19,478,860,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023:
RMB14,006,032,000) that can be carried forward for five years
from the year in which the losses arose for offsetting against
future taxable profits of the tax entity in which the losses arose.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect
of certain of these losses of RMB18,841,228,000 (2023:
RMB12,208,652,000) as they have arisen in subsidiaries that
have been loss-making for some time and it is not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
these tax losses can be utilised.

EEo

REBMMPR2024F 12831 HN KR EARIER
BHA NRE19,478,860,0007T (20234 :
AR #14,006,032,0007T) » ZEMBEEE
AHBEHENSTFERESEE AT  WIEH
HIREENR BT AR ENERRFE -
HREERETBEESENWB AR E
o BAEBBATAKAEEBAINBRE
BERIEHNERRIE R Emls T&
FEE AR %18,841,228,0007T (20234 :
AR #12,208,652,0007T) FERIERIBEE
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31 December 2024 20244 128331H

32.

DEFERRED TAX (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities (Continued)

Pursuant to the New Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 January
2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes
on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in
Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January
2008.

As 31 December 2024 and 2023, no deferred tax has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on
the unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes
of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China.
In the opinion of the Directors, it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will settle any dividends declared on such earnings
in the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with interests in subsidiaries in Mainland
China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised
approximately RMB15,573,311,000 as at 31 December 2024
(2023: RMB20,196,286,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

32. IRERIE &)

RERIEAE @

RIEMEEMESRE TPEAELILN
HNECEAINEKREE SRR B BN
10%BIFEI R - Z iR E B2008F 151 HIE
3 WE2007FE12H31HBESNEF
BR - MPEAEREZEIELEEEFRT
BAEREBEREEIIRNBHL ATRRER
EMIENR o FIL > A EBBARZEET
B A P AR L VB B A B 20081 B 1HEE
ESNBRASROKREHMBING -

R20244F K%2023F 128318 T EFH A
EBRRFPEAERIINKEBREELH
FRELRA (BHEMBINK FIEENE
MRBRELERIBE - EETRA ZEWB
RERARBRAARTEEEERER

BIRWEMBRE - R2024F12831H > I
FAEFREKRERBABDERBERAMNG
HEERIELCRBEEENEBEBOA A
E#15,573,311,00070 (2023%F 1 AR
20,196,286,0007T) °

AR BERRIKMYERE
PRFE o

I RE RS IRAE
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33. SHARE CAPITAL 33. g4
Shares & 1%
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AREFT
Authorised: JERE
100,000,000,000 ordinary shares 100,000,000,000& &R E &
of HK$0.1 each B0 TR ZEAS 8,813,679 8,813,679
Issued and fully paid: BEETERHERE
6,543,909,500 (2023: 6,543,909,500) 6,543,909,5000% (20234 :
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each 6,543,909,500/%) SR EE
B0 TN EER 559,947 559,947
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital and KANBlzBRARKMD REBRES U T

share premium account is as follows:

Number of Share
shares Issued premium
in issue capital account Total
BRITROHHE BRITRE R B ER st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETT ARETT

At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, 1202351818 ~ 20235128318

1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 20241 B1H K2024F12831H  6,543,909,500 559,947 1,008,439 1,568,386
Note: F = -
No dividend has been proposed for the years end 31 December 2024 and B E2024F KX2023F12B31H L FE > S EmE IR
2023. Bo
Share options HEAG R
Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share KRelEREABRBESTET ZEBR
options issued under the scheme are included in note 34 to the HHEFEBHN G BRERMEE34-

consolidated financial statements.
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE 34. lBAgEsT8) R & {n IR Eh 5121

AWARD SCHEME

Share option scheme - 2010 and 2020
Scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “2010
Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards
to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the
Group’s operations. Eligible participants of the 2010 Scheme
include the Company’s directors and other employees of the
Group. The 2010 Scheme became effective on 24 May 2010
and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in
force for 10 years from that date. The 2010 Scheme expired on
23 May 2020, but the share options already granted under the
2010 Scheme before its expiration remain valid. The maximum
number of unexercised share options currently permitted to be
granted under the 2010 Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon
their exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at
any time.

The maximum number of shares issuable under share options
to each eligible participant in the 2010 Scheme within any
12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess
of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general
meeting.

A new share option scheme was adopted by the Company on
4 June 2020 (the “2020 Scheme”). Unless otherwise cancelled
or amended, the 2020 Scheme will remain valid and effective for
10 years from the date of adoption.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive directors. In addition, any share
options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based on the price
of the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5
million, within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’
approval in advance in a general meeting.

BB Rg 151 8] — 20104 2 2020F 1 &

ANBRBE-EERKRESE (F2010F 5t
g2 EERALEBREB I RNELE
MzEeERSRERERZB AR 2010
FHBIZ2 A ERSHEQEARATESRER
KEBEMES -2010F 518 71 2010F5
B4R RERN  BRIFEBUHTER] TR
HZ AR TERRIFTEN2010E 52
ER2020F5823H &E M > MR 2010F 5t
ERMAERHZERENAER -RIE
20104F st B IR BF 0] 4% HH B9 & oK 17 65 P8 R 4
2EREHEANEENETERGEERAT®
EAFEZEETRB10%ZHE -

EEM12ERMEARF2010F582E
UEEMSZREZBREZITFETRN
Es#E UEAR28REAREZE T
IRD1% BB NE-—FREBEILRE
BREBERIAGLEREAME

KAFR2020F6 H4 0 R — 1A ¥ R AR 1
st (T 2020F 5t 8))) < FRIFSTRUHRE
5] 2020 St EIERMZ HE10ENA N
e L3 e

RIFERFEF - THRENIEREY
REEABMBAZBEREREBIIFNT
EFFAME LI REFI2ER HE
N HRFEARBDEIERRNBILIFANTT
EFRRSEVHEAZETERESS
ARBDEMNFBEZEETRMN0.1%IRE
RELAMELAFAKRNERAEZRBER
i 78155,000,0007T BIZBERRICREAR
gLERHME
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE

AWARD SCHEME (Continued)

Share option scheme - 2010 and 2020
Scheme (Continued)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
28 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
Directors, and commences after a vesting period and ends on
a date which is not later than ten years from the date of offer
of the share options or the expiry date of the 2010 Scheme, if
earlier.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
Directors, but may not be less than the higher of (i) the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on
the date of offer of the share options; and (ii) the average Hong
Kong Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for
the five trading days immediately preceding the date of offer.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends
or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

REMBHRRME®

31 December 2024 2024 12H31H

4. fBietEst 8 K iz 2R 51 8 ()

BB RS 512 —20104F K 2020F 121
€)
BHBERE>BNTRE-H 0 BHE
THNRNBAEABALALEREALE
WA T R o PR IS B R > (T 1B
PHEESED UREBHEBRG RRE
BERBRESNABES+ER2010E 5
BERAMEE UREEAE) o

BREZOCEEREFEE BEARER
UTz8eE () F2ERNNEREZYN
HBREEBMIFAZWHE,; R(iNERE
RONREESNHHRILEXSZAEES
$ 2P 2 WA E o

BREIARFEAEABBRREXINRE
RERBZEH -

2024 2023

Weighted Weighted

average average
exercise Number of exercise Number of
price options price options
InFs FRRgtE METs feie e
18 ¥ 1B =

HK$ HK$

per share per share

ShEkT FhEET
At 1 January R1B1H 3.543 111,419,600 3.509 139,562,300
Granted during the year FREH - = = =
Lapsed during the year FREXR 3.226 (7,351,600 3.377 (28,142,700)
Cancelled during the year FREEH - - - -
At 31 December ®12B31H 3.565 104,068,000 3.543 111,419,600
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE 34. BB ES B KRR RRIETE @
AWARD SCHEME (Continued)
Share option scheme - 2010 and 2020 BB IR 518 — 20104 20204 51 &I
Scheme (Continued) €=))
The exercise price and exercise period of the share options AR & HA R 45 SR RF20104F K 20204 51 8118
outstanding under the 2010 and 2020 Scheme as at the end of THRTEZEREZ TEERITEHRRB
the reporting period are as follows: wr:

Exercise price

Number of options HKS$ per share Exercise period
TEE
BREHE BRABT 1TEHAM
2024 2023

- 217,720 1.9830 01-01-2017 to 31-12-2023
190,200 190,200 1.892 21-01-2018 to 20-01-2025
- 226,590 1.930 01-01-2019 to 31-12-2023
566,000 566,000 1.812 27-01-2019 to 27-01-2026
1,656,300 1,656,300 1.892 21-01-2020 to 20-01-2025
3,396,000 3,396,000 2.620 26-01-2020 to 26-01-2027
1,000,000 1,000,000 4.550 20-07-2020 to 21-07-2027
- 1,207,290 1.930 01-01-2021 to 31-12-2023
5,488,000 5,668,000 5.880 25-01-2021 to 25-01-2028
2,827,500 2,842,500 1.812 27-01-2021 to 27-01-2026
2,707,500 2,707,500 1.892 21-01-2022 to 20-01-2025
6,476,000 6,796,000 3.650 24-01-2022 to 24-01-2029
3,062,000 3,087,000 2.620 26-01-2022 to 26-01-2027
750,000 750,000 4.550 20-07-2022 to 21-01-2027
8,683,200 9,391,200 4.274  22-01-2023 to 22-01-2030
4,116,000 4,251,000 5.880 25-01-2023 to 25-01-2028
2,827,500 2,842,500 1.812 27-01-2023 to 27-01-2026
4,857,000 5,097,000 3.650 24-01-2024 to 24-01-2029
3,062,000 3,087,000 2.620 26-01-2024 to 26-01-2027
750,000 750,000 4.550 26-07-2024 to 20-07-2027
11,862,000 12,902,000 2.774 28-01-2024 to 08-01-2031
6,512,400 7,043,400 4.274  22-01-2025 to 22-01-2030
4,116,000 4,251,000 5.880 25-01-2025 to 25-01-2028
4,857,000 5,097,000 3.650 24-01-2026 to 24-01-2029
8,896,500 9,676,500 2.774 28-01-2026 to 28-01-2031
6,512,400 7,043,400 4.274 22-01-2027 to 22-01-2030
8,896,500 9,676,500 2.774 28-01-2028 to 28-01-2031

104,068,000 111,419,600
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND SHARE

AWARD SCHEME (Continued)

Share option scheme - 2010 and 2020
Scheme (Continued)

Notes:

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 104,068,000 (2023:
111,419,600) share options outstanding under the 2010 and 2020 Scheme.
The exercise in full of the outstanding share options would, under the
present capital structure of the Company, result in the issue of 104,068,000
(2023: 111,419,600) additional ordinary shares of the Company and
additional share capital of appropriately RMB9,637,113 (2023: 10,097,067)
and share deficit of RMB2,505,649 (2023: share premium of RMB302,912)
(before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company had
74,413,000 (2023: 79,164,600) share options outstanding under the 2010
Scheme and 29,655,000 (2023: 32,255,000) share options outstanding
under the 2020 Scheme, which represented approximately 1.59% (2023:
1.70%) of the Company’s shares in issue as at that date.

Share award scheme

The Company operates a share award scheme (the “Share
Award Scheme”) which was adopted by an ordinary resolution
of the shareholders of the Company on 29 September 2020.
Unless otherwise cancelled or amended, the Share Award
Scheme will remain valid and effective for 10 years from the
date of adoption. The specific objectives of the scheme are (i)
to promote the long-term sustained growth in the shareholder
value of the Group; (ii) to recognise the contributions by certain
outstanding Employees and to provide them with incentives
in order to retain them for the continual operation and
development of the Group; and (jii) to attract outstanding talents
in the industry for further development of the Group.

The Share Award Scheme is operated by an independent
trustee which holds the shares in trust for the selected
participants, until the shares become vested. The shares to be
awarded under the Share Award Scheme will be acquired by the
trustee from the open market. The shares granted will be vested
in the proportions and on the dates as set out in the relevant
letters of grant issued by the Company. Vested shares will be
transferred to the selected participants at no cost save that
transaction fees and expenses will be payable by the selected
participants as transferees.

As at 31 December 2024, the number of the Company’s shares
held under the share award scheme account is 10,324,504
(2023: 10,324,504). None of the shares purchased has been
awarded under the Share Award Scheme.

34.

REMBHRRME®

31 December 2024 2024 12H31H

e B fE st 8 K Ae 7 B2 51 8 ()

BE RS 152 — 20104F K 2020F 5121
()
fFsE -

IR EARI 45 SR B - R A B 720104 K 20204 5t 818
T7&104,068,000 (20234 : 111,419,600) 5 BE A& &
RETHE-RIBAABIREEARE BHITEE R
TR B EEIMNEE1T104,068,000 (20234 ©
111,419,600) RAA B EBER R ELBINEENOAR
#9,637,1137¢ (20234 : AR#10,097,06770) K&
P4 AR 12,505,6497T (20234 : R HEBARE
302,91270) CRIOBREEITRASD) ©

RZSEMBRREMEZR > AQRFA74,413,000

(20234 : 79,164,600) 192010 5t BB T & K471
% B2 7 529,655,000 (20234 : 32,255,000) 192020
FHBETERTEERE BENEAATNEBREH
TR 491.59% (20234 : 1.70%) °

B 2B st 21
RABRBE—ERMDER TR (TRMDER
8l  AABRREN2020F9F297 U E
BRBERNEZTE - BRIEBITEHAE
5T TRIRD LB ST B B B4 B HBRE 5T
10FE#MBEBENREN AN EEEW
AI()VREAEERFEEERPFELERE
(IWEEETEFEINERRAETERN
FECEREREORSRERB LUEE R
L RiNVARERNE P ERPSIITE
BFEANT o

ROEBFEHBIZEANEE  FUE
AVAREREEZRERFAERNG BE
ROBEBRL-ZEARBBLARTHEBA
RERODEBABRBETFHRG -FARHY
ZROBEEAATFMELN BRI TER
R AFERNLEARSEBEREE -
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2RE - EAAXZERRBAXEHER
2RELDAZATMDZM-

R2024F12B31H ARBRKRMDER
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35.

36.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(i) Statutory surplus reserve

° Transfers from retained profits to the statutory
surplus reserve were made in accordance with
the relevant PRC rules and regulations and the
articles of association of the Group’s subsidiaries
established in the PRC, and were approved by the
respective boards of directors.

(ii) Capital reserve

° Certain amount of gain or loss arising from the
acquisition of non-controlling interests and disposal
of the Group’s subsidiaries without loss of control
was recognised as capital reserve.

(iii) Revaluation reserve

o Certain amount of gain or loss arising from the
transfer of owner-occupied properties to investment
properties and fair value changes in financial assets
at FVTOCI.

SENIOR PERPETUAL SECURITIES

On 29 September 2017, the Company issued senior perpetual
securities with a principal amount of US$300,000,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB1,911,986,000).

The securities confer the holders a right to receive distributions
at the applicable distribution rate of 5.375% per annum from
and including 29 March 2018 to 29 September 2022 and
12.487% per annum from 29 September 2022, payable semi-
annually on 29 March and 29 September of each year. The
Company may, at its sole discretion, elect to defer a distribution
pursuant to the terms of the securities. Unless and until the
Company satisfies in full all outstanding arrears of distribution
and any additional distribution amount, the Company shall not
declare or pay any dividends, distributions or make payment
on, and will procure that no dividend or other payment is made
on or redeem, reduce, cancel, buy-back or acquire for any
consideration any share capital thereof. The securities may be
redeemed at the option of the Company, in whole but not in
part.

35. f#fA

FEERAEERBEEENEESER
HEBHIRRGERERHR-
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(ii)

(iii)

36.
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SENIOR PERPETUAL SECURITIES (Continued)  36. 1= 4k 7k &E:8 55 (@)
In the opinion of the Directors, the Company is able to control EERA ARBBENEFRERLSE
the delivery of cash or other financial assets to the holders of MIEERZIIMNBEINIREHNE MR
the senior perpetual securities due to redemption other than an BETEMKESFESFTE A REIL &k
unforeseen liquidation of the Company. Accordingly, the senior BESDEEARBAHE@m T A
perpetual securities are classified as equity instruments of the
Company.
PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH 37. BEEARIEIEREHENIIEEE
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING MiE AT
INTERESTS
Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material non- BEEARFEREGNAEENRB AR
controlling interests are set out below: FEMAT
Hefei
Eastern Suzhou
Town Shunhong
As at 31 December 2024 120245 12H31H A BRI B M 55 95
Percentage of equity interest held by HIFERERFENREES DL
non-controlling interests 35% 49%
Hefei
Eastern Suzhou
Town Shunhong
& BB SR BN R 5
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT AR%TT
(Loss)/profit for the year allocated to DEEIFEREANFE (BB
non-controlling interests #)8 (134,295) 402
Accumulated balances of HIEEREm AN RETEREE
non-controlling interests 712,236 971,095
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37. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS (Continued)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial
information of the above subsidiaries. The amounts disclosed

37. BEEXRIEERERNIERZE
HEYNGINC )

TRIITLEEMBRABD ZHBERHE -
FIBESRANFENERRRAT BN

are before any inter-company eliminations: THATHI & 28 -
Hefei
Eastern Suzhou
Town Shunhong
& BRI % M 5795
RMB’000 RMB’000
2024 20245 ARBTRE ARBTR
Revenue WA 15,263 2,226
Total expenses B 2 48 %8 (398,964) (1,407)
(Loss)/profit for the year FE (B8 FE (383,701) 819
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year £E 2@ (B518) /W5 42%E (383,701) 819
Current assets MENE E 2,134,202 2,031,519
Non-current assets ERBEE 635,508 4
Current liabilities mENBE (348,317) (20,051)
Non-current liabilities EREBERE (29,226) -
Net cash flows generated from KEEEFPIBREREFRE
operating activities 376 63
Net cash flows generated from investing KREGTHMERESERETE
activities - -
Net cash flows used in financing activities  BYE ZEFFRIR S A E 75 - -
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents IR&RIRESLEEBYILINHEE 376 63

Details of the Group’s subsidiary that has material non-

RBEFEREEAFEREGNEER

controlling interests in prior year are set out below: WEASEIEEHMWT -
Hefei
Eastern Suzhou
Town Shunhong
As at 31 December 2023 ®2023%F12831H B AEER 1 EERNEEDL
Percentage of equity interest held by HIEERERSAENRER DL
non-controlling interests 35% 49%
Hefei
Eastern Suzhou
Town Shunhong
=B I BR N 58 5
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR¥EFT
Loss for the year allocated to PEEIFZEREGNFESE
non-controlling interests (93,672) (57,711)
Accumulated balances of HIEERE R AN RETERRE
non-controlling interests 846,531 970,693
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37. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH

38.

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS (Continued)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial
information of the above subsidiaries. The amounts disclosed

37. EEEARFIERERNIFRE

M A E @

TRIITEAEMBRBD ZHBEREE -
FIBETRANFRENERRRATBNIE

are before any inter-company eliminations: THATHI 48 -
Hefei
Eastern Suzhou
Town Shunhong
EIEEM BRNSE R
RMB’000 RMB’000
2023 20234 ARETT ARBF T
Revenue N 31,682 3,764
Total expenses B2 4858 (299,316) (121,420)
Loss for the year FEEIE (267,634) (117,656)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FE2HEEIEHEE (267,634) (117,656)
Current assets MEMEE 2,816,445 2,527,219
Non-current assets ERBEE 682,776 7
Current liabilities MENAE (690,942) (516,566)
Net cash flows used in operating activities £ 8RR M2 758 (5,026) (1,767)
Net cash flows generated from REEHFFELERSREFHE
investing activities 59 =
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents IR& KIS EEYR/L FEE (4,967) (1,767)

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
Business combinations

(i)  In the current year
The Group had not any business combination and neither
revenue nor profit contributed by related activities to the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

(i)  In the prior year

On 25 September 20283, the Group acquired a 70%
interest in Jiangmen Maogqian. After the completion of the
transaction, Jiangmen Maogian has become a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group. Jiangmen Maogian
is engaged in property development in the PRC. The
purchase consideration for the said acquisition was
RMB116,667,000, which was satisfied by cash.

38. Y HEH B 2 El

XBatt
i) HEE

REE2024F12831HEFE» K&
BUETEHEREGH TEMERIH
AREBFRITANF] B

(i) EF—FE

R2023F 98250 KAEBWET
FIRE70%Em o R B EME LM
REMARAERNEZENBAR
MR EZRPEKREEMEE
oW BENEEREAARE
116,667,0007c > UIREZ (T o
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38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

(ii)

In the prior year (Continued)

On 30 March 2023, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company (as the purchaser) performed the
transaction with an independent third party (as the
vendor), involving the acquisition of 66.67% of the
equity interest in Zhuhai Coastal (the “Acquired
Interest”), at a consideration of RMB120,000,000 and
to procure the settlement of the shareholder’s loan at
a consideration of RMB760,000,000. The aggregate
consideration of RMB880,000,000 for the Acquired
Interest and the shareholder’s loan shall be satisfied by
the purchaser by way of (1) transferring the entire equity
interest in Shanghai Coastal Commercial Investment
Management Company Limited, a company established
in the PRC with limited liability and a direct wholly-
owned subsidiary of the purchaser, to the vendor at
a consideration of RMB350,000,000; (2) transferring
the entire equity interest held by the Company in
Shenyang Zhongguang North Film and Television City
Company Limited (“Shenyang Zhongguang”), a company
established in the PRC with limited liability and a 91%
owned subsidiary of the purchaser, to the vendor at a
consideration of RMB360,000,000; and (3) a payment in
cash to the vendor in the amount of RMB170,000,000.
Zhuhai Coastal will also be jointly liable for payment of
RMB170,000,000 to the vendor in cash. Further details
are set out in the Company’s circular dated 30 March
2023.

Above transaction completed on 18 October 2023
and the Group acquired the 66.67% interest of Zhuhai
Coastal at aggregate consideration of RMB880,740,000
eventually, which was satisfied by the purchaser by
the same ways as mentioned before except for the
transferred interest in Shenyang Zhongguang was 100%.
Meanwhile, the Acquired Interest and the settlement
of the shareholder’s loan were at the consideration of
RMB36,191,000 and RMB844,549,000 respectively.
Zhuhai Coastal is engaged in property development in the
PRC.

38. WHEMIB A E) @)
EBEaH®

(ii)

L—FE (#B)

R20283F3830H » & A B — [t [E %
EWNBRE (FAEH) B—%BET
FZhH (FRBER) TR H RN
KRB AR 120,000,0007T U B8 %
HE66.67%RIRRE (TWEEREZR]) -
AR fE LB AR #760,000,0007T
BEEREET WEEGEBREER
2R EAANE®880,000,0007T
BHRHEAUTH ARSI ((1)URE
AR #350,000,0007c A 5 /5 E:E
BABAKREEERARRAE (—ERAF
BmiIzBRAAKREAZEESE
WEBAB) NEERE ;Q)UREA
FE#360,000,000c A B 5 #EEAA
BB ERTREILSEENERAR
(FEBTE] > —BRTPERIIZE
BABKRBEAEEIN % ER B A
B)MEBRE; RGUREEEH
S AR®170,000,0007 c BB H
BTEBAEUREAEASZTARE
170,000,000t EHEF-E—F
BN ARR HEEA2023%F3830
HB9GE R o

FH A ZR2023F10818H &
B AEEBRRKUBERBARE
880,740,000 K EEERBH BN
66.67%m > MEHMUAIMAER SR
THRE HEGTENEEER S
100% - EIR > WD R BEERRE
TR ED A AR36,191,0007T
KB ARBE844,549,0007T c BB K
RAEREEREER-
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38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

(ii)  In the prior year (Continued)

The fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities of these
entities as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

38. IWHEMI B A E) @)

EBZaH®

(i) L—FE #)
ZEERIUANBEREBRKER
HNARBNT :

Fair value recognised on acquisition

PHBEEERAZARE
Jiangmen Zhuhai
Maogian Coastal Total
IFRE Kighs s
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Mok AREFR ARBTT ARETR
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE KRG 14 44 - 44
Properties under development TEME 750,000 2,592,400 3,342,400
Prepayments, other receivables and ~ FEI - EtEWFEREMEE
other assets 105,069 968,840 1,073,909
Prepaid land appreciation tax B L HIEER 4,546 = 4,546
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 28,015 80,361 108,376
Trade payables BRENTE (3,523) (1,066) (4,589)
Other payables and accruals HMENREREHER (865,659) (2,462,776) (3,328,435)
Contract liabilities Er )L (144,839) - (144,839)
Interest-bearing bank and FERTREMBEE
other borrowings - (974,960) (974,960)
Deferred tax liabilities FIEREER 32 - (52,904) (52,904)
Total identifiable net assets MAnEFRZIHEESERE
at fair value (126,347) 149,895 23,548
Non-controlling interests e s - (49,960) (49,960)
Goodwill on acquisition WEEL2BE 205,110 - 205,110
Bargain purchase gain on acquisiton ~ WEEEZ ABEEN R - (63,744) (63,744)
78,763 36,191 114,954
Satisfied by: MUTHAAL
Cash & 116,667 170,740 287,407
Consideration of transferring RS BERE AR RN IAE
the shares of subsidiaries
to the acquiree 39 - 710,000 710,000
Assignment of loan BEED - (844,549) (844,549)
Reclassification from a pre-existing BRAEARALHEERRENNE
interest in a joint venture to ER—EHREARNEE
investment in a subsidiary (37,904) - (37,904)
78,763 36,191 114,954
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38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

38. WHEMIB A E) @)
EBEaH®

(ii)

In the prior year (Continued)

The fair values of the other receivables as at the date
of acquisition amounted to RMB810,699,000. The
gross contractual amounts of other receivables were
RMB810,699,000 and none of which is expected to be

(ii)

L—FE (#B)
HMEKZTEBEBRKEBSENAAES
AR #810,699,0007T o H 1th FE W =X
BHREENEEAARS810,699,000
T FREAE P A B BBy & B8 ©

uncollectible.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisitions
of these entities are as follows:

WBZEFEBNRERESNAOT !

Jiangmen Zhuhai
Maoqian Coastal Total
PR Ez b7 SRR wst
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR% Tt AREFT AR%FT
Cash consideration HERE (116,667) (170,740) (287,407)
Cash and cash equivalents TN EIRESRIRESEEY
acquired 28,015 80,361 108,376
Net outflow of cash and cash ETARKREEZEFIELIREN
equivalents included in cash &2 IRERIRESEEYR
flows from investing activities 3 H%8 (88,652) (90,379) (179,031)

Since the acquisitions, the revenue and loss contributed
by these entities to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss for the year ended 31 December 2023 were
RMB167,000 and RMB2,096,000, respectively.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of
the year, the revenue and the loss of the Group for
the year would have been RMB21,477,083,000 and
RMB14,315,889,000, respectively.

BUREE LI » IRE E2023F12831H
EtEE ZEEBRFaBERRER
WA REBED A ARE167,000
TR AR #2,006,0007T °

BEEBEBEREGEHNRENZRE  ~A&EH
RERBWAMBERE DA A
R#21,477,083,000 0 & AR &
14,315,889,0007T °
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39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 39. HEM B AR
2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
[z AR®TFT ARBFT
Net assets disposed of: EHEEEFE
Property, plant and equipment ME- -BEREZE 14 26 35
Investment in an associate REE A NKRE 118,403 630,000
Deferred tax assets IRIERIBEE E 32 - 6,318
Properties under development ey ES - 78,680
Properties held for sales FEHE RGN E - 159,665
Prepayments, other receivables and AR H AR U IE K
other assets Hh&EE 29,872 808,849
Land held for property development FEYEREHE RGN T
for sale - 1,401,811
Prepaid corporate income tax FEI I EFRER - 46,525
Cash and cash equivalents HERREEEY 201 47,501
Trade payables B ENIE = (112,143)
Other payables and accruals HAE R RIB M ESTE A (140,099) (1,264,561)
Contract liabilities s8R - (79,365)
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIBEE 32 - (299,616)
Non-controlling interests JEER T - (1,149)
8,403 1,422,550
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, net HENB AR W FEE 8 1,597 205,530
10,000 1,628,080
Satisfied by: UFHAEAZA:
Cash B& - 10,000
Wavier of shareholder’s loan HMERREM - 908,080
Part of the consideration of WE—ERB AN IE
acquisition of a subsidiary 38 - 710,000
Consideration receivables included FFAEMBWRIENEKRAE

in other receivables 10,000 -
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39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 39. HEMB AR @
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in ERAHENBLARZRERIRESEBY R
respect of the disposal of subsidiaries is as follows: ANFBZOMAT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTT AR®BTT
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of HENRERIRESEEY (201) (47,501)
Cash consideration received BUWIRERE - 10,000
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents BELTENRBARDZERERESSE
in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries L7/ iifunbe (201) (37,501)
40. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 40. IZERERERMEE
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Changes in liabilities arising from financing MEEBELENEEED
activities
Interest-
bearing Amounts
bank and due to non-
Dividend other Corporate Senior  controlling
payable  borrowings bonds notes shareholders
FHERITR FEfT IR

EfkE  EftEE  ARF%F  BARE  RRRE
RMB'000  RWMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR  ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR

At 1 January 2023 20231818 241,312 12,305,759 4,850,000 37,964,733 1,187,369
Changes from financing cash flows HERERELE - (1,733,896) (712,500) = (41,443)
Repayment of part of corporate bonds by &Mt BRTREMBEELEESH

increase in interest-bearing bank and ARES

other borrowings - 925,000 (925,000 - -
Capital reduction by non-controlling FERREAE

shareholders = = = = 81,165
Increase arising from acquisition of a BB B AR M (ZE38)

subsidiary (note 38) - 974,960 - - -
Amortized expense BiHmT - - = 107,253 =
Foreign exchange movement SNEEE) 3,491 140,161 - 647,887 -
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 1*2023F12831H &20245181H 244,803 12,611,984 3,212,500 38,719,873 1,227,091
Changes from financing cash flows HERENEEY - (1,684,842 (337,500) = (194,733)
Increase in dividend payable e S 900 = = = =
Capital reduction by non-controlling FERRRAE

shareholders - - - - 150,893
Amortized expense By - - - 2,133 =
Foreign exchange movement SNEEE) 5,353 28,265 = 67,809 =

At 31 December 2024 2024%12R31H 251,066 10,955,407 2,875,000 38,789,815 1,183,251
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41. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES

The Group had the following financial guarantees as at the end

of the reporting period:

REMBHRRME®

31 December 2024 2024 12H31H

1. BFHHER

FEERBRSHBERFNMFEROT !

2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Mok AREBTT AREBTT
Guarantees in respect of the mortgage T AEBYENETERIZMH
facilities provided to certain purchasers IR 8 R MIEH HIER
of the Group’s properties (@) 11,450,961 18,807,957
Guarantees given to banks and other MEENEERNRERRITR
lenders in connection with facilities Hi B ARENER
granted to joint ventures (b) 52,920 195,623
Guarantees given to banks and other MEE AEEENRERIRITR
lenders in connection with facilities HtmERAREER
granted to associates (b) 888,939 871,204
Guarantees given to banks and other METREHERNEEMER
lenders in connection with facilities BERRITREMERARED
granted to certain contractors for 1R
construction cost (c) 6,755 8,458
Guarantees given to financial institutions AL = HERNRE N
in connection with facilities granted to ZRIE B IR VIR
independent third parties (d) 4,798,421 4,721,651
17,197,996 24,604,893

Notes:

(a) As at 31 December 2024, the Group provided guarantees in (a)

respect of mortgage facilities granted by certain banks relating to
the mortgage loans arranged for certain purchasers of the Group’s
properties. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon default
on mortgage payments by these purchasers before the expiry of the
guarantees, the Group is responsible for repaying the outstanding
mortgage principals together with the accrued interest and penalties

owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks, net of any auction

proceeds as described below.

120245128310 AEBEME TRITRHH
ERATEREMENETERZHNRIBER
NEZBRMERHER REBEFRER HZF
BRNEREMAIREEERBRE AEE
BEEHEENERRIARITHRERRBEL
T E SR B R SR EREA T XA 89
HEMSME-
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41. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(a) (Continued)

Pursuant to the above arrangement, the related properties were
pledged to the banks as collateral for the mortgage loans, and
upon default on mortgage repayments by these purchasers, the
banks are entitled to take over the legal titles and will realise the
pledged properties through open auction. The Group is responsible
for repaying the banks when the proceeds from the auction of
the properties cannot cover the outstanding mortgage principals
together with the accrued interest and penalties. In addition,
according to the relevant agreements signed by certain subsidiaries
of the Group with the banks, property purchasers of the Group
can arrange mortgage with these banks and the subsidiaries are
required to place at designated bank accounts certain amounts as
deposits for potential default of mortgage loans advanced to property
purchasers. Such guarantee deposits will be released after the
property ownership certificates of the relevant properties have been
passed to the bank. At 31 December 2024, such deposits amounted
to RMB12,225,000 (2023: RMB13,912,000) (note 24(c)(i)).

The Group’s guarantee period starts from the dates of grant of
the relevant mortgage loans and ends upon the issuance of real
estate ownership certificates to the purchasers, which will generally
be available within one to two years after the purchasers take

possession of the relevant properties.

The Directors consider that the fair value of the guarantees at initial
recognition and the ECL allowance are not significant, and in case of
default on payments, the net realisable value of the related properties
can cover the repayment of the outstanding mortgage principals

together with the accrued interest and penalties.

(b) As at 31 December 2024, the Group provided the financial
guarantees to banks and other lenders in connection with facilities
granted to joint ventures and associates amounted to approximately
RMB52,920,000 (31 December 2023: RMB195,623,000) and
RMB888,939,000 (31 December 2023: RMB871,204,000)
respectively. The provision for ECLs on the financial guarantees
were valued by Valtech Valuation Advisory Limited, an independent
professional qualified valuer, on 31 December 2024 and the ECLs
allowance for joint ventures and associates of approximately
RMB106,534,000 in total (2023: RMB118,375,000) were recognised
as at 31 December 2024. Further details are set out in note 27 to the

consolidated financial statements.

41. BAFEER @

Mzt @ ()

(@)

(&)

REU EZH BRAMECEARBERNIE
HEMIEEFRT RRFERKEEERS
MIERIRTEEBUBCEEERE TRBEBA
HRESRIKFENE  EVMEREFREHNEE
FEHAEENREASEREAERIR
B AIASEEBEERIRTEMR LI RIEE
EEETHBARRBITEENEREGBE &
EEMNMEERTZHEZERITRIB 2%
MBABERE THAENREEFE AL TRTIE
FrEBBENEBREXNZMIRITRIBER
HEE 2ERRRESENEEAVENRES
RFiR1TE 7 O fRBR 0 1220245 12831H > &%
£ e A ARE12,225,0007 (2023%F : AR
#13,912,0007t) (MfsE24(c)(i)) °

FEEZEFRARRLERIZBERZ BHE
EMERFHFESIRL —RMSHEHK
BEZ-EMER-

EXRDLFRERNEBRNERIFNAAERE
AEERREBBIFER HWERKREIMAM
EEMYENTTERFEREUIRHEERMR
BRIBATERME SR B RER -

R2024F 12831 H ZEBE DM EE KB
ENFERNMEQBRTREMER AR
HEFEIERO AR #52,920,0007T (20234F
128310 : AR#195,623,0007T) R AR
888,939,000 (20234128310 : AR
871,204,0007T) - BUFXSEREEM AR
FEBERABNR2024F 12831 B H M BIER
HFEHRfE BB A BEHETMAE  MH20245F12
A ERIEERBMEABTINERESIBLE
#H# AR ¥106,534,0007T (20234 : AR
118,375,0007t) c E—FHBEHN GRS M HER
RMIFE27 0
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41. FINANCIAL GUARANTEES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c)

As at 31 December 2024, the guarantees given by the Group
to certain banks in respect of construction cost in favour of
certain contractors of Group amounted to RMB6,755,000 (2023:
RMB8,458,000).

On 17 March 2021, 22 June 2021 and 7 September 2021, the
Group provided financial guarantees to independent third parties
(the “Cooperation Party”) to approximately US$667,000,000 and
the guaranteed loans carry interest at a rate ranging from 6% to
10.5% per annum for venturing into a financing project, in which the
Cooperation Party would be the borrower and the Company acted
as the guarantor. The provision for ECL on the financial guarantees
were valued by Valtech Valuation Advisory Limited, an independent
professional qualified valuer, on 31 December 2024 and a ECL
allowance of US$293,704,000 (equivalent to RMB2,112,919,000)
(2023: US$259,009,000 (equivalent to RMB1,833,507,000)) was
recognised as at 31 December 2024. Further details are set out in
note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

42. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the Group’s assets pledged for the Group’s interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings and senior notes are
included in notes 28 and 30 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.

43.

COMMITMENTS

(@)

The Group had the following capital and other
commitments as at the end of the reporting period:

REMBHRRME®

31 December 2024 2024 12H31H

41. BAFEIER @)

Mzt @ ()

42,

43.

()

R2024F12B31H AEBERAERBE T RE
BAZEEREAETROTERENERAARK
6,755,0007T (20234 : AR #§8,458,0007T) ©

202138178 ~ 2021456 822H %202149
AR AEEEBULE=S ((GEA) RBRHH
667,000,000 Tt T B IER > BRERAZEN
TEF6E105E LERMEMEEE > &1F
FiRAREIEENMERS  MAARREEE
BRA-BIHREXECERGEMSRTEERL
BlR2024F 12831 HHEMBERVBEHEE
B BEBETHE MWR2024F 12831 AR
TEHA(S 38 #E#5293,704,000%= 7t (FEE R A
K 1%2,112,919,0007%) (20234 : 259,009,000
=7t (FBER AR 1,833,507,0007T)) o #E—
THBRN e M FRERM 27 -

EEER
UAEBEERITFNAEBFTERITRE
MEEREBAEERFBEDENMHERE
Mts£28 %30 °

AR

(a)

FEBRRBERRNE LR HEMEE
LI

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETIT
Contracted, but not provided for: ERESIEESZ L
Investment properties under ERREMERTEDE
construction and properties
under development 7,868,308 9,803,547
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43. COMMITMENTS (Continued) 43. A @)
(@)  (Continued) (a) (&)
In addition, the Group’s share of joint ventures and o REBRGLHEZE A REE A
associates’ own capital commitments, which are not BEBAENEAREE (ERBEFER £
included in the above, is as follows: AW
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFIT
Contracted, but not provided for BEHERER 3,374,380 5,012,162
44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 4. AEFR S
(a) In addition to the transactions and balances detailed (@) MEZEVBEHRFTEMICDFMET]
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had RGP REFIN FRARNEEEREE
the following transactions with related parties during the FHZZWMTF
year:
2024 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M AREFT ARETF T
Service fees paid to Xiamen T FEMMEERRDS
Zongheng Group Company BRAGANRD &
Limited (i) 22,388 46,124
Service fees paid to Xiamen IR FEFREREEERE
Qihuiyitong Commercial BRABNRB &
Factoring Company Limited - 16
()  The service fees were incurred for the design, () EZRBFEAEMHUBREBRR®H
installation and testing of house entrance BERABMFEHEHERENY
intelligence systems provided by Xiamen Zongheng EREHEEMAEAZORT T
Group Company Limited in relation to properties ERASER EREEHMER
held for sale, at rates mutually agreed between the ST RHERE - BPFIMEER
relevant parties. Xiamen Zongheng Group Company BHERARD A —HHMER
Limited is a company controlled by brother of Mr. EENBEBESNRE -

Lam Lung On.
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44. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(0)

Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group

In the opinion of the Company’s directors, the directors
and the chief executive officer of the Company
represented the key management personnel of the Group
and details of the compensation of the key management
personnel are set out in note 9 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Certain of the bank and other borrowings of the Group’s
joint ventures and associates are secured by pledges
over the Group’s equity interests in the joint ventures
and associates with an aggregate carrying amount
at the end of the reporting period of RMB25,500,000
(2023: RMB33,500,000) and RMB1,692,581,000 (2023:
RMB1,025,100,000), respectively.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group provided guarantees
to bank and other lenders in connection with facilities
granted to joint ventures and associates, which amounted
to RMB52,920,000 (2023: RMB195,623,000) and
RMB888,939,000 (2023: RMB871,204,000), respectively
(note 41).

The related party transactions in respect of the service
fees paid to Xiamen Zongheng Group Company Limited
also constitute continuing connected transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

REMBHRRME®

31 December 2024 2024 12H31H

4. FAEHF X5 @

(b)

FEBTEEEE A SR9E

TRABDEFRR  FRARAEFRITH
MEEAEERNTIEEERAG X
EEERBASHINFBEHENGSH
BRI FEQ

AEBGERDABELRTINEG T
BTREMEEULAEERREE R
BIREBENATANRE (PRIREHERD
IREABED A ARE25,500,0007T
(20234 :33,500,000) R AR
1,692,581,0007T (2023%F : AR
1,025,100,0007%) ) 1EIK# o

R2024F12831H A EBMEE
NE)RBE R ERNRERIRT
REMERANRENERSED R
A ANR#52,920,0007 (20234 :
AR #195,623,0007T) R AR
888,939,0007 (2023F | AR
871,204,0007t) (fff5sE41) °

BN FTEPAMBRERRMNABRA
BAINRBENMES XS TEH LT
RABUAREENFERFAERS -
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 45. HEHESWERMITA
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RHREPEFR ZETHMTEANKEENT -

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2024

Financial assets

2024
ERIEE
Financial
assets at
FVTPL
BAREFA
BaiEmEE
Mandatorily Financial Financial
designated assets at assets at
as such FVTOCI amortised cost Total
BARERA
weakl  Ht2EkE REHEAETR
EEA HEMEE ZEMEE @
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT ARETFT AREFT ARBTFT

Financial assets included in prepayments,

BEERAT BMERTER

other receivables and other assets AthBEPNEHEE - - 21,460,265 21,460,265
Financial assets at FVTPL BRAAEABRNEREE 5,100 - - 5,100
Restricted cash TRERE - - 1,858,068 1,858,068
Cash and cash equivalents ReEhREEEY - - 1,119,141 1,119,141
Total st 5,100 - 24,437,474 24,442,574
Financial liabilities TRBE

Financial

liabilities at

amortised cost

A BR 2

ERaRE

RMB’000

AR%TT

Trade payables B2 R HIE 7,960,003
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals & EMEMZIBRESTERKN

Bt S=RE 20,706,834

Corporate bonds NEMES 2,875,000

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings SFEIRTTREMBE 10,955,407

Senior notes BLERE 38,789,815

Total

4Est 81,287,059
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31 December 2024 2024 12H31H

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 45. FEHB SN EM T A @
CATEGORY (Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RHREPFR ZETHMTANERENT -

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2023 20234
Financial assets EHMEE
Financial
assets at  Financial assets
FVTPL at FVTOCI
BAREHA
BAnERA  Htt2EbkEs
BENEREE EREE
Mandatorily Financial
designated Equity assets at
as such investments amortised cost Total
o BE A ATIR
BEA RERE JEREE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
N S AR®ETT AR®ETTT ARETT
Financial asset at FVTOCI BAfEtAEMZEREN
SHEE - 6,367 - 6,367
Financial assets included in prepayments,  BUEETEM - EtEWEIER
other receivables and other assets HtEETHNEREE - = 27,344,082 27,344,082
Financial assets at FVTPL BARESABRNEHEE 245,913 - - 245913
Restricted cash RRHIRE - - 1,368,808 1,368,808
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEEY - - 3,773,803 3,773,803
Total st 245913 6,367 32,486,693 32,738,973
Financial liabilities s of 3=
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
b g
BRASER 2
THEaE
RMB’000
AREET T
Trade payables B 5 A RIE 10,118,689
Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals B IEFF HEMENRIERESFE AN
it iR 17,706,289
Corporate bonds NEEF 3,212,500
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FFEETRAEMEE 12,611,984
Senior notes BEEER 38,719,873

Total “ast 82,369,335
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31 December 2024 20244 128331H

46. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 46. TR THEAN AR ERARERE
A

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments as at
31 December 2024 and 2023 approximated to their fair values.

Management has assessed that the fair values of other
receivables and other assets, restricted cash, cash and cash
equivalents, trade payables, other payables and accruals and
current portion of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short
term maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s finance department headed by the finance
manager is responsible for determining the policies and
procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The finance manager reports directly to the senior
management and the audit committee. At each reporting date,
the finance department analyses the movements in the values
of financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied
in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by
the senior management. The valuation process and results are
discussed with the audit committee twice a year for interim and
annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged
in a current transaction between willing parties, other than
in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and
assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

The Group uses fair values measured based on valuation
techniques for which any inputs which have a significant
effect on the recorded fair value are observable, either directly
or indirectly for determining and disclosing the fair value of
financial instruments. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
Group’s financial instruments were measured at fair value and
determined as level 2 financial instruments.

The Group did not have any significant financial assets
measured at fair value as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

AR

R2024F %2023F12H31H  AEE LR
TENKREBEREAABMESE-

EEENEEMBRRERAMEE Z
RERE - RERRESEY BIERIN
B HMENREBERESER St RIRTR
HMEENREE IR R ERREFNR
EERE TEHARZETARRRIE

FEERYBEERECMBTAMEaEE
EEMIEAAEFEZHRKRER -/
BREERASHREEERERZEEEE
R-MBHAPFINESBRSBHRIMERITER
BEZEFH TEERETERZIESR
ABEFE -sREEEERTH EME -BZ
ZEE—FMEATHAREEVBHRRSE
HiREEEERER

THEENREBBZAAENERIARA
X775 (MIFRBIBFEHEE) EARS
TZARZEBRAR T HERRR
BREERARE:

AERECRFEESRIEN AAER
DEREREATERAREEEATE Y
FESASBEYIEEABEBERER G
BRESEZARET2024F 220234
1283 1H  AEBSRIT AR A A ES
BONMEBTEAREEMIA

AEBER20244F %2023F 12831 H It #E/F
AR BIFENEREHEE-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

46. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The Group did not have any significant financial liabilities
measured at fair value as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

For the Group’s assets and liabilities not measured at fair value
in the consolidated statement of financial position but for which
the fair value is disclosed, the carrying amounts of the non-
current portion of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
approximated to their fair values and were determined as Level
3, and the fair values of the senior notes and corporate bonds
were RMB3,634,516,000 (2023: RMB3,170,547,000) and
RMB1,032,173,000 (2023: RMB2,239,938,000), respectively and
were determined as Level 1.

The fair values of the non-current portion of interest bearing
bank and other borrowings have been calculated by discounting
the expected future cash flows using rates currently available
for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities. The fair values of the senior notes and corporate
bonds are calculated with reference to price quotations from
financial institutions at the reporting date. The changes in fair
value as a result of the Group’s own non-performance risk for
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings as at 31 December
2024 were assessed to be insignificant.

The details of the valuation technique and the inputs used in
the fair value measurement of investment properties have been
disclosed in note 15.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial
liabilities (2023: Nil).

REMBHRRME®

31 December 2024 2024 12H31H

46. TMITANARERANERE

80

AEBER20244F %2023F 12831 H I #E/F
AR BEFENEREHERE -

MAEERGEYHFRIRANLIEUR
AEFEBREHEAAENEERAGRE:
TR REMESIENPHEOMER
BREAABHEE LEBEAFEIR-
BEEZBERATDBHFNAAED A A
R #3,634,516,0007C (20234 : AR
3,170,547,0007T) & AR #1,032,173,000
70 (20234 : AR#2,239,938,0007T) » I
EETEAEIR-

FERTREMESIEMBPT PN E
ThUFERR R R IBER  ERUBLMERE
ERREKFGFHANRITAMERTAN
MERBEMAE - BAERERAGAGESN
NABEL2ERGEHEMIBERESERR
B oR2024F12831H ZEBHNE
RITREMEENBEFTEARBERN
NABEBEHWITBTEK

KREMENBERD ERAALBFENE A
BB RN 164K EE -

FER-REHREERSHEEMS  ARE
AEUENFIREASEH B EEE
JREEE A oy B H EE34R (20234 ) o
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47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 47. BEEMERENEE RBE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise bank and
other borrowings and cash and short-term deposits. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for
the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as trade payables, which arise directly
from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are market risk, interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit
risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Market risk

The Group’s assets are predominantly in the form of land
held for property development for sale, investment properties,
properties under development and properties held for sale. In
the event of a severe downturn in the property market, these
assets may not be readily realised.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates. Other than
deposits held at banks, the Group does not have significant
interest-bearing assets. Restricted deposits were held at banks
in Mainland China at the same saving rate as unrestricted
deposits throughout the year. The Group’s exposure to the
risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the
Group’s bank and other borrowings with floating interest rates.
The Group has not used any interest rate swaps to hedge
its exposure to interest rate risk, and will consider hedging
significant interest rate risk should the need arise.

FEENTESMIAGERBITREME
EUARBREREHER -ZSEMIT AN
EZENRHIAEREELEES &
EEEEREHMERMEERER  HIU
REEPEREENEZBARIE.

FEENERIEMSIBNIEZERRAT
ZRB FERRAR SRR EERR R
RPEETRAB - EFCTERALRAEEME
EREZFRABOBE ZHRINT-

15 AL

AEBEENE BN A L0
ERRNTH - RENE ERMEREE
WERME - ANETH+HERNER
T RSEETETRER-

A& EL kR
FEENABOWMARBERERESTR
THNEEBFATE -RIBITERZI K
EETEEAGFEEE-RBEFERN T
Bl AR EIRITRRGIFHREIFEZIRGEFRROY
REMNEZEHR -FEEFRAREDHANEXRE
PINEBRIELAAERRIHMNEXARHN
RITRAMEERH - cEB L EGHE
] M) R 18 A DUH I B R R 0 ) B2 By
& E BEHERFKEAR -
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47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 47. B RAREENEEREBR @
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Interest rate risk (Continued) FMERE @
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of TRAPBEMBEMESERFTENEBR
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in interest TOREHABERFAEBGRAFEN
rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit MESEUEEHFNBRXE - FEBES
before tax. There is no material impact on other components of HNEMIBIFAITEATE-

the Group’s equity.

Increase/ Effect on
(decrease) profit
in basis points before tax
m GRL) HerfaiFHE
HEhg B 22
RMB’000
ARET T
2024 20244
Renminbi AR 50 (15,706)
Renminbi AR (50) 15,706
Hong Kong dollar Bk 50 (3,049)
Hong Kong dollar i (50) 3,049
United States dollar ET 50 (21,136)
United States dollar E7T (50) 21,136
2023 20234
Renminbi AR 50 (13,602)
Renminbi AR (50) 13,602
Hong Kong dollar et 50 (3,076)
Hong Kong dollar Bk (50) 3,076
United States dollar E7T 50 (20,669)

United States dollar ETT (50) 20,669
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47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 47. HEEAMEREMNEERKE @

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk

All of the Group’s revenue and substantially all of the Group’s
operating expenses are denominated in RMB, which is currently
not a freely convertible currency. The PRC Government imposes
controls on the convertibility of RMB into foreign currencies and,
in certain cases, the remittance of currency out of Mainland
China. Shortages in the availability of foreign currencies may
restrict the ability of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries to remit
sufficient foreign currencies to pay dividends or other amounts
to the Group.

Under the existing PRC foreign exchange regulations, payments
of current account items, including dividends, trade and
service-related foreign exchange transactions, can be made
in foreign currencies without prior approval from the State
Administration for the Foreign Exchange Bureau by complying
with certain procedural requirements. However, approval from
appropriate PRC governmental authorities is required where
RMB is to be converted into a foreign currency and remitted
out of Mainland China to pay capital account items, such as the
repayment of bank and other borrowings denominated in foreign
currencies.

Currently, the Group’s PRC subsidiaries may purchase foreign
currencies for settlement of current account transactions,
including payment of dividends to the Company, without prior
approval of the State Administration for Foreign Exchange
Bureau. The Group’s PRC subsidiaries may also retain
foreign currencies in their current accounts to satisfy foreign
currency liabilities or to pay dividends. Since foreign currency
transactions on the capital account are still subject to limitations
and require approval from the State Administration for Foreign
Exchange Bureau, this could affect the ability of the Group’s
subsidiaries to obtain required foreign exchange through debt
or equity financing, including by means of loans or capital
contributions from the Company.

S L B
FEBRENBAKRBABOEERXH
MARBSHE MARBEALIFRAF B
HEBHNEE - "TEBRFHEE ARER R
BHOAER (RBEBRT) REKEHDE
A B 5 00 & 1 o B] A Sh I BY A R ) AE FR
AEEB P E MR A E E W E 55N U E
FEERSZNRENAEMARIBRIFES

REBEREENTREIIEELZR KEREBEEN
TR (BERE B REARBEBOINE
) FETETREFERBALUNESET
A MEABEKIINEEEFE -
AM ARERIBDINERE R PEK
BEMN M EARER (LLMEEUSNEEHE
WIRITRHEMBEER) K> BAESARTEEK
T 1 RR B HE o

BR > AEBEBPNTEKEBABNBEEINE
UEBERBRAXS (BEBARAB TR
B) MEBEEERIIEEEDHNE LM M
FEENDTENEASTATHEERR
TEEFHNEUEENEERAZARE -
HREARPHNIINERZMARREE A
ERBIRIIEEEBNHAE  JERXEAL
EENBRADBBEHIRERE (BEFER
KRB EFERNH BRI I) EEFT &S
EERIBETT
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47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The Group’s financial assets and liabilities including certain
amounts due from/to related parties denominated in Hong Kong
dollars, certain short-term deposits denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and certain bank and other borrowings denominated
in Hong Kong dollars and United States dollars are subject to
foreign currency risk. Therefore, the fluctuations in the exchange
rates of RMB against foreign currencies could affect the Group’s
results of operations.

A reasonably possible appreciation of 1% in the exchange rate
of the Hong Kong dollar or United States dollar against the
Renminbi would have a material impact on the Group’s profit
during the year and this would result in a decrease in other
components of the Group’s equity by RMB45,458,000 (2023:
an increase by RMB12,652,000) in 2024.

Credit risk

It is the Group’s policy that all customers are required to pay
deposits in advance of the purchase of properties. In addition,
the Group does not have any significant credit risk as the credit
given to any individual or corporate entity is not significant.
There is no significant concentration of credit risk within the
Group.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging
The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year-
end staging classification as at 31 December.

REMBHRRME®

31 December 2024 2024 12H31H

7. "R EENEERBER @

Ah & LB ()
AEENSHEERSE (BEUEBBHE
(9 FE U FE f B 75 35 T SRIE ~ LUK 8 5t
EWETERERAMUEERETHEN
ETRTREMES) BRASIHERR - H
I A\RERBINENER RS A2
A B RS A o

BN ETHARBZBENEERNSIE
AEEEA1% BHERALXEBNMBE
FEATE BERR2024F A LB RS
B9 H fih 48 5k 38 2 R AR #545,458,0007T
(2023%F : M AER12,652,0007T) ©

EE R
FrEERPEEYERARENTS AKX
EEMBR UL AREBEFTEABEARA
DERENEEREETAER MAEEL
EIMNEAEERR AEBITEZTEARE
EF'EE & B o

REE R R FREER

TERBREBFAEENGEERR ITEEE
ZEhEaEEREBHRO FRIFBREBAR
ARBHEAESEMEMN [ TRE
ZUBBAERRR12B31HZFERBE S
BEAER-
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47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 47. BERAMEENEERBER @
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EERRE @
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued) BERGEREREE (B)
The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial FMEVWHNEEATHEENRETERY
assets and the exposure to credit risk for the financial guarantee BEREANEERRKO
contracts.
As at 31 December 2024 #2024 12H31H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1288
BEHEEEX 2EREEEX
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
-1 B BZH e R % 83t

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETRE ARETR AREBTR ARETR ARETR

Receivable from joint ventures W& E ARHE - 8,463,658 - - 8,463,658
Receivable from associates e - UNGIE N - 2,966,585 - - 2,966,585
Receivable from non-controling MR EE N B ARIFER

shareholders of Group’s subsidiaries PR FRIE 2,506,583 192,661 - - 2,699,244
Other receivables and other assets HtEWREREMEE 11,069,674 3,599,779 = - 14,669,453
Restricted cash TRERE 1,858,068 - - - 1,858,068
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 1,119,141 - - - 1,119,141

Guarantees given to banks and other ~ FLAE AT RIE AT ERN
lenders in connection with facilties to ~ REMNRETABBERN
joint ventures, associates and certain ~ BE AR E AT

contractors for construction cost HEtEMARMEIER 948,614 - - - 948,614
Guarantees in respect of the mortgage  EAEEYENE TER R

facilities provided to certain BBEERMELNER

purchasers of the Group’s properties 11,450,961 - - - 11,450,961

Guarantees given to financial institutions SR FBILE = HHER
in connection with facilities granted to £ B8 IR i AYER
independent third parties - - 4,798,421 - 4,798,421

Total st 28,953,041 15,222,683 4,798,421 - 48,974,145
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47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 47. U HERBREENBEREE @
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (Continued) E8EME @
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued) REERREREE (8)
As at 31 December 2023 72023F12831H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12188
BHEEEL SHBBEERL
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F—R Ep B=H BEA % Hst

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTE ARBTT AREBTR ARETR ARET:

Receivable from joint ventures &S ARHE - 11,179,621 - - 11,179,621
Receivable from associates e AR FIE - 3,467,047 - - 3,467,047
Receivable from non-controlling FE A S @ 8 A B JF AR

shareholders of Group’s subsidiaries ~ BREFIE 2,640,498 - - = 2,640,498
Other receivables and other assets HittEWER EMEE 12,504,297 3,306,883 - - 15,811,180
Restricted cash TREEE 1,368,808 - - - 1,368,808
Cash and cash equivalents RERHRSEEY 3,773,808 - - = 3,773,803

Guarantees given to banks and other ~ FLAE QB REE A B ERR
lenders in connection with facilities to BN RE TR EEERNESR
joint ventures, associates and certain R AEEEBRITREMERA

contractors for construction cost RENER 983,894 91,391 - - 1,075,285
Guarantees in respect of the mortgage i A EBEME T B RIZ 1

facilities provided to certain BRBERMAEHNER

purchasers of the Group’s properties 18,807,957 - - - 18,807,957

Guarantees given to financial institutions i F B E= AR ER
in connection with facilities granted SR BRENER
to independent third parties - - 4,721,651 - 4,721,651

Total @zt 40,079,257 18,044,942 4,721,651 - 62,845,850
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47.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk

Due to the capital intensive nature of the Group’s business, the
Group ensures that it maintains sufficient cash and credit lines
to meet its liquidity requirements. The Group’s objective is to
maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility
through the use of bank and other borrowings. In addition,
banking facilities are available for contingency purposes. In the
opinion of the Directors, the Group will have adequate sources
of funding to finance its operation needs and manage its
liquidity position.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, was as follows:

47.

MHERREENBRREER @

BB E R

HRAEENEBEBRERATER K&
ERFERTENREREEHEEMURE
MBETER- AEBZERAEBRER

RITRAMEE  SESERBUEREE
MZBEE T b REETEAIRTT
MEURHNBEEEH - EERR ZIK%I;H
BEERENESE RUBHKEM 5]
BHEHARHBHEENK T

RREPBERTAEESHERNEIRAE

(B .:.,,’J.JEE RUKRBEIRARAEE) T -

At 31 December 2024

#2024512831H
On demand
or within In the Beyond
1year secondyear 3to5years 5 years Total
BRERRIER F2ERN 3E55 5EME st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEBTRT ARBTx ARETn AR®TR AEETR
Interest-bearing bank and FERRTREMES
other borrowings 5,972,151 2,707,421 1,132,313 2,581,225 12,393,110
Corporate bonds REES 1,066,875 1,168,013 937,938 - 3,172,826
Senior notes BEER 38,789,815 - - - 38,789,815
Trade payables BRREMTIE 4,784,145 3,175,858 - - 7,960,003
Other payables and accruals HMEARIBREFER 24,030,690 - - - 24,030,690
74,643,676 7,051,292 2,070,251 2,581,225 86,346,444
Financial guarantees issued: BRI BIER
Maximum amount guaranteed (note 41) RSHEREE (f:E41) 17,197,996 - - - 17,197,996
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47. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 47. BHERMEENEEREE @
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) mEBEERR @
At 31 December 2023
12023128318
On demand
or within In the Beyond
1 year second year 310 5 years 5 years Total
BEKFIER F2ER 3E5F S5 E st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ETT AREFT AR®ETT ARETT AREFT
Interest-bearing bank and HEROTEEMES
other borrowings 8,136,097 1,931,126 1,835,359 2,525,067 14,427,649
Corporate bonds NEES 1,577,986 987,750 929,250 = 3,494,986
Senior notes BRERE 38,719,873 - - - 38,719,873
Trade payables BREMHE 7,302,454 2,816,235 = = 10,118,689
Other payables and accruals HEnEARIERE &R 21,492,041 - - - 21,492,041
77,228,451 5,735,111 2,764,609 2,525,067 88,253,238
Financial guarantees issued: BE M BIER !
Maximum amount guaranteed (note 41) SEiERE%E (f:F41) 24,604,893 = = = 24,604,893
. = s
Capital management BXERE
The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are AEBEAEENEIRERDERESE
e e e = 2z
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern RELENEN BFRRINEXRILEN
\ v FHt =
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its SEREED URABRRERRAER -

business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes AEBEEAE AR EEACH R R E
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions. PHEFHARE DESABEAERRS
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may AEEEREZMTRRORE RE
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to BERTRRIETHR - FEBAREM
shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to SHNERMAERERARR - ERNEEE
any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were AWER BERNEFIL R EMED -

made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
HEUBHRRNE®

31 December 2024 20244 128331H

47.

48.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors working capital using a gearing ratio, which
is net debt divided by the total equity of the Group. Net debt
includes interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, corporate
bonds and senior notes less cash and cash equivalents,
restricted cash and non-pledged time deposits with original
maturity of over three months. The gearing ratios as at the end

47.

MHERREENBRREER @

BEAXAEE @

AEEBREAGBLEREREESS
RN MAER > B FERUERE
EHE - EEFEOESEETREME
B ATESREAER BEREESR
Be=@EY SRAIBSMNBBEZBE
CEACEEE TR NRESBAE

of the reporting periods were as follows: FRZEASBEERDT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARFT ARMEFTT
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings =t BETREMEES 10,955,407 12,611,984
Corporate bonds NEMES 2,875,000 3,212,500
Senior notes BREER 38,789,815 38,719,873
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B RERIREEEY (1,119,141) (3,773,803
Less: Restricted cash B ZREIIRE (1,858,068) (1,368,808)
Net debt B340 49,643,013 49,401,746
(Capital deficiency)/total equity (BAREAL) /HmiEaE (11,735,686) 5,059,977
Gearing ratio e =R e N/AT3E 976.3%

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

For the offshore debt restructuring, the Company has obtained
the requisite support from the majority of Scheme Creditors
on 20 February 2025, and the final longstop date for the
restructuring effective date has been extended from the
originally scheduled 28 February 2025 to 31 August 2025 to
allow more time to fulfill the remaining restructuring conditions.

Further details are set out in the Company’s announcements
dated 17 January 2025, 5 February 2025, and 20 February
2025, respectively.

48. REHREFIE

BINMEHEL ST A QB BER2025F28
OHEBAZHHEBERANMKEELF
MEBEALENHENEARREERLELBAHER
B EM2025F2H28HIE R E2025F8H 31
H U EEFLREBITRGREARMGKMY-

E—THEBDREN KRBT HEFA2025F
1817H~2025FE285H k2025 2H20H
A=
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
FEMBHRRMNE®

31 December 2024 2024 12H31H

49. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

49. XA T

ZMBIKRR

ERAABANBRERMERFHHBRRE

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: ZERHIMT
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AR#F T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M~ RE B 53,847 58,688
Interest in a subsidiary R—ERE AR NER 1 1
Total non-current assets JERENE ELRLE 53,848 58,689
CURRENT ASSETS RENEE
Due from subsidiaries FE WL 8~ Bl 7R IB 49,415,734 51,875,304
Due from joint ventures i =R =FN=IEN EI 457 453
Due from associates FEU B = A B 631,131 72,994
Prepayments, other receivables and other ~ F&{F3k~ ET@%H&MEE’Z
assets Hth&EE 5,506,497 5,377,863
Financial assets at FVTPL BAREFABGNEREE - 240,813
Cash and cash equivalents REMRREEEY 21,423 91,391
Total current assets MENE ELEE 55,575,242 57,658,818
CURRENT LIABILITIES mE AR
Other payables and accruals HMENRIBERESTER 12,448,274 8,151,658
Due to subsidiaries B AR HRIE 8,810,540 8,338,080
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings st BT REMES 4,034,282 3,964,505
Senior notes BERERE 38,789,815 38,719,873
Total current liabilities VER=RE R 64,082,911 59,174,116
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES mENEEFRE (8,507,669) (1,515,298)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT mEERRSEER
LIABILITIES (8,453,821) (1,456,609)
Net liabilities &5 (8,453,821) (1,456,609)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
HEUBHRRNE®

31 December 2024 20244 128331H

49. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 49. "2 8 Z B #E R R TR @)
THE COMPANY (Continued)

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTF 5T ARMF 5
EQUITY L
Issued capital BEITRA 559,947 559,947
Senior perpetual securities =Rk AETE 1,911,986 1,911,986
Reserves (note) fEE (M5E) (10,925,754) (3,928,542)
Capital deficiency B AR A (8,453,821) (1,456,609)
Note: A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: Misk - AABREBERFINOT -
Shares
Share Share Exchange held under
premium option fluctuation  share award Accumulated
account reserve reserve scheme losses Total
[iah) R ERKE RERGEE Zit
HER 1] s tEAERG g st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR  ARBTT ARETn ARBTT ARETz  ARETn

At 1 January 2023 $202351818 1,008,439 53,800 1,700,799 (02,207)  (4,213472)  (1,472,641)
Loss and total comprehensive loss FEBEBREABREE

for the year - - (1,917) - 2197,580)  (2,199,503)
Distribution to holders of BERKEESHEADK

senior perpetual securities - - - - (263,318) (263,318)
Equity-settled share option arrangements LU % 3 1 BB M& 1 2 % 5 - 6,920 - - - 6,920
Lapsed on share option BRI - (8,946) - - 8,946 -
At 31 December 2023 and R2023E128318 R

1 January 2024 20241810 1,008,439 51,774 1,698,882 (02207)  (6,665,430)  (3,928,542)
Loss and total comprehensive loss FERBENZARBAR

for the year - - (141,501) - (B592,947)  (6,734,448)
Distribution to holders of AEfKEESHEADK

senior perpetual securities - - - - (265,928) (265,928)
Equity-settled share option arrangements L1 % 37 {3 BE i1 2 2 5 - 3,164 - - = 3,164
Lapsed on share option RN - (2,800) - = 2,800 =
At 31 December 2024 1R20245128318 1,008,439 52,138 1,557,381 (22,207) (13,521,505) (10,925,754)

AY
50. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 50. HLAEMFBEIRER

STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for 122025 3H31H  EFEHERREEM

issue by the board of directors on 31 March 2025. LR e
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AFEMRBERE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and equity of the

Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published

UTFRAEERBELAMBREENEBUR
EE BEREZRE DHZAETREERZ

audited financial statements, is set out below: R E
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AR®TrT AR®BTn ARBTR ARETx
RESULTS e
REVENUE A 9,716,264 21,477,083 26,737,240 27,071,241 10,411,604
Cost of sales HERAE (9,540,325) (21,109,247) (26,012,243) (23,010,591)  (9,931,691)
Gross profit ESl 175,939 367,836 724,997 4,060,650 479,913
Fair value (losses)/gains on investment RE¥ER A E
properties, net (B518) /MEHB%B (1,048,026)  (3,033,881) (315,413) 717,888 387,260
Other income and gains HARA kU s 64,090 351,047 330,515 414,517 715,235
Selling and distribution expenses HE MDA (211,088) (385,384) (655,295) (691,691) (428,036)
Administrative expenses THRX (848,068) (861,313)  (1,130,874) (834,442) (808,737
Other expenses HitBx (364,914) (571,090) (871,622) (99,868) (309,615)
Write-down of properties held for sale  #iBIFEIHERRNYE R
and properties under development to R EE o] 217
net realisable value EBEZE (6,612,235)  (4,548,883)  (3,208,465) (390,000 =
Impairment of investments in joint REERFREE AT
ventures and associates RENRE (114,316) (93,456) (407,585) - -
Impairment of other receivables HttElRIBRE (1,584,411)  (1,603,056)  (4,151,208) = =
Remeasurement of financial guarantee  E 5t & B 75 E (%
contracts = (233,831) (179,609)  (1,650,167) (27,025) =
Finance costs BB Al A (3,964,401) (3,862,323 (674,450) (276,097) (124,281)
Share of profits and losses of joint BHEEAT
ventures B 447,928 294,057 (890,813) (38,394) 206,889
Share of profits and losses of i =N
associates B (396,965) (105,278) (257,127) 326,990 23,371
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRERAT (5548) /F)E (14,660,298) (14,231,333) (13,157,507) 3,162,528 146,999
Income tax (expense)/credit Fisi (%) /1B% (114,565) (78,077) (111,683)  (1,879,534) 81,231
( LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FE (558 /78 (14,774,863) (14,309,410) (13,269,190) 1,282,994 228,230
Attributable to: BUF & S
Owners of the parent BREEBA (11,966,840) (10,520,568) (12,014,860) 862,094 116,992
Non-controlling interests TR ES (2,808,023)  (3,788,842)  (1,254,330) 420,900 111,238
(14,774,863) (14,309,410) (13,269,190) 1,282,994 228,230
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Five Years Financial Summary (Continued)

IFEMBHE®

As at 31 December

#12R31H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AR®TrT AR®Tn AREBTR ARETx
ASSETS, LIABILITIES BE -BEkER
AND EQUITY
TOTAL ASSETS BEMHE 83,066,855 108,751,338 143,453,772 174,380,908 178,198,057
TOTAL LIABILITIES BEEHE (94,802,541) (103,691,361) (118,378,415) (132,986,271) (143,895,127)
NET (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS (BR) /EEZE (11,735,686) 5,059,977 25,075,357 41,394,637 34,302,930
Represented by: UTFE RS :
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO FABHERE ANEGESR
OWNERS OF THE PARENT (12,547,450) 432,097 11,973,613 26,116,002 24,629,474
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS JEE R 811,764 4,627,880 13,101,744 15278635 9,673,456
(CAPITAL DEFICIENCY)/TOTAL EQUITY (BZE#4) /1B i8%E (11,735,686) 5,059,977 25,075,357 41,394,637 34,302,930
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SCHEDULE OF MAJOR PROPERTIES
EFEME—EBR

FEREYE

Attributable
interest of
Project Location Use Tenure the Group
&R
15 il & A& HHA FE R
The Mall of Yuzhou World Trade ~ Phase | of Yuzhou World Trade Center on Lot No. 75, Xiahe Road, Commercial and car ~ Medium term lease 100%
Center Phase | Xiamen, Fujian Province parking space
Bl e tEHE—HER BRABEMTERRESRERSMEERO—HB AR EE FEEE
The Mall of Yuzhou World Trade ~ Phase Il of Yuzhou World Trade Center on Lot No. 76, Xiahe Road, Commercial and car ~ Medium term lease 100%
Center Phase Il Xiamen, Fujian Province parking space
Bl e tEHR_HER BERAEMTERRETCRMREMEERO B AR EE FEEE
Lot A of Yuzhou Haicang WTC Lot A of Yuzhou Golden Seacoast, West of the Xinggang Road, ~ Commercial Medium term lease 100%
Mall Haicang District, Xiamen, Fujian Province
Bl o BEBNLERERAR BRABEMTEAEEERAMNSNEGS BRAMIE il FEEE
Lot B of Yuzhou Haicang WTC Lot B of Yuzhou Golden Seacoast, West of the Xinggang Road, =~ Commercial Medium term lease 100%
Mall Haicang District, Xiamen, Fujian Province
Bl o BEBNLEERBE BRABEMTEEEEARAMASNERS BFBHIR il FEEE
Yuzhou Plaza North of Minggong Building, Hubin South Road, Siming District, ~ Office and car Medium term lease 100%
Xiamen, Fujian Province parking space
BMES BRABEMTRAEHEEELEAEIM PREREE FEEE
Yuyue Li South of Jiangquan Road and West of Xichun Road, Tiexin Qiao ~ Commercial Medium term lease 100%
Road, Yuhuatai District, Nanjing
BiRE BRIRELBEVEHEIRENUR BERUA il FEEE
The Commercial Podium of Phase | of Yuzhou Jingiao International, No.333 Jingang Road, Commercial Medium term lease 93%
Yuzhou Jingiao International Pudong New Area, Shanghai
Phase |
Bl o 2BER—HEE LETMRRNEEERITE NS BERE—H il FEEE
The Commercial Podium of Phase Il of Yuzhou Jingiao International, Lane 50 Jinyu Road, Commercial Medium term lease 93%
Yuzhou Jingiao International Pudong New Area, Shanghai
Phase Il
Bl o BER _HEE LETHERNES%R0FHMEHBER 5 il FEEE
The Commercial Podium of Phase Il of Yuzhou Jingiao International, Jinyu Road and Jinxian ~ Commercial Medium term lease 93%
Yuzhou Jingiao International Road, Pudong New Area, Shanghai
Phase Il
Bl e 2BER=HEIE LETHRNEERBREERB N BRKR=H il FEEE
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Schedule of Major Properties (Continued)

FEVE—EBER®G@

Attributable
interest of
Project Location Use Tenure the Group
&R
I5H & Jiche R FEMLRE
The Commercial Podium of Phase IV of Yuzhou Jingiao International, No.69 Jinhu Road, Commercial and car  Medium term lease 93%
Yuzhou Jingiao International Pudong New Area, Shanghai parking space
Phase IV
Bl « 2 BERMAER LEMERNE SR H NS BE R M BRRESE TG
Yuzhou Plaza Qiu 3/6, Qiu 2, No 9 Street, Jingiao Export Processing Zone, Office and Medium term lease 90%
Pudong New Area, Shanghai commercial
BllES LEMERNEEBEANTIRYEH6E 2R BRAEREA HERTRE
Yuzhou Plaza Keyuan North Road, Nanshan District, Shenzhen Office, Commercial ~ Medium term lease 90%
and car parking
space
BMNES AT LER IR BRE -HRARGE THES
it
Yuyue Li Southeast of the junction of Wuliu Road and New Bengbu Road, ~ Commercial and car ~ Medium term lease 82%
Xinzhan District, Hefei parking space
BRE BETHLENERREAYTAEREREA BRRESEM HERTRE
Yuzhou Plaza Southeast of the junction of Wuliu Road and New Bengbu Road,  Office and car Medium term lease 82%
Xinzhan District, Hefei parking space
BllES BETHLENERREAYTAEREREA WRERFE HERTRE
Yuzhou City Plaza Century Avenue Shopping District, South New Zone of Huian Office, Commercial ~ Medium term lease 65%
County, Quanzhou, Fujian Province and car parking
space
BT ER BRAFNTERENENR UL XERE MAE-BAR HERTRE
(E3==Ain
Yuzhou Central Plaza South of Changjiangdong Road, East of Liaoyuan Road, East Commercial and car  Medium term lease 65%
Urban District, Hefe parking space
Bl o RRES BRTRERBEERIIEER RREE BRRESEM TG
Yuzhou Central Street Southwest of the junction of Wuliu Road and New Bengbu Road, =~ Commercial Medium term lease 62%
Xinzhan District, Hefei
B RAS BETHEENERREYAAEREREA il TG
Yuyue Li South of Wangting Commercial Plaza, East of Yuting Fazhi Commercial Medium term lease 51%
Wenhua Park, Xiangcheng District, Suzhou
BRE BEMNTEREE=HEERUR 2= 8AXERARMR il HERTRE
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Schedule of Major Properties (Continued)

FEVE—EBER®G

FETEYE

DEVELOPMENT
Attributable
Stage of Expected interest of
Project Location Use Site Area GFA completion completion date the Group
=L i & itk EHEE BEER RTIRE BEETASE FEERGER
Yuzhou Shang Li Mansion South of Huaihai Road, East of Xiangcheng  Residential 58,243 116,485 Under Development  Jun-25 100%
Road, Xinzhan District, Hefei
Bl e ZEHE BRESHEEREXEUE AEEUR fE = 2025567
Yuzhou Yinyue Mansion North of Olympic Sports Center of Asian Residential 61,767 127,952  Under Development  Dec-25 100%
Games, East of Sanjiang River, Next to Civil
Center, Kegiao District > Shaoxing
Bl o ENRERT BETHBRRDEGRBROLA =TI £F B 2025%128
ARA EFHHRAD
Yuzhou Langham Cloud Land East of Wenhua Road, North of Mingde No.1  Residential 49,411 127,387 Under Development ~ Nov-25 100%
Road, Xinhui District, Jiangmen
Billl e REES IFTHEEHE B XERUR fE TE 2025%118
Yuzhou Town of Sky Guanting Town,Feixi County, Hefei Residential 107,147 144,249  Under Development  Dec-26 91%
and
commercial
Bl o BRI BRETRRRESE HEERER g 2026%128
Yuzhou Langham City Land Economic and Technological Development Residential 168,617 621,887 Under Development ~ Dec-26 88%
Zone, Wuhan and
commercial
Bl e RETE RETEERMHER HEERER g 2026%128
Yuzhou Fragrant Hills Xiangzhou District > Zhuhai Residential 333,882 627,022 Under Development ~ Dec-26 59%
and
commercial
Bl e ELER KEmENE HEERER = 2026%128
Yuzhou Royal Orchid Palace Xinhuayuan Road, Wangjiawan Business Residential 87,668 219,185 Under Development  Jun-25 51%
Cluster, Economic and Technological
Development Zone, Wuhan
Bl e EEHA RETEREIXEHERR fE = 2025565
Yuzhou Mansion East Land West of Wenyuan Road, South of Meicun Residential 35,826 64,486 Under Development  Jun-25 49%
Road, Hi-Tech District, Taicang, Suzhou
Bl e ZERRRD BFNTAEBSHEHEUA BNBUE AF TE 2025567
Yuzhou The Explorer University Area, Hi-Tech District, Chongging  Residential 151,329 226,994 Under Development ~ Dec-26 36%
Billl e BEK EETRMEAS R fE g 2026%128
Yuzhou Honor Mansion Zhongkai District, Huizhou Residential 41,920 150,308 Under Development  Dec-26 33%
Bl e ZERE EMmEE i TE 2026%128
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Schedule of Major Properties (Continued)

FEVE—EBER®G@

MAJOR COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD

FEHENTERTYE

FOR SALE
Attributable
Stage of interest of
Project Location Use Site Area GFA completion the Group
I5H i g A& BHER BREER BIRE FERRG#ER
Yuzhou Langham Bay Leliu Town, Shunde District, Foshan Residential 110,378 306,217  Completed 100%
Bl e BAIEE BLDIEERERE e BT
Yuzhou Langham Bay East of Shaoshan Road,South of Jialingjiang Residential 21,044 73,654  Completed 100%
Road,Huangdao District, Qingdao
Bl e BAIEE BEEMEZRESEERIRMUA BLURUE e BT
Yuzhou Sky Land East of Jinzha Road, South of Beiheng River, Jinhui  Residential 26,873 59,120 Completed 51%
Town, Fengxian District, Shanghai
Bl e 5010 LETEERSEESHARUR EBANE € BT
Yuzhou Master Mansion Southwest of the Junction of Qingyan Road and Residential 83,400 150,120 Completed 50%
Wenjiao Road, Economic and Technological
Development Zone, Wuxi
Bl o AR EHTAHERZRAXHBRINAOADA € B#T
Yuzhou Chenyue Monde North of Qinglong West Road, West of Hengtanghe  Residential 74,207 133,573 Completed 49%
Road, Tianning District, Changzhou
Bille =10 ENTmAEESREARNUL BE RN € B#T
Yuzhou Langham Bay Yongshun Town,Tongzhou District, Beijing Residential and 51,249 78,434  Completed 46%
commercial
Bl e BRI E ITRm@EMEXIBE AERER BT
Yuzhou Cloud Center Guangming District, Shenzhen Residential 48,680 137,761 Completed 35%
Bl e REZH 3 el ] € B#T
Yuzhou Honor Century North of Pingyuan Road, South of Wei River, Residential 51,674 258,370  Completed 33%
Xinxiang
Bl BEAT AT R B € B#T
Yuzhou Phoenix Mansion South of Yuhua Road, West of Youyi Road, Residential 65,088 162,720 Completed 33%
Fenghuang New City, Lubei District, Tangshan
Bl o BERT BEUTRIEEEMNAEESA RARAN 4% B#T
Yuzhou Resplendent Garden East of Xiangshan Road, West of Zhongma Road, Residential 49,759 99,518  Completed 20%
Taihu Resort, Wuzhong District, Suzhou
Bl o BIABETEE FNHRTEXAEREESBUA SLUBUR A% BT
Yuzhou Rocker Park Xushuguan Old Town, Hi-Tech District, Suzhou Residential 100,887 201,774 Completed 19%
Bl e BRAE BNmEMEtEREE e BT
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Principal administration and
management centers in the PRC

PEF E TR EEPD

Yuzhou Plaza

299 Jingang Road

Pudong New District
Shanghai

People’s Republic of China

PEAREMN
BRI E S BER2995%
BMES

Yuzhou Plaza

Keyuan North Road
Nanshan District
Shenzhen

People’s Republic of China

I ARSAIE
7l LB A28
SHES | .

- PERAI0S8IE5801-0

Principal place of business
in Hong Kong

FRIEEE Mt

Units 5801-02, 58/F
The Center

99 Queen’s Road Central
Central

Hong Kong
BABTIR
EFAERIOTE
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